UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20459

SCHEDULE TO-I/A SCHEDULE 13E-3/A TENDER OFFER STATEMENT UNDER

SECTION 14(d)(1) OR 13(e)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (AMENDMENT NO. 3)

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

(NAME OF SUBJECT COMPANY (ISSUER))

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. (OFFEROR)

(NAME OF FILING PERSON (IDENTIFYING STATUS AS OFFEROR, ISSUER OR OTHER PERSON))

SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE (TITLE OF CLASS OF SECURITIES)

(26817Q 20 9)
(CUSIP NUMBER OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK)
(26817Q 30 8)
(CUSIP NUMBER OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK)
(26817Q 40 7)
(CUSIP NUMBER OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK)

STEPHEN J. BENEDETTI, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
4551 COX ROAD, SUITE 300
GLEN ALLEN, VIRGINIA 23060
(804) 217-5800

(NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF PERSON AUTHORIZED TO RECEIVE NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS ON BEHALF OF FILING PERSON FILING THE STATEMENT)

COPIES TO:

JAMES WHEATON, ESQUIRE TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP 222 CENTRAL PARK AVE, SUITE 2000 VIRGINIA BEACH, VA 23462 (757) 687-7719 SUSAN S. ANCARROW, ESQUIRE TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP 1111 E. MAIN STREET RICHMOND, VA 23218 (804) 697-1861

CALCULATION OF FILING FEE

TRANSACTION VALUATION*: \$55,706,832

AMOUNT OF FILING FEE**: \$4,507

* CALCULATED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETERMINING THE AMOUNT OF THE FILING FEE. AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003, DYNEX CAPITAL HAD OUTSTANDING 493,595 SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, 688,189 SHARES OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK AND 684,893 SHARES OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK. THE CALCULATION IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT ALL OUTSTANDING SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK AND SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK WILL BE ACQUIRED BY DYNEX CAPITAL IN EITHER THE NOTE OFFER OR THE SERIES D CONVERSION, AND IS BASED ON THE AVERAGE OF THE HIGH AND LOW SALES PRICES OF EACH OF THE SERIES OF PREFERRED STOCK ON JANUARY 5, 2004, BEING \$28.50 FOR SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, \$26.37 FOR SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK AND \$34.30 FOR SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, AS REPORTED ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET. BASED ON THESE AVERAGES, THE TOTAL TRANSACTION VALUE IS EQUAL TO \$55,706,832. BECAUSE THIS IS A TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 13(E) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED, THE FEE IS CALCULATED ON THE BASIS OF \$80.90 PER MILLION.

**Previously paid.

Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing with which the offsetting fee was previously paid. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number or the form or schedule and the date of its filing.

Amount Previously Paid: Not applicable

Form or Registration No.: Not applicable

Filing Party: Not applicable

- Filed: Not applicable
- Check the box if the filing relates solely to preliminary communications made before the commencement of a tender offer.

Check the appropriate boxes below to designate any transactions to which the statement relates:

- third-party tender offer subject to Rule14d-1.
- x issuer tender offer subject to Rule 13e-4.
- x going-private transaction subject to Rule13e-3.

" amendment to Schedule 13D under Rule 13d-2.

Check the following box if the filing is a final amendment reporting the results of the tender offer: "

INTRODUCTION

This Amendment No. 3 to the combined Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO and Rule 13e-3 Transaction Statement (collectively the "Schedule TO/13E-3") relates to:

- (a) The offer (the "Note Offer") by Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital") to exchange up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock, 481,819 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock, and 479,512 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock (or, in each case, such lesser number of shares as are properly tendered and not properly withdrawn), for 9.50% Senior Notes due 2007 (the "Senior Notes"), each subject to the terms and conditions of the Offering Circular (as amended from time to time, the "Offering Circular") attached hereto as Exhibit (a)(1)(A). Pursuant to Rule 13e-4(f)(1)(ii), the total number of shares purchased in the Note Offer may be increased to 355,450 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 495,582 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 493,209 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.
- (b) A proposal to amend the Articles of Incorporation of Dynex Capital to convert all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock after the Notes Offer into shares of a new series of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock (the "Series D conversion"), all as described in the Proxy Statement incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit (a)(2)(A) (as amended from time to time, the "Proxy Statement"). The Proxy Statement that describes the Series D conversion has been filed by Dynex Capital under separate cover of Schedule 14A but is an integral part of the transaction or series of transactions to which this Schedule TO/13E-3 relates.

This Schedule TO is intended to satisfy the reporting requirements of Rule 13e-4(c)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and pursuant to Instruction J to Schedule TO, it is intended to constitute a combined Schedule TO and Schedule 13E-3. The filing of Schedule 13E-3 under the cover of Schedule TO is appropriate because the Note Offer and the Series D conversion are part of a single transaction or series of transactions that will have the effect of causing the outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock to cease to be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market. For the purposes of this Schedule TO/13E-3, where disclosure is required by both Schedule TO and Schedule 13E-3, the response to the required disclosure is set forth under the applicable item of Schedule TO. Information that is required by Schedule 13E-3 but not by Schedule TO is set forth by reference to the applicable item of Schedule 13E-3 under item 13 of this Schedule TO/13E-3.

The information in each of the Offering Circular and Proxy Statement, including all schedules and annexes thereto, is hereby expressly incorporated herein by reference in response to all the items of this Schedule TO, except as otherwise set forth below.

Each of the items in this Schedule TO/13E-3 is amended and restated in its entirety below.

As of the date of this Schedule TO/13E-3, the Note Offer has not yet commenced. The Note Offer will commence upon the mailing of the Offering Circular and related letters of transmittal to the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, and Series C Preferred Stock.

ITEM 1. SUMMARY TERM SHEET

The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 2. SUBJECT COMPANY INFORMATION

- (a) Name and address. The name of the issuer is Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation, and the address and telephone number of its principal executive offices are, 4551 Cox Road, Suite 300, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060, (804) 217-5800.
- (b) Securities. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Description of Capital Stock-Preferred Stock" and in the Proxy Statement under "Description of Capital Stock of Dynex-General" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (c) <u>Trading market and price</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Price Range of Preferred Stock" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information Price Range of Preferred Stock" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 3. IDENTITY AND BACKGROUND OF FILING PERSON

(a) Name and address. Dynex Capital is both the filing person and the subject company. Dynex Capital's business address is 4551 Cox Road, Suite 300, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060, and its business telephone number is (804) 217-5800.

Pursuant to General Instruction C to Schedule TO, the following persons are the directors and/or executive officers of Dynex:

Name	Position
J. Sidney Davenport	Director
Thomas H. Potts	Director
Thomas B. Akin	Director
Donald B. Vaden	Director
Eric P. Von der Porten	Director
Leon A. Felman	Director
Barry Igdaloff	Director
Stephen J. Benedetti	Executive Officer

The address of each director and executive officer listed above is c/o Dynex Capital, Inc., 4551 Cox Road, Suite 300, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060. The telephone number for each director and executive officer listed above is (804) 217-5800.

- (b) Business and background of entities. Not applicable.
- (c) Business and background of natural persons. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Management" and in the Proxy Statement under "Management" is

incorporated herein by reference. Each of the directors and the sole executive officer listed above is a citizen of the United States.

None of Dynex Capital's directors or its executive officer listed above has been convicted of any criminal act during the last five years. Further, none of Dynex Capital's directors or executive officers has been a party to any judicial or administrative proceeding during the last five years that has resulted in a judgment, decree, or final order enjoining such person from any future violations of, or prohibiting activity subject to, any federal or state securities laws, or a finding of any violation of any federal or state securities laws.

ITEM 4. TERMS OF THE TRANSACTION

- (a) <u>Material terms</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet," "Special Factors," "Risk Factors," "The Note Offer," "Purposes and Effects of the Offer," "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences" and "Description of Senior Notes," and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet," "Effect of the Series D Conversion," "Background of the Recapitalization," "Proposal: Amendment of Dynex Capital's Articles of Incorporation to Accomplish Series D Conversion" and "Material Federal Income Tax Consequences" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) Mergers or similar transactions. Certain of the directors of Dynex Capital have indicated their intention to tender at least a portion of their shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer. See "Summary Term Sheet Will Dynex Capital's Officers and Directors Be Participating in the Note Offer?" and "The Note Offer Executive Officer and Director Participation" in the Offering Circular, which is incorporated herein by reference. All holders of Preferred Stock who continue to hold shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and/or Series C Preferred Stock after the completion of the Note Offer will have their shares of preferred stock automatically converted into shares of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock in the Series D conversion; accordingly, each director who is a holder of Preferred Stock will participate in the Series D conversion. Dynex Capital's sole executive officer does not beneficially own any shares of Preferred Stock. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" is also incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 5. PAST CONTACTS, TRANSACTIONS, NEGOTIATIONS AND AGREEMENTS

(e) Agreements involving the subject company's securities. None.

ITEM 6. PURPOSES OF THE TRANSACTION AND PLANS OR PROPOSALS

(a) <u>Purposes</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular in "Summary Term Sheet – What Are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?," " – Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?," "Special Factors – Background of the Recapitalization," "– Reasons for the Note Offer," "Risk Factors – We May Invest in a New Business Strategy," and "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement in "Summary Term Sheet – Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion – What are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?,"

"Background of the Recapitalization – General," " – Reasons for Series D Conversion," "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion – Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Offer and the Series D Conversion?" and "Effect of the Series D Conversion" is incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Plans. Other than as described in the Offering Circular and the Proxy Statement, Dynex Capital does not have any plans, proposals or negotiations that relate to or would result in any of the transactions, changes or actions described in this item. As a consequence of the Series D conversion, the Series A Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock will cease to be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market and will become eligible for termination of registration under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Business" and in the Proxy Statement under "Transactions and Agreements Involving Dynex Capital's Securities" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 7. SOURCE AND AMOUNT OF FUNDS OR OTHER CONSIDERATION

- (a) Source of funds. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet How Will Dynex Capital Finance the Note Offer and the Recapitalization?," "The Note Offer Source and Amount of Funds" and "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers about the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion How Will Dynex Capital Finance the Series D Conversion?" is incorporated herein by reference.
 - (b) Conditions. None.
 - (d) Borrowed funds. Not applicable.

ITEM 8. INTEREST IN SECURITIES OF THE SUBJECT COMPANY

- (a) <u>Securities ownership</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and in the Proxy Statement under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) <u>Securities transactions</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management Recent Transactions" and in the Proxy Statement under "Transactions and Agreements Involving Dynex Capital's Securities Recent Transactions" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. PERSONS/ASSETS, RETAINED, EMPLOYED, COMPENSATED OR USED

(a) <u>Solicitations or recommendations</u>. Except with respect to directors, officers and employees of Dynex Capital who will not be separately compensated for their efforts, neither Dynex Capital nor any person acting on its behalf has or currently intends to employ, retain or compensate any person to make solicitations or recommendations to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, or Series C Preferred Stock with respect to the Note Offer or the Series D conversion. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "The Note Offer – Payment of Expenses" and in the Proxy Statement under "Information about the Meeting – Solicitation of Proxies" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- (a) <u>Financial information</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information," "Capitalization" and "Book Value Per Share" in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information" and "Capitalization" and in Dynex Capital's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) <u>Pro forma information</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information," "Capitalization," and "Book Value Per Share" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information" and "Capitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

- (a) <u>Agreements, regulatory requirements and legal proceedings</u>. With respect to regulatory requirements, the Indenture under which the Senior Notes will be issued must be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. The Issuer has filed a Form T-3 for this purpose. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and in the Proxy Statement under "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" is also incorporated herein by reference.
 - (b) Other material information. Not applicable.

ITEM 12. EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT NUMBER	DESCRIPTION
*(a)(1)(A)	Offering Circular.
*(a)(1)(B)	Letter of Transmittal.
*(a)(1)(C)	Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.
*(a)(1)(D)	Letter to Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
*(a)(1)(E)	Letter to Clients from Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
*(a)(1)(F)	Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on

	Substitute Form W-9.
(a)(1)(H)	Indenture between Dynex and Wachovia Bank, as Trustee, with respect to the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2007. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's Form T-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2004.
(a)(1)(I)	Form of Senior Note. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's Form T-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2004.
(a)(2)(A)	Definitive Proxy Statement. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(i)	Series A Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(ii)	Series B Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(iii)	Series C Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(3)	Not applicable.
(a)(4)	Not applicable.
*(a)(5)	Press Release, dated March 29, 2004.
(b)	Not applicable.
(c)	Not applicable.
(d)	Not applicable.
(e)	Not applicable.
(f)	Not applicable.
(g)	Not applicable.

^{*} Filed herewith

Not applicable.

(h)

- ** Previously filed
- *** To be filed by amendment

ITEM 13. INFORMATION REQUIRED BY SCHEDULE 13E-3

Because this Schedule TO/13E-3 is intended to constitute a combined Schedule TO and Schedule 13E-3, the information set forth in this Item 13 includes all the information that is required by the items of Schedule 13E-3 that is not required by Schedule TO and described in response to the Schedule TO items above.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 2. Subject Company Information.

- (d) <u>Dividends</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Dividends" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information Dividends" is incorporated herein by reference.
 - (e) Prior public offerings. Not applicable.
- (f) <u>Prior stock purchases</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular in "Special Factors Background of the Recapitalization" and "Description of Capital Stock Preferred Stock" and in the Proxy Statement under "Special Factors Background of the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 4. Terms of the transaction.

- (c) <u>Different Terms</u>. No holder of Preferred Stock of any series will be treated in the Note Offer or the Series D conversion differently from any other holder of shares of that series.
- (d) Appraisal rights. Dissenting securityholders in the Series D conversion are not entitled to any appraisal or similar rights. The information contained in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers about the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Do I Have Special Rights if I Oppose the Series D Conversion?" and "Proposal: Amendment of Dynex Capital's Articles of Incorporation to Accomplish Series D Conversion No Appraisal Rights" is incorporated herein by reference.
 - (e) Provisions for unaffiliated securities holders. None.
- (f) <u>Eligibility for listing or trading</u>. The information contained in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet Will the Senior Notes Be Listed for Trading on a Securities Exchange?," "- Will the Note Offer Affect Trading of the Preferred Stock on the Nasdaq National Market?," "Risk Factors The Market May View the Note Offer Unfavorably, Which May Adversely Affect the Market Price of the Preferred Stock and the Senior Notes," "The Note Offer General The Note Offer" and "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Will the Series D Preferred Stock be Listed for Trading on a Securities Exchange?,"

"Background of the Recapitalization – Reasons for the Series D Conversion" and "Effect of the Series D Conversion – Series D Preferred Stock" is incorporated herein by reference.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 5. Past Contacts, Transactions, Negotiations and Agreements.

- (a) <u>Transactions</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Management Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and in the Proxy Statement under "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) Significant corporate events. (i) Dynex Capital conducted a tender offer for Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock that was completed in February 2003, and certain directors of Dynex Capital participated in that tender offer on the same basis as all other holders of Preferred Stock that participated in the tender offer.
- (ii) On April 26, 2002, Dynex Capital entered into a settlement agreement with Leeward Capital L. P., Leeward Investments, L.L.C., Eric P. Von der Porten and James M. Bogin pursuant to which those parties ended a solicitation for directors at Dynex Capital's 2002 stockholders' meeting in exchange for an agreement to add Mr. Von der Porten to the slate of nominees for election at the 2002 annual meeting. That agreement did not require the inclusion of Mr. Von der Porten on the slate of nominees for the 2003 annual meeting, but Mr. Von der Porten was nevertheless included on that slate and reelected at that meeting.
 - (c) Negotiations or contacts. See the response to sub-item (b) above.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 6. Purposes of the Transaction and Plans or Proposals.

- (b) <u>Use of securities acquired</u>. The Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock that is acquired in the Note Offer or that is converted into Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock in the Series D conversion will be retired, and the articles of incorporation of Dynex Capital will be amended to eliminate the provisions authorizing each of those series of preferred stock.
 - (c)(8) Suspension of reporting obligations. None.

SCHEDULE 13E-4, ITEM 7. Purposes, Alternatives, Reasons and Effects.

- (a) <u>Purposes</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet What Are The Reasons for the Recapitalization?," "Special Factors Reasons for the Note Offer," and "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion What Are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?," "Background of the Recapitalization Reasons for the Series D Conversion" and "Effect of the Series D Conversion" are incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) <u>Alternatives</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?," "Special Factors Background of the Recapitalization" and "– Reasons for the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Did the Board of Directors and

the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?," "Background of the Recapitalization – General" and "– Reasons for the Series D Conversion" is incorporated herein by reference.

- (c) Reasons. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet What are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?," "– Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?," "Special Factors Background of the Recapitalization" and "- Reasons for the Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet– Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion What Are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?," "– Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?," "Background of the Recapitalization General" and "– Reasons for Series D Conversion" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (d) Effects. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet," "Special Factors Reasons for the Note Offer," "Negative Factors Considered by the Board of Directors and the Committee," "Risk Factors Risks Particular to the Note Offer," "Summary Historical and Pro Forma Financial Information," "The Note Offer," "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer," "Capitalization" and "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion," "Summary Historical Pro Forma Financial Information," "Background of the Recapitalization Reasons for the Series D Conversion," "Proposal: Amendment of Dynex Capital's Articles of Incorporation to Accomplish Series D Conversion," "Capitalization" and "Material Federal Income Tax Consequences" is incorporated herein by reference.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 8. Fairness of the Transaction.

- (a) <u>Fairness</u>. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet Do the Board and its Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?" and "Special Factors Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Do the Board and the Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?" and "Background of the Recapitalization Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (b) Factors considered in determining fairness. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet Do the Board and Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?," "Special Factors Reasons for the Note Offer," "- Negative Factors Considered by the Board of Directors and the Committee," "- Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" and in the Proxy Statement in "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Do the Board and the Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?," "- Did the Board and the Committee Retain a Financial Advisor?," "Background of the Recapitalization Reasons for the Offer," "- Negative Factors Considered by the Board of Directors and

Committee" and "- Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.

- (c) Approval of security holders. The Note Offer does not require shareholder approval. The Series D conversion requires the approval of two-thirds of the holders of each series of Preferred Stock. Because the directors, the sole executive officer and their affiliates beneficially own less than one-third of each series of Preferred Stock, the effect of the two-thirds approval requirement is to also require that at least a majority of the unaffiliated holders of the Preferred Stock approve the articles of amendment that will implement the Series D conversion. The information contained under "Summary Term Sheet Do the Board and its Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?," "Special Factors Recommendation of Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" "– Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Do the Board and the Committee Believe that the Recapitalization is Fair to Existing Stockholders?," "– Did the Board and the Committee Retain a Financial Advisor?," "Background of the Recapitalization Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" and "– Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (d) <u>Unaffiliated Representative</u>. Dynex Capital did not retain an unaffiliated representative to act solely on behalf of the unaffiliated holders of Dynex Capital's Preferred Stock or Common Stock for the purposes of negotiating the terms of the Note Offer or the Series D conversion and/or preparing a report concerning the fairness of the transactions. The information contained in the Offering Circular under "Special Factors Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" and "Risk Factors Risks Particular to the Note Offer We Did Not Base the Terms of the Recapitalization on an Appraisal and Did Not Retain the Advice of an Outside Financial Advisor" and in the Proxy Statement under "Background of the Recapitalization Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (e) <u>Approval of directors</u>. None of the directors of Dynex Capital are employees of the company and so as to all aspects of the recapitalization, including the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, the transaction was approved by a majority of the directors who are not employees of the company.
 - (f) Other offers. No offer of the type described in paragraph (viii) of Instruction 2 to Item 1014 of Regulation M-A has been received by Dynex Capital.

Schedule 13E-3, Item 9. Reports, Opinions, Appraisals and Negotiations.

- (a) Report, opinion or appraisal. Neither Dynex Capital nor any of its affiliates received any report, opinion or appraisal from an outside party that is materially related to any aspect of the recapitalization, including the Note Offer and the Series D conversion.
 - (b) Preparer and summary of the report, opinion or appraisal. Not applicable.
 - (c) Availability of documents. Not applicable.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 10. Sources and Amounts of Funds or Other Consideration.

(c) Expenses. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "The Note Offer – General – The Note Offer" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet – Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion – How Will Dynex Capital Finance the Series D Conversion?," "Information about the Meeting – Solicitation of Proxies" and "Proposal: Amendment of Dynex Capital's Articles of Incorporation to Accomplish Series D Conversion – Fees and Expenses" is incorporated herein by reference.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 12. Solicitation or Recommendation.

- (d) Intent to tender or vote in a going-private transaction. Each executive officer and director of Dynex Capital has indicated that he intends to vote all shares of Preferred Stock and Common Stock beneficially owned by him or for which he otherwise has proxy authority in favor of the Series D conversion. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Special Factors Reasons for the Note Offer," and in the Proxy Statement under "Background of the Recapitalization Reasons for the Series D Conversion" is incorporated herein by reference.
- (e) Recommendations of others. The information set forth in the Offering Circular under "Summary Term Sheet Has Dynex Capital or Its Board of Directors Adopted a Position on the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?" and "Special Factors Recommendations of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" and in the Proxy Statement under "Summary Term Sheet—Questions and Answers About the Proxy Materials and the Series D Conversion Has the Board of Directors Recommended that I Vote in Favor of the Series D Conversion?" and "Background of the Recapitalization Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization" is incorporated herein by reference.

SCHEDULE 13E-3, ITEM 14. Persons/Assets Retained, Employed, Compensated or Used.

(b) Employees and Corporate Assets. The information set forth in the Proxy Statement under "Information About the Meeting – Solicitation of Proxies" is incorporated herein by reference.

SIGNATURE

After due inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

By: /s/ STEPHEN J. BENEDETTI

Stephen J. Benedetti

Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 29, 2004

EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT NUMBER	DESCRIPTION
*(a)(1)(A)	Offering Circular.
*(a)(1)(B)	Letter of Transmittal.
*(a)(1)(C)	Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.
*(a)(1)(D)	Letter to Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
*(a)(1)(E)	Letter to Clients from Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees.
*(a)(1)(F)	Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.
(a)(1)(H)	Indenture between Dynex and Wachovia Bank, as Trustee, with respect to the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2007. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's Form T-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2004.
(a)(1)(I)	Form of Senior Note. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's Form T-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2004.
(a)(2)(A)	Definitive Proxy Statement. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(i)	Series A Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(ii)	Series B Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.
(a)(2)(B)(iii)	Series C Preferred Stock Proxy Card. Incorporated by reference from Dynex Capital's amended Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2004.

(a)(3)	Not applicable.
(a)(4)	Not applicable.

*(a)(5) Press Release, dated March 29, 2004.

(b) Not applicable. Not applicable. (c) (d) Not applicable. Not applicable. (e) (f) Not applicable. Not applicable. (g) (h) Not applicable.

Filed herewith

Previously filed
To be filed by amendment ***

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

Offer to Exchange
its 9.50% Senior Notes, due 2007
for up to
345,579 Shares of Its Outstanding Series A Preferred Stock,
481,819 Shares of Its Outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, and
479,512 Shares of Its Outstanding Series C Preferred Stock

THE EXCHANGE OFFER, AND RELATED WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS AND PRORATION PERIOD, WILL EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON APRIL 30, 2004, UNLESS EXTENDED OR EARLIER TERMINATED BY US.

Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation, invites its stockholders to tender shares of its Series A preferred stock (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), shares of its Series B preferred stock (the "Series B Preferred Stock"), and shares of its Series C preferred stock (the "Series C Preferred Stock," and, collectively, with the Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock, the "Preferred Stock"), all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this offering circular and in the related letters of transmittal (which, as amended or supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer"). Each share of Preferred Stock has a par value of \$0.01 per share. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, we are offering to acquire up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock (or, in each case, such lesser number of shares as are properly tendered and not properly withdrawn), for:

- \$27.84 in principal amount of our 9.50% Senior Notes, the principal of which will be payable on the third anniversary of issuance (collectively, the "Senior Notes" and each, a "Senior Note"), per share of Series A Preferred Stock tendered, up to an aggregate maximum of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;
- \$28.42 in principal amount of the Senior Notes per share of Series B Preferred Stock tendered, up to an aggregate maximum of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock; and
- \$34.80 in principal amount of the Senior Notes per share of Series C Preferred Stock tendered, up to an aggregate maximum of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock

Under this Note Offer, the per share principal amount of Senior Notes to be received for each share of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer is equal to 116% of the original issue price of each share of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series you tender

(determined by multiplying the aggregate issue price of each share of your Preferred Stock by 116%) is not an even multiple of \$1,000, you will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes"

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Note Offer, we will issue up to \$40,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes, in exchange for up to 1,306,910 shares of Preferred Stock with an aggregate original issue price of \$34,483,822 and an aggregate liquidation preference as of December 31, 2003 of \$47,411.931.

This Note Offer is part of a recapitalization transaction in which Dynex Capital (1) seeks to exchange Senior Notes for outstanding shares of Preferred Stock and (2) is asking stockholders to approve an amendment of our articles of incorporation that will (i) designate and establish the terms of a new Series D Preferred Stock, and (ii) eliminate the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock through their conversion into shares of new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock (the "Series D conversion"). Information about the Series D conversion is more fully described in the proxy statement that is being distributed to Dynex Capital's Preferred Stockholders with this offering circular. We encourage you to read the proxy statement carefully.

The Note Offer is conditioned upon a minimum tender of shares of Preferred Stock that will result in the issuance of at least \$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. The Note Offer is also conditioned on completion of the Series D conversion and other general conditions described in this offering circular. See "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer."

You may request additional copies of this offering circular, the letter of transmittal and related documents from the information agent at its address and telephone number set forth on the back cover of this offering circular.

Tendering holders of Preferred Stock will not be obligated to pay brokerage commissions, solicitation fees, or, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, stock transfer taxes on the sale of shares of Preferred Stock to Dynex Capital. However, any tendering stockholder or other payee that is bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal who fails to complete fully and sign the box captioned "Substitute Form W-9" included in the letter of transmittal or, in the case of a non-U.S. holder, who fails to certify its non-U.S. status, may be subject to a required tax withholding of 28% of the gross proceeds paid to the stockholder or other payee pursuant to the Note Offer. See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences." We will pay all charges and expenses of Wachovia Bank, N.A., the exchange agent, and MacKenzie Partners, Inc., the information agent, incurred in connection with the Note Offer.

Tendering holders of Preferred Stock will not receive any dividends with respect to their tendered shares, including dividends in arrears that have accumulated to date, which will be cancelled if the tendered shares are accepted by us. As of December 31, 2003, a total of approximately \$9.07, \$9.07 and \$11.32 in dividends in arrears have accumulated per share on the Series A Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock, respectively.

Tenders pursuant to the Note Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004, which is the expiration time of the Note Offer, or such later expiration time if we extend the Note Offer, and, if not yet accepted for payment, after May 31, 2004.

As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to our public announcement of our intention to commence the Note Offer), the closing bid price per share for each series of our Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$26.50 for our Series A Preferred Stock, \$26.90 for our Series B Preferred Stock, and \$34.30 for our Series C Preferred Stock. The exchange price for the Series A Preferred Stock offered by this Note Offer represented a premium of 5.1% above the bid price as

of January 7, 2004, the exchange price for the Series B Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.7% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004, and the exchange price for the Series C Preferred Stock represented a premium of 1.5% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004. We urge you to obtain current market quotations for the shares. See "Price Range of Preferred Stock."

PLEASE READ THE ENCLOSED MATERIALS CAREFULLY.

For a further description of our Preferred Stock, see "Description of Capital Stock." We intend to apply for listing of the Senior Notes for trading on the New York Stock Exchange. However, there is no assurance that the Senior Notes will be listed on the New York Stock Exchange or that a liquid trading market will develop for the Senior Notes. If a trading market does develop, there can be no assurance as to any price at which the Senior Notes will trade. See "Risk Factors—Risks Particular to the Note Offer—By Tendering Your Preferred Stock for the Senior Notes, You Will Lose Rights Associated with Your Preferred Stock."

The Senior Notes will be unsecured obligations of Dynex Capital. The Senior Notes mature on the third anniversary of their issuance and bear interest at 9.50% per annum on the outstanding principal balance. Interest only will be paid semiannually. We will have the right to prepay the Senior Notes in whole or in part, including all interest accrued thereon, without penalty. The Senior Notes will be issued under an Indenture between Dynex Capital and Wachovia Bank, N.A., as trustee. The terms of the Senior Notes Indenture are governed by certain provisions contained in the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (the "Trust Indenture Act"). See "Description of Senior Notes."

Our board of directors has evaluated the fairness of the recapitalization, including the Note Offer and the amendment to Dynex Capital's articles of incorporation that will result in the Series D conversion. Based on a number of factors, the board of directors has determined that the recapitalization, including the Note Offer, is fair to Dynex Capital's unaffiliated Preferred Stockholders of each series and unaffiliated Common Stockholders from both a substantive and procedural point of view, and is advisable and in the best interests of Dynex Capital and all of its stockholders. However, neither our directors nor Dynex Capital makes any recommendation as to whether you should tender shares pursuant to this Note Offer. You must make your own decision whether to tender your shares and, if so, how many shares to tender. Neither we nor our board of directors makes any recommendation to you with respect to the Note Offer, and no person has been authorized by us or our board of directors to make any such recommendation.

We have been advised that some of our directors who hold shares of Preferred Stock intend to tender shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes in the Note Offer. As of March 5, 2004, our directors held 128,167 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, representing approximately 25.97% of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, 187,216 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, representing approximately 27.2% of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock, representing approximately 21.02% of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock, representing approximately 21.02% of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock.

You should carefully consider the matters discussed under "Risk Factors" commencing on page 23 of this offering circular before tendering your shares of Preferred Stock.

You should evaluate carefully all of the information contained or referred to in this offering circular and make your own decision whether to tender shares pursuant to the Note Offer. We urge you to consult a tax advisor concerning any federal, state, local or foreign tax consequences of a sale of preferred stock pursuant to the Note Offer.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the Note Offer, passed upon the merits or fairness of the Note Offer, or

passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this offering circular. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

THE DATE OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS MARCH 29, 2004

IMPORTANT

Any stockholder of record desiring to tender all or any portion of his, her or its shares of Preferred Stock should comply with the book-entry transfer facility's automated tender offer program procedures described in "The Note Offer—How to Tender." A stockholder having shares of Preferred Stock registered in the name of a broker or a dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must contact those persons if the stockholder desires to tender such shares. Stockholders that desire to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer but that cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) on or prior to the Expiration Time should tender their shares by following the procedures for guaranteed delivery described in "The Note Offer – How to Tender." Any stockholder of record desiring to tender shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes must have or establish an account with, and tender such shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of The Depository Trust Corporation ("DTC"). The Senior Notes will be issued only in book-entry form pursuant to a global note to be registered in the name of DTC's nominee, Cede & Co., Inc. See "The Note Offer—How to Tender—Tender Procedure for Stockholders of Record."

Questions and requests for assistance may be directed to the information agent at the address and telephone number set forth on the back cover of this offering circular. Requests for additional copies of this offering circular and all related documents may also be directed to the information agent.

The Senior Notes are being offered pursuant to an exemption from registration under Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and applicable exemptions under state securities laws.

We have made no arrangements for and have no understanding with any dealer, salesman or other person regarding the solicitation of tenders hereunder, other than the information agent, and no person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this offering circular in connection with the Note Offer, and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or any other person. Neither the delivery of this offering circular nor any exchange or sale shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the respective dates as of which information is given.

This offering circular does not constitute an offer to exchange or sell, or a solicitation of an offer to exchange or buy, any securities other than the securities covered by this offering circular by us or any other person, or any such offer or solicitation of such securities by us or any such other person in any state or other jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make any such offer or solicitation. In any state or other jurisdiction where it is required that the securities offered by this offering circular be qualified for offering or that the offering be approved pursuant to tender offer statutes in such state or jurisdiction, no offer is hereby being made to, and tenders will not be accepted from, residents of any such state or jurisdiction unless and until such requirements have been satisfied.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
SUMMARY TERM SHEET	1
WHO CAN HELP ANSWER YOUR QUESTIONS?	12
SPECIAL FACTORS	13
Background of the Recapitalization	13
Reasons for the Note Offer	15
Negative Factors Considered by the Board of Directors and the Committee	18
Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization	19
Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization	22
RISK FACTORS	23
Risks Particular to Dynex Capital	23
Risks Particular to the Note Offer	25
JSE OF PROCEEDS	30
SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION	30
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	34
THE NOTE OFFER	34
General	34
Proration if Shares of Series of Preferred Stock Tendered Exceed Maximum; Limitations on Senior Notes Consideration	37
Executive Officer and Director Participation	38
Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments	38
How to Tender	39
Withdrawal Rights	42
Acceptance of Shares of Preferred Stock for Exchange; Delivery of Senior Notes to be Exchanged	43
Denominations	44
Conditions to the Note Offer	44
Source and Amount of Funds	46
Exchange Agent	46
Information Agent	46
Fees and Expenses	46
No Financial Advisor	46
Exemption from Registration Requirements	47
Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals	47
Miscellaneous Matters	47
Payment of Expenses	47
PURPOSES AND EFFECTS OF THE NOTE OFFER	48
CAPITALIZATION	52
PRICE RANGE OF PREFERRED STOCK	53
DIVIDENDS	53
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	54
BOOK VALUE PER SHARE	55
BUSINESS	55
MANAGEMENT	56
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK	59
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	61
DESCRIPTION OF SENIOR NOTES	63
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	70
MATERIAL LINITED STATES EEDERAL INCOME TAY CONSEQUENCES	71

General	71
Scope	72
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Tendering Stockholders; Characterization of the Exchange	72
Constructive Ownership of Stock	74
Section 302 Tests	74
Corporate Stockholder Dividend Treatment	75
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Prospective United States Holders of Senior Notes; Interest on the Senior Notes—General	75
Redemption or Sale of Senior Notes	76
Backup Withholding	76
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Prospective Non- United States Holders of Senior Notes	77
Payment of Interest	77
Sale, Exchange or Other Taxable Disposition of Senior Notes	78
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding	78
Tax Consequences to Dynex Capital	79
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	79

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

This summary term sheet highlights selected information from this offering circular but may not contain all of the information that is important to you. To better understand the Note Offer and for a more complete description of the terms of the Note Offer, you should carefully read this entire offering circular and its appendices and the other documents to which we refer. When used in this offering circular, the terms "Company," "Dynex Capital," "we," "our," "ours" and "us" refer to Dynex Capital, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise specified or the context requires otherwise.

What Is Dynex Capital Seeking to Accomplish?

Dynex Capital is seeking to recapitalize its capital structure. We seek to accomplish this recapitalization through two steps: (1) this offer to exchange your shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock for new 9.50% Senior Notes, due on the third anniversary of their issuance (the "Note Offer") and (2) an amendment to our articles of incorporation that will eliminate all shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock not tendered and accepted by us in the Note Offer through the conversion of all such shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock into a new Series D Preferred Stock (the "Series D conversion"). The Series D conversion is described in detail in the separate proxy statement that is being distributed to holders of Preferred Stock with this offering circular. You are encouraged to read the proxy statement carefully. The Note Offer and the Series D conversion are equally important parts of the recapitalization. We will not complete one without the other. If the Series D conversion is not approved by our stockholders, we will terminate the Note Offer without accepting any shares tendered and will not effect the Series D conversion.

See "Special Factors – Background of the Recapitalization," "— Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization," "The Note Offer — Conditions to the Note Offer" and "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer."

What Transactions Are Involved in the Recapitalization?

In this Note Offer, you are being given the opportunity to tender shares of your Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock for our new 9.50% Senior Notes. These Senior Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof, based on the original issue price of each series. If you tender your shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes, and your tender is accepted, you will also receive cash consideration for any amount of shares tendered in excess of the nearest \$1,000. If you tender all of your shares of Preferred Stock and your tender is accepted, you will not participate in the Series D conversion.

In the Series D conversion, we are seeking the approval of the holders of each series of our Preferred Stock to convert the Series A, Series B and Series C Preferred Stock remaining after the Note Offer is completed into shares of a new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock. The Series D Preferred Stock will have an issue price of \$10.00 per share, a dividend rate of 9.50%, and will be convertible one share of Preferred Stock for one share of Common Stock. The Series D conversion will result in the elimination of the dividends in arrears for all existing series of Preferred Stock. The Series D conversion must be approved by at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each series of Preferred Stock. A majority of the holders of the Common Stock present at a meeting of the holders of Common Stock is also required to approve certain aspects of the Series D conversion.

See "Special Factors – Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization," "The Note Offer – Conditions to the Note Offer," "Risk Factors – Risks Particular to the Note Offer — The Note Offer is Subject to Certain Contingencies That May Prevent Its Consummation."

Is Dynex Capital Willing To Complete Only Part of the Recapitalization?

No. If the Series D conversion is not approved, we will not consummate any portion of the Note Offer. Likewise, if the principal amount of Senior Notes to be issued to tendering stockholders is not at least \$10,000,000, we do not intend to complete either the Note Offer or the Series D conversion.

How Many Shares of Preferred Stock are Being Sought in the Note Offer and What Consideration is Being Offered for My Shares?

We are offering to acquire up to 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer set forth in this offering circular and the accompanying letter of transmittal, you will receive the following for your shares of Preferred Stock:

- \$27.84 in principal amount of our 9.50% Senior Notes due on the third anniversary of their issuance (collectively, the "Senior Notes" and each, a "Senior Note") for each share of Series A Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$9,620,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series A Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;
- \$28.42 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series B Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$13,693,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series B Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock: and
- \$34.80 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series C Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$16,687,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series C Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

The per share principal amount to be received for each share of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer is equal to 116% of the original issue price of each share of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes will be issued in book-entry form in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series you tender (determined by multiplying the aggregate issue price of each share of your Preferred Stock by 116%) is not an even multiple of \$1,000, you will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes."

We have the right to extend or amend the Note Offer in our sole and absolute discretion and the right to terminate the Note Offer at any time prior to the expiration time of the Note Offer if the conditions to the Note Offer are not satisfied.

See "The Note Offer - General" and "- Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments."

What Are the Principal Terms of the Senior Notes I Will Receive in Exchange for My Preferred Stock?

The Senior Notes will be unsecured obligations of Dynex Capital. The Senior Notes mature on the third anniversary of their issuance and bear interest at 9.50% per annum on the outstanding principal balance. Interest will accrue on the Senior Notes commencing on April 7, 2004 and will be paid semiannually. The entire principal amount will be due at maturity. Dynex Capital will have the right to prepay the Senior Notes in whole or in part, including all interest accrued thereon, without penalty. Dynex Capital also will have the right to purchase the Senior Notes in the open market. The Senior Notes will be issued under an Indenture between Dynex Capital and Wachovia Bank, N.A., as trustee. The terms of the Senior Notes Indenture are governed by certain provisions contained in the Trust Indenture Act. See "Description of Senior Notes."

Will I Receive a Premium Above the Current Market Value for Tendering My Preferred Stock?

Whether you will receive a premium above the current market value of the Preferred Stock for tendering shares of Preferred Stock will depend on the market value of our Preferred Stock on the date the Note Offer is completed. As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to our public announcement of our intention to commence the Note Offer), the closing bid price per share for each series of our Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$26.50 for our Series A Preferred Stock, \$26.90 for our Series B Preferred Stock, and \$34.30 for our Series C Preferred Stock. The exchange price for the Series A Preferred Stock for the Senior Notes offered by this Note Offer represented a premium of 5.1% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004, the exchange price for the Series B Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.7% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004, and the exchange price for the Series C Preferred Stock represented a premium of 1.5% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004.

See "Special Factors – Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization," "The Note Offer – General – The Note Offer," "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and "Price Range of Preferred Stock."

What Will Happen to the Dividend Arrearages on My Existing Preferred Stock?

If you tender your shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock, and your tender is accepted, your Preferred Stock will be cancelled, and you will not receive any dividends on the shares accepted by Dynex Capital, including any accumulated dividend arrearages on those shares of Preferred Stock.

For a description of the amount of accumulated dividend arrearages on the existing shares of Preferred Stock, see "Dividends."

How Was the Consideration Being Offered for My Shares Established?

The per share principal amount of Senior Notes being offered in the Note Offer represents a premium above the bid price of the shares of each class of Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the last trading day prior to our public announcement of our intention to commence the Note Offer. The per share consideration that will be received by holders of Preferred Stock in the Series D conversion likewise represents a premium over the price of each class of Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004. The amount of consideration being provided in the Note Offer and the Series D conversion was not based on an appraisal of Dynex Capital, but was established by the board of directors in order to make the consideration attractive to holders of Preferred Stock while at the same time providing a discount to the current liquidation value of the Preferred Stock that would benefit the holders of Common Stock, whose vote is also required to approve aspects of the recapitalization. The difference in consideration being received by holders of Preferred Stock who tender their shares in the Note Offer and holders of Preferred Stock who participate in the Series D conversion reflects the board's assessment that the reduced

investment risk to recipients of Senior Notes justifies a greater amount of consideration for participants in the Series D conversion. Moreover, in establishing the Common Stock consideration to be provided in the Series D conversion, the board considered the prospect for holders of Preferred Stock to recoup the discount from the current liquidation value of their shares that will result from either the Note Offer or the Series D Conversion, through possible future increases in the value of the Common Stock being received, and through future conversions of their Series D Preferred Stock into Common Stock.

Are There any Conditions to the Note Offer?

The completion of the Note Offer is subject to the completion of the Series D conversion, which itself is subject to several conditions, including the following:

- approval of the amendment to our articles of incorporation by the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each series of the existing Preferred Stock.
- approval of the issuance of additional Common Stock in connection with the Series D conversion by a majority of the holders of Common Stock present at a meeting of the Common Stockholders.

In addition, the completion of the Note Offer is subject to a minimum tender of shares of Preferred Stock that will result in the issuance of at least \$10,000,000 in Senior Notes. The board may waive this condition at any time.

If the Series D Conversion is not approved by two-thirds of the holders of each of the Series A, Series B and Series C Preferred Stock, we expect to terminate the Note Offer without accepting any of the shares of Preferred Stock that are tendered. If the Series D conversion is not approved, the holders of Preferred Stock will continue to hold those shares and will continue to be entitled to the dividends and other rights now provided for with respect to each existing series of Preferred Stock.

The Note Offer is also subject to certain general conditions, including the absence of court and government actions prohibiting the Note Offer, general market conditions, the condition of our business, and the Indenture under which the Senior Notes will be issued being qualified under the Trust Indenture Act. The Note Offer will remain open, unless sooner terminated, until all conditions have been satisfied or waived. See "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer."

What Are the Reasons for the Recapitalization?

We have been engaged in a number of recapitalization transactions since 1999, including completed tender offers for Preferred Stock in 2001 and 2003 and significant balance sheet restructuring, primarily related to the sale of assets and the repayment of recourse debt. We have decided to pursue the recapitalization at this time because of a number of factors, including:

- a desire to give the holders of Preferred Stock an opportunity through this Note Offer to exchange their shares for a new series of Senior Notes and/or through the Series D conversion convert their existing shares into a new Series D Preferred Stock, both of which will be issued in a principal amount or issue price that represents a premium to the bid price of the Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the last trading day before we announced the proposed recapitalization;
- a desire to enhance shareholder value by simplifying our capital structure and eliminating dividends-in-arrears on the existing Preferred Stock in anticipation of actively pursuing new strategic alternatives for Dynex Capital; and

• a desire to offer the holders of Preferred Stock a new series of Preferred Stock with potentially improved liquidity, a guaranty of future representation on the board of directors and stronger covenants if we fail to pay future dividends or otherwise fall below certain financial thresholds.

See "Special Factors — Background of the Recapitalization" and "— Reasons for the Note Offer."

What Process Did the Board Use in Deciding to Pursue the Recapitalization?

The decision to pursue the recapitalization was the result of deliberations by the board of directors and a committee of the board appointed in 2002 to consider the possibility of changes in our capital structure and other strategic alternatives. The committee held numerous meetings and considered a variety of alternatives, and recommended the recapitalization, including the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, to the full board, which unanimously approved the proposed recapitalization. See "Special Factors – Background of the Recapitalization" and "— Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization."

Do the Board and Its Committee Believe that the Recapitalization Is Fair to Existing Stockholders?

Yes. Although the board of directors and its committee did not obtain an appraisal or fairness opinion from a separate financial advisor, both the board and the committee believe that the recapitalization, including the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, is both substantively and procedurally fair to the existing holders of the Preferred Stock, including the unaffiliated stockholders of each series, because:

- the holders of Preferred Stock are being given the option to tender their shares for Senior Notes that will be issued in principal amounts representing a premium to the bid price immediately prior to the announcement of the Note Offer, and all holders of Preferred Stock will be treated equally in the Note Offer;
- the holders of Preferred Stock whose shares are converted in the Series D conversion will be treated equally within each series and among the series in the application of the conversion ratios being used to compute the number of shares of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock to be received by each stockholder;
- the improved conversion features of the Series D Preferred Stock will create greater opportunities for the holders of Preferred Stock to participate in any future success of Dynex Capital's business strategies by lowering the conversion price into Common Stock from \$48 or higher to \$10 per share of Common Stock;
- the holders of the new Series D Preferred Stock will be assured of continued representation on Dynex Capital's board of directors, whereas their right to representation on the board of directors under the terms of the existing Preferred Stock depends on our failure to cure current dividend arrearages;
- by combining the three series of Preferred Stock, and providing for the listing of Series D Preferred Stock on a public market, we believe the liquidity of the Preferred Stock will be improved;
- the holders of the Series D Preferred Stock will convert their shares into a senior debt instrument if Dynex Capital fails in the future to maintain current dividends or maintain its

- stockholders' equity above a required threshold, a right that they do not have under the terms of the existing Preferred Stock; and
- the Series D conversion cannot be approved without the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of each series of Preferred Stock, and the level of ownership of our directors ensures that, as a mathematical issue, at least a majority of unaffiliated holders of each series of Preferred Stock will be necessary to approve the Series D conversion in order for the Series D conversion to be approved.

See "Special Factors – Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization."

Did the Board of Directors and the Committee Consider Alternatives to the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?

Yes. The board of directors and the board committee considered four principal alternatives to the Note Offer and Series D conversion:

- Sale. Dynex Capital began exploring the possible sale of the company in 1999, resulting in the execution of a merger agreement in November 2000. For a number of reasons, the transaction was not completed and the merger agreement was terminated in January 2001. Since that time Dynex Capital has had various discussions with possible interested parties, but has not actively pursued a sale and has held no substantive discussions since June 2002. The board and the committee believe that our ability to pursue a sale transaction is hampered by the complexity of our capital structure and by our continued ownership of certain assets that are disfavored in the current market, including our portfolio of manufactured home loans. We also had tax net operating loss carryforwards of an estimated \$124 million as of December 31, 2003, and have not been able to find a transaction that would allow our stockholders to receive suitable consideration for that asset.
- Liquidation. We have considered the possibility of liquidating the assets on our balance sheet and returning the proceeds of liquidation to our stockholders. The board and the committee have concluded that we would be unable in the near term to realize the full value of our assets, including our large loss carryforwards, through a liquidation scenario. The difficulty of conducting a successful liquidation is affected by our ownership of complex financial assets that are difficult to price, and by the fact that in a liquidation scenario we would likely be required to substantially discount assets on our balance sheet in order to find a willing buyer.
- Strategic alternatives. We have also considered the pursuit of strategic alternatives that would allow us to expand our business and more fully use the available loss carryforwards. As we have previously reported, we have explored the pursuit of a variety of strategic alternatives, including engaging a third-party manager and the possibility of acquiring a financial institution. The substantial dividend arrearages on the Preferred Stock, together with the overall complexity of our capital structure, have been impediments to the successful pursuit of a number of strategic alternatives we have considered.
- No recapitalization. We have also considered the effect of electing not to restructure our Preferred Stock. Although we believe that we will generate cash flow sufficient to eliminate the dividend arrearages and/or pay future dividends, this option does not

permit us to deploy as much capital to strategic alternatives and does not solve our long-term need to simplify our capital structure.

See "Special Factors - Background of the Recapitalization" and "-Reasons for the Note Offer."

Has Dynex Capital or its Board Of Directors Adopted a Position on the Note Offer and the Series D Conversion?

Our board of directors has approved the making of this Note Offer. However, neither our directors nor Dynex Capital makes any recommendation as to whether you should tender shares pursuant to this Note Offer. You must make your own decision whether to tender shares and, if so, how many shares to tender.

As described in the proxy statement that accompanies this offering circular, our board of directors has recommended that our Preferred Stockholders vote "FOR" the Series D conversion. See "Special Factors – Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization."

Will the Recapitalization Result in a Change of Control of Dynex Capital?

No. If the minimum shares (17.5%) of each series of existing Preferred Stock are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer or the maximum shares (70%) of each series are tendered and accepted, we would issue approximately 1,078,998 or 392,221 shares, respectively, of additional Common Stock in the Series D conversion. These additional shares would represent only 9.9% or 3.6%, respectively, of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. In addition, if the Note Offer is accepted by a minimum of 17.5% or a maximum of 70% of the holders of the existing Preferred Stock, we would issue 4,713,288 and 1,713,304 shares of new Series D Preferred Stock, respectively. However, were Dynex Capital to waive the minimum tender requirement, and if the Note Offer is accepted by none of the holders of the existing Preferred Stock, we would issue approximately 5,713,428 shares of new Series D Preferred Stock and 1,307,957 shares of Common Stock (which would represent 12.0% of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock). In any event, because the holders of Preferred Stock are being treated equally in the Note Offer and Series D conversion, the holders of Series D Preferred Stock after the conversion will own Preferred Stock in proportions similar to their pre-conversion ownership of the three existing series of Preferred Stock, subject only to differences arising from individual elections to tender shares in the Note Offer and from the different conversion ratios that are based on the existing differences in the original issue price of the three series of Preferred Stock.

What Are the Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Note Offer?

For federal income tax purposes, the exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) will be treated either as (i) a sale or exchange of the tendering stockholder's shares, in which case the stockholder should recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Senior Notes received (plus any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) and the stockholder's adjusted basis in the shares of Preferred Stock exchanged, or (ii) a deemed distribution of property by us with respect to such shares, in which case, given that we do not anticipate having current or accumulated earnings and profits as of the date of the exchange, a tendering stockholder should recognize capital gain to the extent the fair market value of the Senior Notes (plus any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) exceeds the stockholder's adjusted tax basis in the shares of Preferred Stock exchanged.

See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences" for a discussion of material federal income tax consequences associated with the Note Offer and ownership of Senior Notes. See also "Risk Factors — Risks Particular to the Note Offer — Certain United States Federal Income Tax Risks Associated with the Note Offer" for certain federal income tax risks associated with the Note Offer.

Will the Senior Notes Be Subordinate to the Senior Notes Issued by Dynex Capital in February 2003?

No. We redeemed the Senior Notes issued by us in February 2003 in full effective March 1, 2004. The Senior Notes issued in the Note Offer will be the only outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness of Dynex Capital. See "Special Factors – Background of the Recapitalization," and "The Note Offer—Source and Amount of Funds."

Who Is Offering to Acquire My Shares in the Note Offer?

Dynex Capital is offering to acquire your shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. For information about us and our business and certain recent developments, see "Business," and for information about the Note Offer, see "The Note Offer."

How Long Will I Have to Tender My Preferred Stock?

You may tender your shares of Preferred Stock until the Note Offer expires. The Note Offer will expire on April 30, 2004 at 12:01 a.m., New York City time, unless we extend it. We may choose to extend the Note Offer for any reason. See "The Note Offer-Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments."

Is There a Minimum or Maximum Number of Shares of Preferred Stock You Will Accept in the Note Offer?

We will accept up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. This represents approximately 70% of the shares of each series of our Preferred Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

The Note Offer is conditioned upon a minimum tender of shares of Preferred Stock that will result in the issuance of at least \$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. This represents approximately 17.5% of the shares of each series of our Preferred Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003. If the principal amount of Senior Notes to be issued to tendering stockholders is not at least \$10,000,000, we will not complete the Note Offer or the Series D conversion unless we waive this condition.

See "The Note Offer — Conditions to the Note Offer."

How Will Dynex Capital Determine Which Shares to Accept If the Note Offer Is Oversubscribed?

If more shares of any series of the Preferred Stock are tendered than we are offering to acquire, we will accept shares of that series that are validly tendered on a pro-rata basis, based on the number of shares of that series that are tendered. See "The Note Offer — Proration if Shares of Series of Preferred Stock Tendered Exceed Maximum; Limitations on Senior Notes Consideration."

Will Dynex Capital's Officers and Directors Be Participating in the Note Offer?

Yes. Certain members of the board of directors have informed us that they will participate in the Note Offer. The sole executive officer of Dynex Capital does not own any Preferred Stock. See "The Note Offer – Executive Officer and Director Participation."

How Do I Tender My Preferred Stock?

If you wish to tender your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer:

- If your shares of Preferred Stock are held in your name as stockholder of record, you must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of the DTC, because the Senior Notes issued pursuant to this Note Offer will be issued in book-entry form only.
- You must comply with the Depository Trust Company's Automated Tender Offer Program.
- If your shares of Preferred Stock are held in street name that is, through a broker, dealer or other nominee you must contact that institution to tender your shares of Preferred Stock. The exchange agent must receive a confirmation of receipt of your shares by book-entry transfer and your agreement to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Note Offer as set forth in this Offering Circular and the letter of transmittal.
- If you cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) prior to the Expiration Time, you may obtain additional time by submitting a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to the exchange agent. See "The Note Offer How to Tender."

Because the Senior Notes issued pursuant to this Note Offer will be issued in book-entry form only, you must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of the DTC.

Contact the information agent for assistance. See "The Note Offer-How to Tender."

Will I Be Able to Withdraw Shares of Preferred Stock That I Tender into the Note Offer?

Yes. You may withdraw tenders of shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer at any time prior to 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004, the expiration time of the Note Offer, or such later expiration time as we specify if we extend the Note Offer. Unless we have previously accepted the shares you have tendered, you may also withdraw your shares after May 31, 2004. Except for these rights of withdrawal, all tenders are irrevocable. See "The Note Offer—Withdrawal Rights."

How Will I Be Notified if Dynex Capital Extends the Note Offer?

We will issue a press release by 9:00 a.m., New York City time, no later than the business day after the previous scheduled expiration time if we decide to extend the Note Offer. See "The Note Offer—Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments."

When Will I Receive Senior Notes in Exchange for My Preferred Stock Tendered?

Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the Note Offer, and assuming we have not previously elected to terminate or amend the Note Offer, we expect the Note Offer to be completed on the day of the special meeting of the Preferred Stockholders, or shortly after that date. We will accept shares that are properly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration of the Note Offer at 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004, or such later expiration time as we specify if we extend the Note

Offer. As soon as practicable following the expiration time of the Note Offer, Senior Notes and cash consideration for the excess amount of accepted Preferred Stock not divisible in the aggregate by \$1,000 will be delivered for your shares of Preferred Stock, in the manner described in this offering circular (subject to any required prorating), up to the maximum aggregate amount we are offering to acquire. Payment of cash and issuance of the Senior Notes is expected to occur no later than May 7, 2004 (the "Closing Date"). See "The Note Offer—Acceptance of Shares of Preferred Stock for Exchange; Delivery of Senior Notes to be Exchanged."

Will the Senior Notes Be Listed for Trading on a Securities Exchange?

We intend to apply for listing of the Senior Notes for trading on the New York Stock Exchange. However, there is no assurance that the Senior Notes will be listed on the New York Stock Exchange or that a liquid trading market will develop for the Senior Notes. If a trading market does develop, there can be no assurance as to any price at which the Senior Notes will trade. The Senior Notes will be issued only in book-entry form. Generally, the Senior Notes that you receive in the Note Offer will be freely tradable, unless you are considered an affiliate of ours, as that term is defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). See "Risk Factors — Risks Particular to the Note Offer — By Tendering Your Preferred Stock for the Senior Notes, You Will Lose Rights Associated with Your Preferred Stock" and "The Note Offer—General—The Note Offer."

Will the Senior Notes Be Registered With the Securities and Exchange Commission?

No. In making the Note Offer, we are relying on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Under that exemption, if the shares of Preferred Stock you tender are freely tradable, the Senior Notes you will receive in the Note Offer will be freely tradable. If the shares of Preferred Stock you tender in the Note Offer are restricted, the Senior Notes you receive will be restricted to the same degree. See "The Note Offer—Exemption from Registration Requirements."

How Will Dynex Capital Finance the Note Offer and the Recapitalization?

We expect to fund the payment of fees and expenses related to the Note Offer from available cash. The exchange for Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes will be funded by the issuance of the Senior Notes. In addition, to the extent we pay any cash in connection with tenders for Senior Notes (because the Senior Notes will be issued only in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples of \$1,000), we expect to fund those cash payments from available cash. See "The Note Offer – Source and Amount of Funds."

How Will Dynex Capital Pay the Interest and Repay the Principal on the Senior Notes?

We expect to pay the interest and repay the principal on the Senior Notes from cash flow generated by our investment portfolio. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our investment portfolio produced cash flow of approximately \$57.1 million. For the quarter ended December 31, 2003, our investment portfolio produced cash flow of approximately \$13.2 million. See "Business."

Will the Note Offer Affect Trading of the Preferred Stock on the Nasdaq National Market?

If we complete the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, there will be no shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock outstanding. This will necessarily result in the delisting of our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock from the Nasdaq National Market.

We intend to apply for listing of the new Series D Preferred Stock for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market or for listing on the New York Stock Exchange. However, there is no assurance that the Series D Preferred Stock will be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market or listed on the New York Stock Exchange or that a liquid trading market will develop for the Series D Preferred Stock. If a

trading market does develop, there can be no assurance as to any price at which the Series D Preferred Stock will trade.

See "Purposes and Effects of the Note Offer" and "Risk Factors – Risks Particular to the Note Offer — The Market May View the Note Offer Unfavorably, Which May Adversely Affect the Market Price of the Preferred Stock and the Senior Notes."

Will I Have to Pay Brokerage Commissions if I Tender My Shares?

If you are a registered stockholder and you tender your shares directly to the exchange agent, you will not incur any brokerage commissions. If you hold shares through a broker or bank, we urge you to consult your broker or bank to determine whether any transaction costs will apply. See "The Note Offer – General – The Note Offer."

Will I Have to Pay a Stock Transfer Tax if I Tender My Shares?

If you instruct the exchange agent in your book-entry confirmation message to make the payment for the shares to the registered holder, you will not incur any stock transfer tax. See "The Note Offer – Payment of Expenses" and "—Acceptance of Shares of Preferred Stock for Exchange; Delivery of Senior Notes to Be Exchanged."

Who Will Serve as the Exchange Agent in Connection With the Note Offer?

Wachovia Bank, N.A., will serve as the exchange agent for the Note Offer. See "The Note Offer—Exchange Agent" and the information set forth on the back cover of this offering circular.

Who Will Serve as the Information Agent in Connection With the Note Offer?

MacKenzie Partners, Inc. will serve as information agent in connection with the Note Offer. The information agent's telephone number is (212) 929-5500 or (800) 322-2885 (toll free). See "The Note Offer—Information Agent" and the information set forth on the back cover of this offering circular. The information agent can help answer your questions.

What if I Decide Not to Tender Shares of My Preferred Stock?

If we complete the recapitalization, you will receive shares of new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock for any shares of Preferred Stock that you do not tender in the Note Offer. We anticipate that the new Series D Preferred Stock will be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market or listed on the New York Stock Exchange. However, we cannot assure you that a liquid market to trade our Series D Preferred Stock will exist, nor can we assure you that your shares of Series D Preferred Stock will not decline in price. If the Series D conversion does not occur, the holders of Preferred Stock will continue to hold those shares and will continue to be entitled to the dividends and other rights now provided for with respect to each existing series of Preferred Stock.

Should I Vote "FOR" the Series D Conversion Even if I Plan to Tender All of My Shares of Preferred Stock?

Yes. We do not expect to complete the Note Offer until shortly after the special meeting at which the Series D conversion is approved by the holders of Dynex Capital's existing Preferred Stock. For this reason, even if you plan to tender your shares of Preferred Stock, you will continue to hold shares of Preferred Stock and be entitled to vote at the special meeting. Because the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each series of Preferred Stock must approve the Series D conversion in order for the Series D conversion to proceed, and because we do not plan to consummate the Note Offer unless the Series D conversion takes place, you will have an interest in the outcome of the vote even if your

intention is to tender all of your shares of Preferred Stock. See "The Note Offer - Conditions to the Note Offer."

 $BECAUSE\ THE\ NOTE\ OFFER\ WILL\ NOT\ GO\ FORWARD\ UNLESS\ THE\ SERIES\ D\ CONVERSION\ TAKES\ PLACE,\ YOUR\ VOTE\ "FOR"\ THE\ SERIES\ D\ CONVERSION\ IS\ IMPORTANT.$

WHO CAN HELP ANSWER YOUR QUESTIONS?

If you have any questions concerning the Note Offer or if you would like additional copies of the offering circular, please call Dynex Capital at (804) 217-5800. The summary information provided above in "question and answer" format is for your convenience only and is merely a summary of material information contained in this offering circular. You should carefully read this offering circular and the accompanying proxy statement (including the appendices) in their entirety.

SPECIAL FACTORS

Background of the Recapitalization

Dynex Capital, Inc. was incorporated in Virginia in 1987. Dynex Capital is a financial services company that invests in loans and securities principally consisting of or secured by single family mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans, manufactured housing installment loans and delinquent property tax receivables. The loans and securities in which Dynex Capital invests have generally been pooled and pledged (i.e., securitized) as collateral for non-recourse securitization financing. ("securitization financing"). We have elected to be treated as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, and as a REIT, we must distribute substantially all of our taxable income to stockholders.

Dynex Capital's principal source of earnings historically has been net interest income from its investment portfolio. Until 1999, Dynex Capital had generally created investments for its portfolio through the pledge of loans and securities ("securitized finance receivables") as collateral for non-recource securitization financing, which provides long-term financing for those loans and securities while limiting credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Dynex Capital engaged in a number of loan origination businesses, including single family mortgage lending, commercial mortgage lending, and manufactured housing lending. However, in 1999, as a result of disruptions in the fixed income markets, we implemented a fundamental shift in our business plan to conserve capital and repay recourse debt outstanding, and those businesses have since been sold or discontinued. Dynex Capital's investment portfolio has been declining as a result of sales and pay-downs, with little additional investment having been made by Dynex Capital over the last four years. Since 2000, Dynex Capital's business operations have essentially been limited to the management of its investment portfolio and the active collection of our portfolio of delinquent property tax receivables.

In the last several years, Dynex Capital has conducted several tender offers designed to create additional liquidity for the holders of Preferred Stock and to reduce the outstanding dividend arrearages on the Preferred Stock, which amounted to \$18.5 million at December 31, 2003. In 2001, Dynex Capital completed two separate tender offers for the Preferred Stock, resulting in the purchase of more than 1.3 million shares of the Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$20.0 million, but which shares had an aggregate issue price of \$34.4 million, and including dividends-in-arrears, a liquidation preference of \$40.9 million. Dynex Capital completed a third tender offer for its Preferred Stock in February 2003. In that offer, Dynex Capital purchased for cash 188,940 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock, 272,977 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock, and 268,792 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock for a total cash payment of \$19.3 million. In addition, Dynex Capital exchanged an additional 309,503 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 417,541 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and 429,847 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for a series of new 9.50% Senior Notes totaling \$32.1 million and due February 28, 2005 (the "2005 Senior Notes"). Dynex Capital paid off its last recourse obligation in 2002, and was able to complete the cash portion of the 2003 tender offer utilizing cash flow generated from its investment portfolio. Since the completion of the 2003 tender offer, Dynex Capital has used additional cash flow to prepay the 2005 Senior Notes in full effective March 1, 2004.

Since 1999, we have explored a variety of alternatives for improving value for our preferred and common stockholders. We have considered a sale of the company, but have not received significant indications of interest in purchasing Dynex Capital or its assets for consideration that would provide proceeds sufficient to satisfy our obligations with respect to the Preferred Stock (including obligations for dividend arrearages) and still allow any significant return to the common stockholders. We have received no firm offers since late 2000, and although Dynex Capital negotiated a sale in late 2000, that transaction would have required a substantial discount to be accepted by the holders of Preferred Stock, and provided for holders of Common Stock to receive only \$2.00 per share. That transaction was terminated in 2001 before being submitted for stockholder vote.

We have also at various times evaluated the benefits of a liquidation of the company. The most significant impediments to Dynex Capital's ability to pursue a transaction that would involve the sale or liquidation of Dynex Capital are the complicated capital structure of Dynex Capital and the fact that significant assets held by Dynex Capital are perceived as relatively less attractive, including manufactured home loans and delinquent property tax receivables. In exploring the possibility of liquidation, Dynex Capital has also determined that both because of the character of its assets and of the likely perception of reduced negotiating leverage that would accompany an announced liquidation plan, Dynex Capital would not be able to realize the full value of its assets upon liquidation. In addition, because Dynex Capital sold substantial assets over the last several years in order to free up capital and repay its secured indebtedness in full, the present assets of Dynex Capital consist disproportionately of less saleable assets that we believe have more value on the balance sheet of Dynex Capital than in a sale or liquidation scenario.

An important consideration of Dynex Capital when considering any strategic alternative involves the availability to Dynex Capital of an estimated \$124 million of tax net operating loss carryforwards that could be used in the future to offset REIT distribution requirements and therefore allow Dynex Capital to retain capital for investment in a strategic plan. In addition, Dynex Capital could elect to forego REIT status and use its tax net operating loss carryforwards as a shelter for taxable income for Dynex Capital itself or for any taxable REIT subsidiary Dynex Capital might establish. This option will allow Dynex Capital to explore business strategies that include activities not traditionally associated with REITs. Dynex Capital views the carryforwards as significant potential assets, and in evaluating alternatives, has taken into consideration the fact that Dynex Capital would be unlikely to realize significant value for these assets in most sale or liquidation transactions.

We also considered the option of using cash flow to eliminate the existing dividend arrearages. Now that the 2005 Senior Notes have been prepaid, we are free of restrictions on the payment of preferred stock dividends, and are no longer obligated to use liquidity to pay interest on that indebtedness. We continue to generate substantial cash flow, and could choose to use that liquidity to catch up on previously accrued preferred stock dividends and pay future dividends on that stock. However, this option would hamper our ability to deploy capital to potential strategic alternatives and would not solve our long-term need to simplify our capital structure.

The board of directors is continuing to evaluate alternatives for the use of Dynex Capital's cash flow in an effort to improve overall stockholder value. This evaluation has included and will continue to include a number of alternatives, including the acquisition of a new business. In 2002, for example, we actively explored the possibility of acquiring a financial institution. During the course of this evaluation, the board of directors determined that we would be unable to complete such a transaction in part because of the substantial dividend arrearages outstanding on the Preferred Stock. As a result, in September 2002, the board of directors formed a committee comprised of Messrs. Davenport, Igdaloff, Felman and Von der Porten to explore various alternatives with respect to the Preferred Stock. The current members of the committee are Messrs. Akin, Igdaloff, Potts and Von der Porten.

Since 2002, this committee has met regularly with management and discussed numerous strategic alternatives with respect to Dynex Capital and the Preferred Stock. The committee's efforts resulted in the completed tender offer in February 2003, which eliminated a substantial portion of the Preferred Stock dividend arrearages. The committee has continued to meet regularly to discuss the Preferred Stock. The committee, the board and management have also consulted regularly with legal counsel and Dynex Capital's auditors. The committee approved the proposal for the Note Offer and the Series D conversion at a telephone meeting held on November 25, 2003, and recommended approval of this recapitalization plan to the full board of directors. The board of directors met by telephone to discuss and give tentative approval to the recapitalization on December 15, 2003, and met again to give final approval to the plan on January 6, 2004.

Reasons for the Note Offer

Dynex Capital's primary reasons for carrying out the recapitalization, including the Note Offer, are to provide the holders of the Preferred Stock with increased liquidity for their shares, to simplify Dynex Capital's capital structure in order to enhance our ability to pursue strategic alternatives, and to enhance overall stockholder value by completing the recapitalization of the Preferred Stock at discounts to the current liquidation preferences of the Preferred Stock. The board of directors has unanimously determined that the terms of the recapitalization, including the Series D conversion, are substantively and procedurally fair to, and in the best interests of, all of Dynex Capital's stockholders, including the holders of Common Stock, the holders of each series of Preferred Stock and the holders of all classes or series of stock who are unaffiliated with Dynex Capital. The recapitalization was unanimously approved by the board of directors, and the board recommends that the holders of Preferred Stock vote for the proposed articles of amendment to Dynex Capital's articles of incorporation that are necessary to effect the Series D conversion.

In addition, because of New York Stock Exchange requirements, Dynex Capital is also required to seek the approval of the holders of its Common Stock for the aspects of the Series D conversion that involve the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock. The board has also recommended that the holders of its Common Stock approve those aspects of the Series D conversion. Dynex Capital will provide a separate proxy statement and related disclosure to the holders of Common Stock, who are expected to vote on the issuance of shares of Common Stock in connection with the Series D conversion at a separate meeting of Common Stockholders to be held contemporaneously with the special meeting of Preferred Stockholders.

We have been advised by each of Dynex Capital's directors and its sole executive officer that each intends to vote all of the shares of Preferred Stock and Common Stock beneficially owned by him in favor of the Series D conversion. However, as of March 5, 2004, the directors and the sole executive officer of Dynex Capital beneficially owned only the following outstanding shares:

Name	Common Stock	% of outstanding	Series A Preferred	% of outstanding	Series B Preferred	% of outstanding	Series C Preferred	% of outstanding
Stephen J. Benedetti	18,114	*	_	_	_	_	_	_
J. Sidney Davenport	25,238	*	_	_	_	_	_	_
Thomas H. Potts	326,238	3.0%	_	_	_	_	_	_
Donald B. Vaden	9,483	*	_	_	_	_	_	_
Eric P. Von der Porten	140,200	1.29%	_	_	1,598	*	3,225	*
Leon A. Felman	12,570	*	_	_	_	_	20,847	3.04%
Barry Igdaloff	22,280	*	49,546	10.04%	52,820	7.68%	67,300	9.83%
Thomas B. Akin	993,950	9.14%	78,621	15.93%	132,798	19.30%	52,608	7.68%
Total:	1,548,191	14.24%	128,117	25.97%	187,216	27.20%	143,980	21.02%

^{*} Less than 1% of shares outstanding.

See "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" for more detailed information concerning the beneficial ownership of each director and the sole executive officer of Dynex Capital.

In making its unanimous determination that the terms of the recapitalization, including the Series D conversion, are fair to, and in the best interests of, the unaffiliated holders of each series of the Preferred Stock and the Common Stock, and its decision to approve the amendment to the articles of incorporation that will effect the Series D conversion and to recommend that the holders of Preferred Stock and Common Stock approve the amendment and the other terms of the Series D conversion, the board considered:

- The determination by a committee of the board of directors that the terms of the recapitalization, including the Series D conversion, are substantively and procedurally fair to, and in the best interests of, the unaffiliated holders of each series of the Preferred Stock and the Common Stock, and the recommendation by the committee that the board approve the amendment and that the board recommend to Dynex Capital's stockholders that they approve and adopt the amendment and other terms of the Series D conversion; and
- The factors considered by a committee of the board of directors in its deliberations, as described below.

In connection with this consideration of the determination by the committee, and as part of its determination with respect to the fairness of the consideration that will be received by the holders of the Preferred Stock in the Series D conversion, the board expressly adopted the conclusions and underlying reasoning of the committee, based upon the view of the board that the conclusions and factors considered by the committee were reasonable.

The committee considered the following factors, which constitute the material factors considered by the committee in making its own determination that the terms of the recapitalization, including the Series D conversion, were both substantively and procedurally fair to, and in the best interests of, the unaffiliated holders of each series of the Preferred Stock and the Common Stock, and its decision to recommend that the board of directors approve the amendment and recommend to Dynex Capital's stockholders that they approve and adopt the amendment and the other terms of the Series D conversion:

- The Note Offer, which is an integral part of the overall recapitalization plan, will give holders of the Preferred Stock the option of exchanging their shares for a new series of Senior Notes that will be issued at a premium to the bid price of the Preferred Stock prior to the announcement of the Note Offer.
- The elimination of the dividend arrearages in the three separate series of Preferred Stock, the replacement of three series of Preferred Stock with a single series, and the reduction in the overall amount of Preferred Stock outstanding will simplify our capital structure and should create improved opportunities for us to engage in strategic transactions, access the capital markets, and/or reinvest in business activities.
- The Note Offer will benefit Dynex Capital by freeing it of significant dividend arrearages and future dividend obligations by exchanging Preferred Stock for Senior Notes issued at a premium to the original issue price and bid price of the Preferred Stock prior to the announcement of the Note Offer, but at a discount to its present liquidation value.

- The improved conversion features of the Series D Preferred Stock will create greater opportunities for the holders of Preferred Stock to participate in any future success in Dynex Capital's business strategies by lowering the conversion price into shares of Common Stock from \$48 or higher to \$10 per share of Common Stock.
- The conversion of the three series of Preferred Stock into Series D Preferred Stock, the elimination of the dividend arrearages, and the payment of dividends on Series D Preferred Stock will likely enhance the market liquidity of the Series D Preferred Stock relative to the existing liquidity of the three separate series of Preferred Stock
- The value of the consideration received by the Preferred Stockholders in either the Note Offer or the Series D conversion represents fair value in relation to the market price of the Preferred Stock immediately prior to the announcement of the recapitalization, and exceeds and is a premium to the historical prices of the Preferred Stock. The consideration also exceeds the consideration paid in Dynex' previous Preferred Stock tender offers in 2001 and 2003.
- Although the committee did not obtain an appraisal or explicitly compare the consideration being made available in the Note Offer and the Series D conversion to the liquidation or going concern value of Dynex Capital, the committee concluded that these comparisons would not be appropriate. The committee considered the fact that Dynex Capital has not received any firm offers for the company or its assets since late 2000, the fact that the agreement entered into in late 2000 was at a price substantially below the value of the recapitalization to both the Preferred Stockholders and Common Stockholders, and the fact that Dynex Capital is unlikely to be able to liquidate many of its significant assets at a price that would yield any significant proceeds to Common Stockholders, or proceeds to Preferred Stockholders in excess of the value of the transactions included within the recapitalization.
- The effect of the Series D conversion will be to reduce costs to Dynex Capital, including legal, accounting and listing costs related to the maintenance of three separate series of Preferred Stock.
- As long as there are shares of Series D Preferred Stock outstanding, the holders of Series D Preferred Stock will have permanent representation on the board of directors of Dynex Capital.
- If Dynex Capital fails to meet certain net equity covenants or to pay dividends on a current basis, the Series D Preferred Stock will automatically convert into a new unsecured debt instrument that will be subordinate only to Dynex Capital's secured indebtedness and the Senior Notes being issued in conjunction with the Note Offer.
- The holders of Common Stock will benefit from a capital structure that commits fewer long-term resources to the payment of Preferred Stock dividends and that reduces the liquidation preference held by the holders of Preferred Stock primarily through the issuance of additional Common Stock.

There can be no assurance that any of the objectives described above will be achieved, that Dynex Capital will pay dividends on shares of the Series D Preferred Stock in the future or that the Series D Preferred Stock will be made available for trading on the Nasdaq National Market or the New York Stock Exchange, or otherwise provide greater liquidity than the existing shares of Preferred Stock.

In recommending the terms of the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, the committee endeavored to strike a balance between the interests of the holders of the three series of Preferred Stock and the interests of the holders of the Common Stock. The per share principal amount of Senior Notes

being offered in the Note Offer represents a premium above the bid price of the shares of each class of Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the last trading day prior to our public announcement of our intention to commence the Note Offer. The per share consideration that will be received by holders of Preferred Stock in the Series D conversion likewise represents a premium over the price of each class of Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004. The amount of consideration being provided in the Note Offer and the Series D conversion was not based on an appraisal of Dynex Capital, but was established by the board of directors in order to make the consideration attractive to holders of Preferred Stock while at the same time providing a discount to the current liquidation value of the Preferred Stock that would benefit the holders of Common Stock, whose vote is also required to approve aspects of the recapitalization. The difference in consideration being received by holders of Preferred Stock who tender their shares in the Note Offer and holders of Preferred Stock who participate in the Series D conversion reflects the board's assessment that the reduced investment risk to recipients of Senior Notes justifies a greater amount of consideration for participants in the Series D conversion. Moreover, in establishing the Common Stock consideration to be provided in the Series D conversion, the board considered the prospect for holders of Preferred Stock to recoup the discount from the current liquidation value of their shares that will result from either the Note Offer or the Series D conversion, through possible future increases in the value of the Common Stock being received, and through future conversions of their Series D Preferred Stock into Common Stock.

Negative Factors Considered by the Board of Directors and the Committee

The board of directors and the committee each also considered potentially negative factors for both Dynex Capital and the holders of the Preferred Stock that could or will arise from the recapitalization, including the following:

- As a result of the Note Offer, perpetual Preferred Stock will be exchanged for Senior Notes, which will have a fixed maturity date of three years from the date of their issuance, resulting in an increase in liquidity risk for us.
- · Dynex Capital will likely incur significant transaction costs, and the recapitalization will require substantial management time and effort to complete.
- Dynex Capital faces a risk that the anticipated benefits to Dynex Capital of the recapitalization might not be realized to the extent anticipated.
- The holders of Preferred Stock will receive a premium to the original issue and to the bid prices of their shares prior to the announcement of the Note Offer, but at a discount to the liquidation value of their shares because they will forfeit the accrued dividend arrearages on their shares.
- The holders of Preferred Stock that elect to tender their shares in the Note Offer will be unable to participate in any benefits arising from any future successes of Dynex Capital if Dynex Capital successfully executes on its business strategy. In particular, holders of Preferred Stock that tender their shares in the Note Offer will be unable to benefit from any future use of Dynex Capital's substantial tax net operating loss carryforwards. Although Dynex Capital's ability to use these net operating loss carryforwards in full will depend on its future success in generating income that would permit their use before their expiration, at current corporate tax rates the tax benefit to Dynex Capital could be as much as \$48 million, which could provide a significant future benefit to our shareholders.
- The holders of each of the three series of Preferred Stock are presently entitled to vote as a separate class on all changes affecting the terms of their shares, but after the Series D

conversion, will vote as a single class with the other holders of the Series D Preferred, and so individual holders of Preferred Stock may have less ability to influence the outcome of a future change in the terms of their shares of Preferred Stock.

- . The stated dividend rate on the Series D Preferred Stock is lower than the present stated dividend rate on each of the three existing series of Preferred Stock.
- The board of directors and the committee did not engage an independent financial advisor to appraise or otherwise calculate the value of Dynex Capital or its assets, or retain an independent advisor to represent the interests of the unaffiliated stockholders.
- The exchange of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes and the conversion of the existing shares of Preferred Stock into shares of Series D Preferred Stock will create new instruments which will require us to make payments of interest and dividends, or risk defaulting on these instruments. If we fail to make two successive dividend payments on the Series D Preferred Stock, the Preferred Stock will automatically convert into new Senior Notes.
- Different holders of the Preferred Stock will have different tax consequences arising from the recapitalization, and for some holders of Preferred Stock with an extremely low basis in their shares, the recapitalization may trigger short-term tax obligations that will not be shared by the holders of the Preferred Stock as a whole.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by the board of directors and the committee is not intended to be exhaustive but is believed to include all material factors considered by them. In reaching its determination, the committee concluded that the potential benefits outweighed the potential risks, but did not, in view of the wide variety of information and factors considered, assign any relative or specific weights to the foregoing factors, and individual directors may have given differing weights to different factors. Likewise, the members of the full board of directors, in considering the recommendation of the committee, separately weighed each of the material factors described above and concluded that the potential benefits of the recapitalization, including the Series D conversion, outweighed the potential risks. Although several directors have interests in the recapitalization, as described below, see "—Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization," the board did not consider the potential benefits to be received by these individuals as a factor in reaching its decision and did not obtain a third party appraisal or engage a separate representative to represent the unaffiliated stockholders.

The board and the committee chose not to obtain a fairness opinion from a separate financial advisor, and did not consult a financial advisor in structuring the Note Offer or the Series D conversion. The board and the committee independently determined that they believed that the Series D conversion, in conjunction with the Note Offer, is substantively and procedurally fair to the existing holders of each series of the Preferred Stock, including the unaffiliated holders of each series. In reaching this determination, the committee and the board, in following and separately considering and adopting the committee's recommendations and reasoning, took into account the factors described below:

Substantive Fairness Factors

The committee and the board evaluated the following factors that address the substantive fairness of the Note Offer and the Series D conversion:

• The Note Offer provides liquidity to the holders of the holders of Preferred Stock by giving them the election to tender all or a substantial portion of their shares for a debt instrument with fixed payment terms and a favorable coupon.

- The new Series D Preferred Stock contains improved voting rights in the form of guaranteed representation on the board of directors, stronger covenants than the existing Preferred Stock that will enable the conversion of Series D Preferred Stock into a new series of notes upon certain defaults, and a conversion threshold that is much closer to the market price prior to the announcement of the Note Offer for Common Stock than the conversion provisions of the existing series of Preferred Stock, which contain conversion prices that range from 7.68 times to 9.60 times the highest market price achieved by the Common Stock from January 1, 2003 through January 7, 2004.
- The consideration being offered in the Note Offer and the Series D conversion is fair in relation to the market price for each series of Preferred Stock prior to the announcement of the transactions, in relation to the historical market prices of each series of Preferred Stock and by comparison to the consideration paid by Dynex Capital in the tender offer completed by Dynex in February 2003. The consideration being offered in the Note Offer represents a premium to the closing bid price for each series of Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, which was the last trading day prior to the announcement of the recapitalization transactions. The closing per share bid price of the Series A Preferred Stock on January 7, 2004 was \$26.50, and the market price of the Series A Preferred Stock from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2003 ranged from a low of \$6.63 per share to a high of \$28.25 per share. The closing per share bid price of the Series B Preferred Stock from January 7, 2004 was \$26.90, and the market price of the Series B Preferred Stock from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2003 ranged from a low of \$7.00 per share to a high of \$27.89 per share. The closing per share bid price of the Series C Preferred Stock on January 7, 2004 was \$34.30, and the market price of the Series C Preferred Stock from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2003 ranged from a low of \$7.81 per share to high of \$34.30 per share. In the February 2003 tender offer, holders of Series A Preferred Stock who tendered their shares received either \$24 in cash per share or \$25.20 in 2005 Senior Notes holders of Series B Preferred Stock who tendered their shares received either \$30 in cash per share or \$31.50 in 2005 Senior Notes.
- All holders of each series of Preferred Stock, and the series of Preferred Stock collectively, will be treated equally in the Series D conversion and will receive an equal
 premium to the original issue price of their shares in the form of new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock, with the only difference among the series
 representing proportional differences that depend on the original issue price of the three separate series of the Preferred Stock.
- Because of the difficulty of valuing the assets of Dynex Capital, the committee and the board determined that it was not appropriate to base its determination of the substantive terms of the recapitalization on the book value or going-concern value of Dynex Capital. Moreover, the committee and the board believe that such a basis for the valuation of the transactions is inappropriate because of the nature of Preferred Stock held by the holders of each series. Each series of Preferred Stock contains a defined liquidation and redemption value, which makes the overall valuation of Dynex Capital less relevant to the valuation of the Preferred Stock. In addition, because the conversion features of the existing Preferred Stock are based on a conversion price that would require a substantial and unanticipated increase in the market value of the Common Stock in order to be economically attractive, the conversion features were likewise deemed irrelevant to the determination of the fairness of the substantive terms of the recapitalization.

- Because of the difficulty of valuing the assets on Dynex Capital's balance sheet, the board and the committee determined that it is unlikely that Dynex Capital could obtain value for its assets in a liquidation transaction or a series of transactions that would equal or exceed the value that the board and the committee believe could be achieved if Dynex Capital is able to continue its business going forward. Moreover, because the liquidation value of the shares of Preferred Stock is established by the terms of those shares, the board and the committee determined that the overall liquidation value of Dynex Capital would have very little bearing on the establishment of the substantive terms of the recapitalization, or the determination of their fairness.
- The belief of the board of directors and the committee that by combining the Preferred Stock into a single series, and providing for the listing of the Series D Preferred Stock on a public market, the liquidity of the Preferred Stock will be improved.
- The holders of Common Stock will have an improved opportunity to benefit from any future successes of Dynex Capital because the outstanding dividend arrearages will be eliminated, fewer future resources will be committed to dividend payments and the liquidation preference of preferred stockholders will be reduced.
- The holders of the Series D Preferred Stock will have an improved opportunity to benefit from any future successes of Dynex Capital as a result of the reduced conversion price and conversion ratio, and as a result of receiving shares of Common Stock in connection with the Series D conversion.
- The fact that Dynex Capital has not attracted a purchaser for the entire company or a substantial portion of its assets at a favorable price, and so the consideration being offered by Dynex Capital in the Note Offer and the Series D conversion is believed to exceed the consideration available to Dynex Capital from a merger, consolidation, sale or other similar transaction.

Procedural Fairness Factors

The board and the committee also took into account the following procedural aspects of the proposed transactions, which touch on the procedural fairness of the Note Offer and the Series D conversion:

- The fact that the Series D conversion is structured so that it cannot be approved by the holders of the Preferred Stock unless a majority of the holders of the Preferred Stock who are unaffiliated with members of the board of directors vote in favor of the Series D conversion.
- The fact that the Series D conversion will not take place unless the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock and possible future issuance of Common Stock in conjunction with any future conversion of Series D Preferred Stock are approved by the holders of a majority of the shares of the Common Stock present at a meeting of the common stockholders of Dynex Capital, and the fact that because the members of the board of directors and the sole executive officer of Dynex Capital hold in aggregate less than 15% of the outstanding shares of the Common Stock, this approval requirement will require substantial support by the unaffiliated holders of Common Stock.
- · The fact that the Series D conversion was approved by a board of directors that does not include any employees of Dynex Capital.

• The absence of an unaffiliated representative retained to act solely on behalf of the unaffiliated holders of Preferred Stock and Common Stock. In considering the impact of the committee's and board's decision not to retain an unaffiliated representative, the committee and the board concluded that the inclusion of such a representative would not have a material effect on the fairness of the proposed transactions. First, the board of directors and the committee each approved the proposed transactions unanimously, notwithstanding the fact that the board and the committee each contain members representing the disparate interests of the holders of Preferred Stock and the holders of Common Stock. On the board of directors, for example, three directors hold exclusively and one director holds predominantly Common Stock, while the other three directors are significant holders of Preferred Stock. Accordingly, the representation of both of these constituencies in the decision making process indicates that the interests of the holders of all classes of securities were represented in this process. Second, because approval of the holders of each of the classes of Preferred Stock and the holders of the Common Stock will be required in order to proceed with the Series D conversion, the consideration established for both the Note Offer and the Series D conversion took into account the need to give holders of Preferred Stock a premium over the market value of their securities prior to the announcement of the transactions while at the same time providing a benefit to holders of Common Stock by establishing terms that include a discount to the current liquidation value of each of the classes of the Preferred Stock. Third, as structured, the recapitalization transactions ensure that both the affiliated and the unaffiliated holders of Preferred Stock of any series will receive identical consideration. Finally, unlike many "going private" transactions in which insiders are allowed to continue their ownership in the enterprise whil

Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization

As noted above, the members of the board of directors of Dynex Capital in the aggregate own the following numbers and percentages of outstanding shares of the Common Stock and each series of Preferred Stock as of March 5, 2004:

	Number of Shares	Outstanding Shares
Common Stock	1,548,191	14.24%
Series A Preferred Stock	128,167	25.97%
Series B Preferred Stock	187,216	27.20%
Series C Preferred Stock	143,980	21.02%

Four of the seven members of our board of directors, Messrs. Akin, Felman, Igdaloff and Von der Porten, are record or beneficial owners of shares of Preferred Stock. See "Special Factors – Reasons for the Note Offer." Because these directors own shares of Preferred Stock in the three separate series in different proportions than the holders of Preferred Stock as a whole, and because their tax basis for their shares may differ from the holders of the Preferred Stock as a whole, the members of the board of directors recognize the possibility that they may have economic interests not identical with the holders of the Preferred Stock as a whole. However, the members of the board of directors believe that their recommendation of the recapitalization was not influenced by the extent to which their interests might differ from the interests of the holders of Preferred Stock as a whole because those differences are likely to be relatively minor. The Series D conversion has been proposed in a manner that gives equivalent economic treatment to each outstanding share of Preferred Stock in each of the three outstanding series of

Preferred Stock, and for most purposes, the interests of the directors who hold Preferred Stock and the unaffiliated holders of Preferred Stock will be the same. The members of the board of directors are not receiving any preference with regard to the tender of their shares in the Note Offer, and to the extent they remain holders of Preferred Stock who participate in the Series D conversion, will receive the same per share consideration, calculated in exactly the same manner, as each other holder of Preferred Stock. Moreover, because the directors as a whole beneficially own less than one-third of any of the series of the Preferred Stock, and because approval of the Series D conversion requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each series of Preferred Stock, it is mathematically impossible for the Series D conversion to be approved unless it is approved by a majority of the unaffiliated holders of Preferred Stock of each series.

None of the directors are employees of Dynex Capital. Stephen J. Benedetti, Dynex Capital's sole executive officer, is the beneficial owner of no shares of Preferred Stock and 18,114 shares of Common Stock currently outstanding.

RISK FACTORS

Before deciding to tender your shares, you should consider carefully the risks described in this offering circular, as well as other information we include or incorporate by reference in this offering circular, and the additional information in the reports that we file with the SEC. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face or the only ones that may exist with respect to the Note Offer. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not presently know about, that we currently believe are immaterial or which are similar to those faced by other companies in our industry or business in general, may also adversely impact our business.

Risks Particular to Dynex Capital

Our Business Is Affected by General Economic Conditions

We are affected by general economic conditions. The risk of defaults and credit losses could increase during an economic slowdown or recession, which may be accompanied by declining real estate values and declining collateral values on manufactured housing loans. This could have an adverse effect on the performance of our securitized loan pools and on our overall financial performance. For example, any material decline in real estate values reduces the ability of borrowers to use home equity to support borrowings and increases the loan-to-value ratios of loans previously made, thereby weakening collateral coverage and increasing the possibility of a loss in the event of default.

Our Income Is Dependent on our Ability to Manage Interest Rate Spreads, and Changes in Interest Rates May Affect Our Investment Portfolio

Our income and cash flow depends on our ability to earn greater interest on our investments than the interest cost to finance these investments. Interest rates in the markets we serve generally rise or fall with interest rates as a whole. A majority of the loans currently pledged as securitized finance receivables are fixed-rate. We currently finance these fixed-rate assets through non-recourse securitization financing, approximately \$209 million of which as of December 31, 2003 is variable rate which resets monthly. Financing fixed rate assets with variable rate bonds exposes us to reductions in income and cash flow in a period of rising interest rates. Through the use of interest rate swaps and synthetic swaps, we have reduced this exposure by approximately \$146 million at December 31, 2003 on an amortizing basis through approximately June 2005. In addition, a significant amount of the investments we hold are adjustable-rate securitized finance receivables, which generally reset on a delayed basis and have periodic interest rate caps. These investments are financed through long-term non-recourse securitization financing which reset monthly and which have no periodic caps. In total at December 31, 2003, including \$209 million in financing indicated above, we had approximately \$536 million of variable-rate non-recourse securitization financing. Our net

interest spread and cash flow could decrease materially during a period of rapidly rising short-term interest rates, despite the use of interest-rate swaps and synthetic swaps, as a result of the monthly reset in the rate on the adjustable-rate non-recourse securitization financing issued by us.

Our Investment Portfolio Is Subject to Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss from the failure of a borrower (or the proceeds from the liquidation of the underlying collateral) to fully repay the principal balance and interest due on a loan. A borrower's ability to repay, or the value of the underlying collateral, could be negatively influenced by economic and market conditions. These conditions could be global, national, regional or local in nature. Upon securitization of a pool of loans or securities backed by loans, the credit risk retained by us is generally limited to our net investment in the securitization structure and/or subordinated securities that we may retain from a securitization. For securitized pools of loans, we have credit risk principally by virtue of our investment in securitized finance receivables. This credit risk is generally limited to our net investment in the securitization financing structure (also known as over-collateralization) and subordinated securities that it may retain from the securitization. We provide reserves for expected losses based on the current performance of the respective pool or on an individual loan basis; however, if losses are experienced more rapidly than we had provided for in our reserves, we may be required to provide for additional reserves for these losses. We also have credit risk related to certain debt securities, principally on those pledged as securitized finance receivables, and recognize losses when incurred or when the security is deemed to be impaired on an other than temporary basis.

An Increase in Defaults By Borrowers Could Adversely Impact Our Business

Defaults by borrowers on loans securitized by us may have an adverse impact on our financial performance, if actual credit losses differ materially from estimates made by us or exceed reserves for loss recorded in the financial statements. The allowance for losses is calculated on the basis of historical experience and management's best estimates. Actual default rates or loss severity may differ from our estimate as a result of economic conditions. In particular, the default rate and loss severity on our portfolio of manufactured housing loans and securities has been higher than initially estimated. Actual defaults on ARM (adjustable rate mortgage) loans may increase during a rising interest rate environment. In addition, commercial mortgage loans are generally large dollar balance loans, and a significant loan default may have an adverse impact on our financial results. We believe that our reserves are adequate for such risks on loans that were delinquent as of December 31, 2003.

Our Business Is Dependent Upon Third-Party Servicers

Third-party servicers service the majority of our investment portfolio. To the extent that these servicers are financially impaired, the performance of our investment portfolio may deteriorate, and defaults and credit losses may be greater than estimated.

An Increase in Prepayments by Borrowers Could Adversely Impact Our Business

Prepayments by borrowers on loans securitized by us may have an adverse impact on our financial performance, including a reduction in our overall cash flow from our investment portfolio and a reduction in our overall investment portfolio. Prepayments are expected to increase during a declining interest rate or flat yield curve environment. Our exposure to rapid prepayments is primarily the result of (i) the faster amortization of premium on the investments and, to the extent applicable, the amortization of bond discount, and (ii) the replacement of investments in our investment portfolio with lower yield securities.

We May Invest in a New Business Strategy

We intend to explore various new business strategies. The pursuit of any strategy is subject to the outcome of our investigation, but it is our belief that a new business strategy may be the best use of our available capital on a go-forward basis after the completion of this Note Offer and the recapitalization. One alternative that we have considered is the acquisition of a depository institution. We have no business experience in operating a depository institution, and may not have any prior business experience

in other businesses that we may choose to pursue as part of our future business strategy. Consequently, there can be no assurance that the pursuit of a different strategy would result in any benefit to us.

An Adverse Outcome in Pending Litigation Could Substantially Impair Our Liquidity

Dynex Capital and a former affiliate were defendants in state court in Dallas County, Texas in a trial that commenced in January 2004. Dynex Capital is vigorously defending the claims involved in this litigation, in which the plaintiffs were seeking damages of approximately \$40 million. A jury trial in the case was completed in February 2004. The jury rendered a verdict obligating us to pay damages to one of the plaintiffs of \$0.25 million, and may obligate us to share in an award of attorneys fees of \$2.1 million. The jury entered a separate verdict against the former affiliate under two mutually exclusive damage models, for \$2.2 million and \$25.6 million, respectively. The verdict, any judgment and the apportionment of the award of attorneys fees between Dynex Capital and the former affiliate, if appropriate, remains subject to the outcome of post-judgment motions pending or to be filed with the trial court. We do not believe that we have any legal responsibility for the judgment entered against the former affiliate. We do not believe that the judgment rendered by the jury against us, or our potential responsibility for attorneys fees, will materially affect our ability to complete the recapitalization, but if the ultimate outcome of the litigation results in an obligation on the part of Dynex Capital to pay damages of the former affiliate, such a result could substantially impair our liquidity and adversely affect our ability to pay the interest or the principal on the Senior Notes or dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock. See "Legal Proceedings."

Regulatory Changes Could Affect Our Business

Our businesses as of December 31, 2003 are not subject to any material federal or state regulation or licensing requirements. However, changes in existing laws and regulations or in the interpretation thereof, or the introduction of new laws and regulations, could adversely affect us and the performance of our securitized loan pools or our ability to collect on our delinquent property tax receivables.

Risks Particular to the Note Offer

The Note Offer Will Increase Our Leverage and Debt Service Obligations, Which May Adversely Affect Continuing Operations

Following the Note Offer, we will be more leveraged and have additional debt service obligations in addition to operating expenses and planned capital expenditures. The issuance of the maximum \$40,000,000 principal amount of the Senior Notes would increase our total recourse indebtedness by \$40,000,000. Assuming the issuance of the maximum \$40,000,000 principal amount of the Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer, we would incur additional debt service obligations of approximately \$2,800,000 in 2004, \$3,800,000 in 2005 and \$3,800,000 in 2006.

Increased levels of indebtedness may have several important effects on our future operations, including, without limitation, (i) a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of interest and principal on its indebtedness, reducing the funds available for operations and for capital expenditures, (ii) our leveraged position will increase our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions, and (iii) our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate and other purposes may be limited. Our ability to meet debt service obligations and to reduce total indebtedness will be dependent upon our future performance, which will be subject to general economic, industry and competitive conditions and to financial, business and other factors affecting operations, or ability to raise additional equity, many of which are beyond our control. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service debt, we may be required, among other things, to seek additional financing in the debt or equity markets, to refinance or restructure all or a portion of our

indebtedness, including the Senior Notes, to sell selected assets, or to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures and growth or business strategies. There can be no assurance that any such measures would be sufficient to enable us to service our debt, or that any of these measures could be effected on satisfactory terms, if at all.

If we fail to pay any required payment of interest or principal with respect to the Senior Notes on a timely basis, such failure will constitute a default under the terms of the Indenture. An event of default under the Indenture also may trigger an event of default under certain other obligations, if any should exist at that time. As of the date of this Note Offer, no such obligations exist. As a result, the incurrence of additional debt resulting from the Note Offer will increase the risk of possible default with respect to future obligations. The Indenture does not contain restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness.

If We Complete the Series D Conversion but Later Default on Preferred Stock Dividend or Equity Requirements, We Will Incur Additional Indebtedness that May Impair Our Liquidity

The terms of the Series D Preferred Stock will provide for the automatic conversion of that stock into a new class of indebtedness if we ever fall in arrears in the payment of two quarterly dividend payments or cease to have shareholder's equity of at least 200% of the then outstanding aggregate issue price of the outstanding Series D Preferred Stock. If this conversion occurs, we will have additional indebtedness that will be junior to the Senior Notes, but that could adversely affect our liquidity and ability to pursue strategic alternatives and other business operations.

The Senior Notes Require Principal Payment in Full Three Years After Issuance, and We May Not Have the Liquidity to Meet This Obligation

The Senior Notes and the Indenture do not contain a sinking fund obligation or require the making of regular principal payments, and the principal becomes due in full on the third anniversary of issuance. We cannot be certain that we will have liquidity sufficient at that time to make the required lump sum principal payment on the Senior Notes, and in any event, this large obligation could adversely affect our ability to engage in our business or require us to sell assets in order to meet the obligation. If we are required to dispose of assets in order to generate the liquidity needed to pay the principal on the Senior Notes, we may have to sell assets we would prefer to retain because their sale is inconsistent with our business strategy, or at a price that is disadvantageous to us.

The Note Offer Will Reduce Our Amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents

At December 31, 2003, our cash and cash equivalents were approximately \$7.4 million. If the Note Offer to exchange Senior Notes for Preferred Stock is fully subscribed we will pay out cash to the extent that we are required to pay cash to tendering stockholders in connection with tenders for Senior Notes (because Senior Notes will only be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000 and cash consideration will be paid for amounts in excess of the nearest \$1,000 not to exceed \$999.99). As a result, our ability to internally finance working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate and other purposes may be impaired. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service our debt and other liabilities, we may be required, among other things, to seek additional financing in the debt or equity markets, to refinance or restructure all or a portion of our indebtedness, including the Senior Notes, to sell selected assets, or to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures and growth or business strategies. There can be no assurance that any such measures would be sufficient to enable us to meet our obligations, or that any of these measures could be effected on satisfactory terms, if at all.

By Tendering Your Preferred Stock for the Senior Notes, You Will Lose Rights Associated With Your Preferred Stock

To the extent that shares of your Preferred Stock you tender are accepted by us, you will be relinquishing rights available to you as a stockholder. If your Preferred Stock is validly tendered and accepted for exchange, upon acceptance of the shares by us (which will occur after the special meeting of Preferred Stockholders to be held on April 29, 2004 to vote on the Series D conversion and the recapitalization), you will lose the right to share in any capital appreciation of our Preferred Stock, will not be entitled to vote upon any matters submitted to our stockholders for which you might otherwise be eligible to vote, and will no longer be entitled to dividends paid, if any, on our Preferred Stock. In addition, while we intend to apply for the listing of the Senior Notes for trading on the New York Stock Exchange, there is no assurance that such application will be accepted. Therefore, there is no assurance that a liquid trading market will develop for the Senior Notes. If a trading market does develop, trading in the Senior Notes may still be thin and the liquidity of your investment in Dynex Capital may be reduced.

The Market May View the Note Offer Unfavorably, Which May Adversely Affect the Market Price of the Preferred Stock and the Senior Notes

The Note Offer will reduce our shareholders' equity and increase our indebtedness, thereby increasing our debt to equity ratio and debt service obligations. The market may regard these results unfavorably and the price of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock may be adversely affected. To the extent that the market does not regard the Note Offer as favorable, the market price, if any, of the Senior Notes also could be adversely affected. If we complete the Note Offer and the recapitalization, there will be no shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock outstanding. This will necessarily result in the delisting of our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock from the Nasdaq National Market.

We intend to apply for listing of the new Series D Preferred Stock for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market or for listing on the New York Stock Exchange. However, there is no assurance that the Series D Preferred Stock will be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market or listed on the New York Stock Exchange or that a liquid trading market will develop for the Series D Preferred Stock. If a trading market does develop, there can be no assurance as to any price at which the Series D Preferred Stock will trade.

The Senior Notes May Be Prepaid by Dynex Capital, Which Could Prevent You From Realizing Interest Income Associated With the Senior Notes

The Senior Notes are subject to redemption at our option in whole at any time or in part from time to time without penalty or premium upon notice to the holders of the Senior Notes. As a result, holders of the Senior Notes will be subject to a risk of prepayment at a time when interest rates may be generally declining. In such case, holders of Senior Notes will no longer have the right to receive interest and may be forced to reinvest the redemption proceeds in securities with a lower rate of interest.

We Did Not Base the Terms of the Recapitalization on an Appraisal and Did Not Retain the Advice of an Outside Financial Advisor

Although the board of directors and its committee carefully considered the alternatives available to Dynex Capital, the market price of each series of Preferred Stock, our future liquidity and other factors that they believed to be relevant to the decision to pursue the recapitalization, the board's decisions were not based upon an appraisal or advice received from a third-party financial advisor. Moreover, because several of the directors and members of the committee are holders of Preferred Stock, they may have individual financial interests that differ from the interests of the holders of Preferred Stock as a whole. Dynex Capital also did not engage an independent advisor to represent the interests of the unaffiliated

holders of Preferred Stock or Common Stock, and it is possible that an independent representative might have proposed terms of the recapitalization that would differ from those approved by the board of directors. See "Special Factors—Interests of Dynex Capital's Directors and Affiliated Parties in the Recapitalization" and "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management."

The Note Offer Could Be Deemed a Fraudulent Conveyance by a Court of Law, Which Could Result in a Court Voiding All or a Portion of Our Obligations to Holders of the Senior Notes

Various fraudulent conveyance laws enacted for the protection of creditors may apply to the issuance of the Senior Notes. Under federal or state fraudulent transfer laws, if a court were to find that, at the time the Senior Notes were issued, we (i) issued the Senior Notes with the intent of hindering, delaying or defrauding current or future creditors or (ii) (A) received less than fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value for incurring the indebtedness represented by the Senior Notes and (B) (1) were insolvent or were rendered insolvent or contemplated insolvency by reason of the issuance of the Senior Notes, (2) were engaged, or about to engage, in a business or transaction for which our assets or capital were unreasonably small or (3) intended to incur, or believed (or should have believed) we would incur, debts beyond our ability to pay as such debts mature (as all of the foregoing terms are defined in or interpreted under such fraudulent transfer statutes), such court could void all or a portion of our obligations to the holders of the Senior Notes, or void or subordinate our obligations to the holders of the Senior Notes, and take other action detrimental to the holders of the Senior Notes, including in certain circumstances, invalidating the Senior Notes. In that event, repayment on the Senior Notes may not be recovered by the holders of the Senior Notes.

The definition of insolvency for purposes of the foregoing consideration varies among jurisdictions depending upon the federal or state law that is being applied in any such proceeding. Generally, however, we would be considered insolvent at the time we incur the indebtedness constituting the Senior Notes, if (i) the fair market value (or fair saleable value) of our assets is less than the amount required to pay our total existing debts and liabilities (including the probable liability on contingent liabilities) as they become absolute or matured or (ii) we were incurring debts beyond our ability to pay as such debts mature. Based upon financial and other information, we believe that we are solvent and will continue to be solvent after issuing the Senior Notes, will have sufficient capital for carrying on our business after such issuance and will be able to pay our debts as they mature. There can be no assurance, however, that a court passing on such standards would agree with Dynex Capital. There can also be no assurance as to what standard a court would apply in order to determine whether we were "insolvent" as of the date the Senior Notes were issued, or that, regardless of the method of valuation, a court would not determine that we were insolvent on that date or otherwise agree with us with respect to the above standards.

The Note Offer Is Subject to Certain Contingencies That May Prevent its Consummation

The consummation of the Note Offer is subject to certain conditions that are not within our control. For example, consummation of the Note Offer is conditioned upon approval of the Series D conversion and the recapitalization by the Preferred Stockholders. In addition, the Note Offer requires qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act. The consummation of the Note Offer is also conditioned on, among other things, there being no material adverse changes in our business, no pending or threatened action by a governmental body challenging the Note Offer and no general suspension of trading in the securities markets. We expect the Trust Indenture to qualify under the Trust Indenture Act.

Certain United States Federal Income Tax Risks Associated With The Note Offer

Tax Consequences of the Note Offer

The exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes by a tendering stockholder pursuant to the Note Offer will be a taxable event treated for United States federal income tax purposes as either

(1) a sale or exchange of the stockholder's shares or (2) a deemed distribution of property by Dynex Capital with respect to such shares.

Sale or exchange treatment will result if a tendering stockholder satisfies any of three tests under Section 302 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code") which measure reductions in a stockholder's overall equity interest. If treated as a sale or exchange, a stockholder should recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between (a) the fair market value of the Senior Notes received, and (b) the stockholder's adjusted tax basis of the shares exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer.

If none of the Section 302 tests is satisfied, then to the extent of Dynex Capital's current or accumulated "earnings and profits" (as determined for federal income tax purposes), a tendering stockholder will be treated as having received a dividend taxable as ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the Senior Notes received without reduction for the adjusted tax basis of the shares tendered and accepted by Dynex Capital pursuant to the Note Offer. Dynex Capital does not expect to report any accumulated or current "earnings and profits" through 2004. To the extent, if any, that the fair market value of the Senior Notes exceeds Dynex Capital's current and accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for federal income tax purposes), the excess will be treated first as a tax-free return of such stockholder's tax basis in the shares exchanged for Senior Notes and thereafter as capital gain. Corporate stockholders receiving a dividend must assess the applicability of the dividends-received deduction to the extent applicable.

Dynex Capital cannot predict whether or to what extent the Note Offer will be oversubscribed. If the Note Offer is oversubscribed, pro-ration of the tenders pursuant to the Note Offer will cause Dynex Capital to accept fewer shares than are tendered. Therefore, a stockholder can be given no assurance that a sufficient number of his shares will be exchanged for Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer to ensure that such exchange will satisfy one or more of the Section 302 tests and be treated as a sale, rather than as a dividend, for United States federal income tax purposes.

See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences—Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Tendering Stockholders; Characterization of the Exchange" for the circumstances in which a sale or exchange treatment would apply as well as other relevant rules.

Interest on Senior Notes - General

Depending upon a stockholder's particular circumstances, the tax consequences of holding Senior Notes may be less advantageous than the consequences of holding shares of Preferred Stock because, for example, interest payments on the Senior Notes will not be eligible for any dividends-received deduction that might otherwise be available to corporate stockholders.

Withholding for Non-United States Holders

The exchange agent may be required to withhold United States federal income tax on gross payments payable to a Non-United States Holder. However, the Non-United States Holder may qualify for a reduced rate of withholding or an exemption from withholding. See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences—Certain Federal Tax Consequences to Prospective Non-United States Holders of Senior Notes" for a more detailed discussion of applicable withholding rules.

We urge stockholders contemplating an exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer to consult their own tax advisors to determine the specific federal, state, local, foreign and other tax consequences of exchanges made by them pursuant to the Note Offer, as well as the specific federal, state, local, foreign and other tax consequences associated with the ownership of any Senior Notes receivable in connection with the Note Offer.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any cash proceeds from the Note Offer. All shares of Preferred Stock that are properly tendered and accepted by us will be retired and cancelled.

SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This summary historical and pro forma financial information should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements set forth in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, and the section of this Form 10-K captioned "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," which is incorporated herein by reference.

The following summary historical financial information is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, which are incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

	Year En	Year Ended December 31,		
	2003	2002		
Total interest income	\$ 152,215	\$ 182,139		
Total interest loan and related expense	(113,244)	(132,986)		
Provision for loan losses	(37,082)	(28,483)		
Net interest margin	1,889	20,670		
Impairment charges (1)	(16,355)	(18,477)		
Gain (loss) on sale of investments, net	1,555	(150)		
Trading losses	_	(3,307)		
Other income	436	1,397		
General and administrative expenses	(8,632)	(9,493)		
Net loss	(21,107)	(9,360)		
Net loss to common shareholders	\$ (14,260)	\$ (18,946)		
				
Net loss per common share:				
Basic and Diluted	\$ (1.31)	\$ (1.74)		
	D	ecember 31,		
	2003	2002		
Investments (2)	\$ 1,850,675	\$ 2,185,746		
Total assets	1,865,235	2,205,735		
Non-recourse securitization financing	1,679,830	1,980,702		
Repurchase agreement and senior notes	33,933	_		
Total liabilities	1,715,389	1,982,314		
Shareholders' equity	149,846	223,421		
Number of common shares outstanding	10,873,903	10,873,903		
Average number of common shares	10,873,903	10,873,871		
Book value per common share (3)	\$ 7.55	\$ 8.57		

⁽¹⁾ Impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 include several adjustments related largely to non-recurring items. See Footnote 14 to the consolidated financial statements included in the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

- (2) Investments classified as available for sale are shown at fair value.
- (3) Inclusive of the liquidation preference on our preferred stock.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 gives pro forma effect to the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, assuming (1) that the minimum 17.5% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes aggregating \$10,000,000 at the prices offered herein, (2) alternatively, that the maximum 70% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes aggregating \$40,000,000 at the prices offered herein, and (3) as if no shares are tendered for Senior Notes, so that all of the shares of each series are converted into shares of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock, in each case, as if the recapitalization had occurred on December 31, 2003. The unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2003 gives pro forma effect to the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, assuming (1) that the minimum 17.5% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes aggregating \$10,000,000 at the prices offered herein, (2) alternatively, that the maximum 70% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes aggregating \$40,000,000 at the prices offered herein, and (3) as if no shares are tendered for Senior Notes, so that all of the shares of each series are converted into shares of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock, in each case, as if the recapitalization were effective as of January 1, 2003, the beginning of Dynex Capital's 2003 fiscal year. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2003 also assumes that Dynex Capital was free to undertake the recapitalization as of January 1, 2003 without restriction, and further assumes that no repayments of principal on the new Senior Notes occurs during the pro forma periods presented. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2003 assumes the repayment of the Senior Notes due 2005 which were issued in February 2003.

The pro forma adjustments are based upon available information and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The summary unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what our results would have been if the recapitalization actually had occurred as of the dates indicated or of what our future operating results will be.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31, 2003

(amounts in thousands except share data)

	Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma
		17.5 (Minir		70 (Maxi		0° (No	
Securitized finance							
receivables	\$ 1,774,193	\$ —	\$ 1,774,193	\$ —	\$ 1,774,193	_	\$ 1,774,193
Other investments,							
securities and other loans	76,482	_	76,482	_	76,482	_	76,482
Cash and other assets	14,560	$(10,451)^{(1)}$	4,109	$(10,451)^{(1)}$	4,109	$(10,451)^{(1)}$	4,109
	\$ 1,865,235	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784
Non-recourse securitization financing	\$ 1,679,830	\$ —	\$ 1,679,830	\$ —	\$ 1,679,830	\$ —	\$ 1,679,830
Repurchase agreements	23,884	_	23,884	_	23,884	_	23,884
Senior notes	10,049	$(49)^{(2)}$	10,000	29,951(2)	40,000	$(10,049)^{(2)}$	_
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	1,626	_	1,626	_	1,626	_	1,626
	1,715,389	(49)	1,715,340	29,951	1,745,340	(10,049)	1,705,340
Shareholders' equity	149,846	$(10,402)^{(3)}$	139,444	$(40,402)^{(3)}$	109,444	$(402)^{(3)}$	149,444
	\$ 1,865,235	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784	\$ (10,451)	\$ 1,854,784

⁽¹⁾ Reflects cash used for repayment in full of Senior Notes due February 2005 in conjunction with the recapitalization and to pay issuance costs incurred in connection with the recapitalization.

⁽²⁾ Issuance of new Senior Notes for Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to the recapitalization less February 2005 Senior Notes redeemed.

⁽³⁾ Aggregate purchase price for Preferred Stock tendered and subsequently retired.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2003

(amounts in thousands except share data)

	Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma
		17.5% (Minimum)		70% (Maximum)		0% (None)	
Interest income:							
Securitized finance							
receivables	\$ 147,297	\$ —	\$ 147,297	\$ —	\$ 147,297	\$ —	\$ 147,297
Other investments,							
securities and other loans	4,918	$(87)^{(1)}$	4,831	$(87)^{(1)}$	4,831	$(87)^{(1)}$	4,831
	152,215	(87)	152,128	(87)	152,128	(87)	152,128
	132,213	(67)	132,126	(67)	132,126	(67)	132,126
Interest expense:							
Non-recourse securitization financing	111,056	_	111,056	_	111,056	_	111,056
Senior notes and other	2,188	$(892)^{(2)}$	1,296	1,958(2)	4,146	$(1,842)^{(2)}$	346
	113,244	(892)	112,352	1,958	115,202	(1,842)	111,402
	<u>-</u>		<u></u>				
Net interest margin before provision for loan							
losses	38,971	805	39,776	(2,045)	36,926	1,755	40,726
Provision for loan losses	(37,082)	_	(37,082)	_	(37,082)	_	(37,082)
Net interest margin	1,889	805	2,694	(2,045)	(156)	1,755	3,644
Impairment charges	(16,355)	_	(16,355)	(2,013)	(16,355)		(16,355)
Gain (loss) on sale of	(,)		(,)		(==,===)		(10,000)
investments, net	1,555	_	1,555	_	1,555	_	1,555
Other income	436	_	436	_	436	_	436
General and administrative expenses	(8,632)	_	(8,632)	_	(8,632)	_	(8,632)
							
Net (loss) income	(21,107)	805	(20,302)	(2,045)	(23,152)	1,755	(19,352)
Preferred stock benefits							
(charges)	6,847	288(3)	7,135	3,138(3)	9,985	(662)(3)	6,185
Net loss to common							
shareholders	\$ (14,260)	\$ 1,093	\$ (13,167)	\$ 1,093	\$ (13,167)	\$ 1,093	\$ (13,167)
Loss per common share:							
Basic and Diluted	\$ (1.31)		\$ (1.10)		\$ (1.17)		\$ (1.08)

⁽¹⁾ Interest income for year ended December 31, 2003 earned on the cash used to retire the 2005 Senior Notes.

⁽²⁾ Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 for the new Senior Notes issued for Preferred Stock tendered less interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 for the 2005 Senior Notes assumed repaid.

Net reduction for dividend charges for Series A, Series B, and Series C Preferred Stock versus new Series D Preferred Stock.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Any statements in this offering circular and the documents incorporated by reference in and attached to this offering circular about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts and are forward-looking statements. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as "believe," "will likely result," "expect," "will continue," "anticipate," "estimate," "intend," "plan," "projection," "would" and "outlook." Accordingly, these statements involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in them. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout this offering circular. Such statements may include, but not be limited to:

- estimates of the value of our Preferred Stock,
- · predictions as to the future liquidity of the new Senior Notes or Series D Preferred Stock,
- · expectations as to future revenues and other results of operations, capital expenditures, plans for future operations, financing needs or plans,
- plans relating to the pursuit of strategic business alternatives,
- our ability to service our debt obligations, and
- plans relating to our products or services, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing.

Forward looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the forward looking statements. Statements in this offering circular describe factors, among others, that could contribute to or cause such differences. You should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

THE NOTE OFFER

General

We invite our stockholders to tender shares of our Preferred Stock to us under the terms set forth below. Tendering holders of Preferred Stock will not receive any dividends with respect to their shares, including unpaid dividends accumulated to date, which will be cancelled. Shares of Preferred Stock must be tendered on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Note Offer and in the related letters of transmittal included herewith.

We are offering to acquire up to 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

The Note Offer

We are offering to exchange:

• \$27.84 in principal amount of our Senior Notes for each share of Series A Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$9,620,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series A Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in

the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;

- \$28.42 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series B Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$13,693,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series B Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer for Senior Notes and up to an aggregate maximum of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock: and
- \$34.80 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series C Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$16,687,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series C Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer for Senior Notes and up to an aggregate maximum of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock;

Under the Note Offer, the per share principal amount to be received for each share of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer is equal to 116% of the original issue price of such share of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series you tender (determined by multiplying the aggregate issue price of each share of your Preferred Stock by 116%) is not an even multiple of \$1,000, you will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes."

The number of shares being tendered for in the Note Offer is equal to approximately 70% of the shares of each series of our Preferred Stock currently outstanding.

The Note Offer for the Preferred Stock provides holders of Preferred Stock who elect to tender a premium over the bid prices for the Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, and provides greater liquidity for the holders of our Preferred Stock at such price levels. Under the Note Offer, the exchange price for the Series A Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.1% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004, the exchange price for the Series B Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.7% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004, and the exchange price for the Series C Preferred Stock represented a premium of 1.5% above the bid price as of January 7, 2004.

The Note Offer is conditioned upon a minimum tender of shares of Preferred Stock that will result in the issuance of at least \$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. The Note Offer is also conditioned on completion of the Series D conversion and other general conditions, including approval by the Preferred Stockholders of the Series D Conversion and completion of the recapitalization described in the proxy statement accompanying this offering circular. See "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer."

Stockholders tendering Preferred Stock will not be obligated to pay brokerage commissions, solicitation fees, or, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, stock transfer taxes on the acceptance of shares of Preferred Stock by Dynex Capital. However, any tendering stockholder or other payee that is bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal who fails to complete fully and sign the box captioned "Substitute Form W-9" included in the letter of transmittal may be subject to a required federal backup withholding tax of 28% of the gross proceeds paid to the stockholder or other payee pursuant to the Note Offer. See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences." Dynex Capital will pay all charges and expenses of the exchange agent and the information agent incurred in connection with the Note Offer.

Tendering holders of Preferred Stock will not receive any dividends with respect to such shares, including unpaid dividends accumulated to date, which will be cancelled. We will only consummate the

Note Offer if the Series D conversion is also consummated. This means that following the Note Offer, any shares of Preferred Stock not tendered in the Note Offer will be exchanged for shares of new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock of Dynex Capital. There can be no assurance that holders that do not tender their shares will receive any dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock in the future.

Tenders pursuant to the Note Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to April 30, 2004, at 12:01 a.m., New York City time, the expiration time of the Note Offer (including any extensions) ("Expiration Time"), and, if not yet accepted for payment, after May 31, 2004.

Our board of directors has approved the making of the Note Offer. You must, however, make your own decision whether to tender shares and, if so, how many shares to tender. Neither we nor our board of directors makes any recommendation to you with respect to the Note Offer, and no person has been authorized by us or our board of directors to make any such recommendation.

You should evaluate carefully all of the information contained or referred to in this offering circular and make your own decision whether to tender shares pursuant to the Note Offer. We urge you to consult a tax advisor concerning any federal, state, local or foreign tax consequences of a sale of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved the Note Offer, passed upon the merits or fairness of the Note Offer, or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this offering circular. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Any stockholder of record desiring to tender all or any portion of his, her or its shares must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of the DTC, because the Senior Notes issued pursuant to this Note Offer will be issued in book-entry form only. A stockholder having shares registered in the name of a broker or a dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee (each, a "nominee") must contact that nominee if such stockholder desires to tender such shares. Nominees may also tender shares in accordance with the Automated Tender Offer Program procedures of The Depository Trust Company. See "The Note Offer—How to Tender—Tender Procedure for Stockholders of Record" and "—Tender Procedure for Nominees." Stockholders that desire to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer but that cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) on or prior to the Expiration Date should tender their shares by following the procedures for guaranteed delivery described in "The Note Offer – How to Tender."

The Series A Preferred Stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPP." Dynex Capital announced its intention to make the Note Offer after the close of the Nasdaq National Market on January 8, 2004. As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to such announcement), the closing per share sales price of the Series A Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$28.50, and the closing per share bid price was \$26.50. The Series B Preferred Stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPO." As of January 7, 2004, the closing per share sales price of the Series B Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$28.00, and the closing per share bid price was \$26.90. The Series C Preferred Stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPN." As of January 7, 2004, the closing per share sales price of the Series C Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$34.30, and the closing per share bid price was \$34.30. We urge stockholders to obtain current market quotations for the shares of Preferred Stock. See "Price Range of Preferred Stock."

Dynex Capital, Inc. was incorporated on December 18, 1987 in Virginia and commenced operations in February 1988. We are a financial services company that invests in loans and securities consisting of or secured by, principally single family mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans, manufactured housing installment loans and delinquent property tax receivables. Currently, our primary focus is on maximizing cash flows from our investment portfolio, opportunistically calling (redeeming) securities pursuant to "clean-up" calls if the underlying collateral has value for us and securing third-party servicing contracts to leverage our delinquent property tax receivables platform. During 2002 and 2003, we incurred losses before any charges or benefits on our Preferred Stock of approximately \$21,107,000 and \$9,360,000, respectively. See "Business."

Stockholders who tender for Senior Notes will receive Senior Notes with the following rights compared to those associated with the ownership of existing Preferred Stock.

Preferred Stock

Equity; specified liquidation preference senior to that of Common Stock, but junior to that of debtholders and creditors, plus right to share in future capital appreciation, if any;

No interest payable on Preferred Stock; however, holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative cash dividends prior to any payment of dividends on our common stock; we are in arrears in the payment of dividends to holders of our Preferred Stock;

Right to convert your shares to Common Stock;

Voting rights on certain matters submitted to stockholders; and

Quoted on the Nasdaq National Market and are subject to an established trading market, although the public float is relatively low and the historic trading activity has been thin.

Senior Notes

Debt; right to receive a specified principal amount with a claim on our assets senior to holders of equity, plus the right to receive interest, but no right to capital appreciation;

Interest will accrue commencing on the Closing Date and will be payable semiannually at a rate of 9.50% per annum; the entire principal amount will be due at maturity:

No right of conversion;

No voting rights; and

We intend to apply to list the Senior Notes for trading on the New York Stock Exchange; however, even if the Senior Notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange there is no assurance that a liquid trading market in the Senior Notes will develop.

The foregoing table is set forth for comparative purposes only and does not take into account all factors relating to a comparison of the shares of Preferred Stock to the Senior Notes, nor does it take into account any factors relating to the tax consequences of accepting the Note Offer. For a more complete description of the Senior Notes and the Preferred Stock, see "Description of Senior Notes" and "Description of Capital Stock." See also "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences."

Proration if Shares of Series of Preferred Stock Tendered Exceed Maximum; Limitations on Senior Notes Consideration

We will accept up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. This represents approximately 70% of the shares of each series of our Preferred Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003. If the number of shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time is less than or equal to an aggregate of 345,579 shares in the case

of Series A Preferred Stock, less than or equal to an aggregate of 481,819 shares in the case of Series B Preferred Stock, or less than or equal to an aggregate of 479,512 shares in the case of Series C Preferred Stock (or such greater number of shares as Dynex Capital may elect to accept in accordance with the Note Offer), Dynex Capital will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, accept all shares of such series so tendered.

If more shares of any series of Preferred Stock are tendered than we are offering to acquire, we will accept shares of such series that are validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer on a pro-rata basis, disregarding fractions that arise as a result of such pro-rationing, according to the number of shares of such series tendered by each holder of such series of Preferred Stock prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer. Thus, with respect to each oversubscribed series of Preferred Stock, we will accept from each holder tendering shares of such series that number of shares of such series equal to the total number of shares of such series tendered by such tendering holder multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of shares of such series sought by us in the Note Offer and the denominator of which is the total number of shares of such series tendered by all tendering holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we reserve the right, in our sole discretion, to elect to purchase any and all of the excess shares tendered; and so long as the excess number accepted by us does not exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding shares of such series of Preferred Stock, there will be no extension of the Note Offer period and no further notice to the stockholders will be required or given. If we elect to accept excess tendered shares of a series, but less than all of the tendered shares of a series, then the shares of such series tendered shall be accepted on a pro-rata basis, as described above.

As described under "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences," the number of shares of a series that Dynex Capital will accept from a stockholder pursuant to the Note Offer may affect the United States federal income tax consequences to the tendering stockholder and, therefore may be relevant to a stockholder's decision whether or not to tender shares.

Executive Officer and Director Participation

Certain members of the board of directors have informed us that they will participate in the Note Offer. The sole executive officer of Dynex Capital does not own any Preferred Stock.

Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments

The Note Offer will terminate at 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004 unless extended by Dynex Capital in its sole discretion. During any extension of the Note Offer, all shares of Preferred Stock previously tendered and not yet exchanged will remain subject to the Note Offer (subject to withdrawal rights specified herein) and may be accepted for exchange by Dynex Capital. The later of 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004, or the latest time and date to which the Note Offer may be extended by Dynex Capital, is referred to herein as the "Expiration Time." Dynex Capital expressly reserves the right, at any time or from time to time, to extend the period of time for which the Note Offer is to remain open by giving oral or written notice to the exchange agent of such extension prior to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the business day after the previously scheduled Expiration Time. We will issue a press release by 9:00 a.m., New York City time, no later than the business day after the previously scheduled Expiration Time if we decide to extend the Note Offer.

Dynex Capital expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time to time, and regardless of whether or not any of the events set forth herein under "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer" shall have occurred or shall be deemed by Dynex Capital to have occurred, to extend the period of time during which the Note Offer is open and thereby delay acceptance for payment of, and payment for, and issuance of Senior Notes for, any shares by giving oral or written notice of such extension to the exchange agent and making a public announcement thereof. Dynex Capital also expressly reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to terminate the Note Offer and not accept for payment or pay for, or issue Senior Notes for, any shares not previously accepted for payment or paid for, or with respect to which Senior Notes were issued or, subject to applicable law, to postpone payment for shares upon the occurrence of any of the conditions specified herein under "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer" by giving oral or written notice of such termination or postponement to the exchange agent and making a public announcement thereof. Dynex Capital's reservation of the right to delay payment for shares which it has accepted for payment is limited by Rule 13e-4(f)(5) promulgated under the Exchange Act, which requires that Dynex Capital must pay the consideration offered or return the shares tendered promptly after termination or withdrawal of the Note Offer.

Subject to compliance with applicable law, Dynex Capital further reserves the right, in its sole discretion, and regardless of whether any of the events set forth herein under "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer" shall have occurred or shall be deemed by Dynex Capital to have occurred, to amend the Note Offer in any respect (including, without limitation, by decreasing or increasing the consideration offered in the Note Offer to holders of shares or by decreasing or increasing the number of shares being sought in the Note Offer). Amendments to the Note Offer may be made at any time and from time to time by public announcement thereof. In the case of an extension, such announcement will be issued no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the last previously scheduled or announced Expiration Time. Any material change to the terms of the Note Offer will be disseminated promptly to stockholders in a manner reasonably designed to inform stockholders of such change. Without limiting the manner in which Dynex Capital may choose to inform stockholders, except as required by applicable law, Dynex Capital shall have no obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such change other than by making a release to the Dow Jones News Service. If Dynex Capital materially changes the terms of the Note Offer or the information concerning the Note Offer, or if it waives a material condition of the Note Offer, Dynex Capital will extend the Note Offer to the extent required by Rules 13e-4(d)(2) and 13e-4(e) (3) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Under these rules, the minimum period during which an offer must remain open following material changes in the terms of the Note Offer or information concerning the Note Offer will depend on the facts and circumstances, including the relative materiality of such terms or information. If (i) Dynex Capital increases or decreases the price to be paid for shares, increases or decreases the number of shares being sought in the Note Offer or, in the event of an increase in the number of shares being sought, such increase exceeds 2% of the number of outstanding shares of a series of Preferred Stock, and (ii) the Note Offer is scheduled to expire at any time earlier than the expiration of a period ending on the tenth business day from, and including, the date that such notice of an increase or decrease is first published, sent or given in the manner specified herein, the Note Offer will be extended until the expiration of such period of ten business days. For the purposes of the Note Offer, a "business day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or Federal holiday and consists of the time period from 12:01 a.m. through 12:00 Midnight, New York City time.

How to Tender

A stockholder whose shares are registered in the name of a nominee must contact that nominee for information on how to tender shares. All other stockholders must comply with the procedures set forth below. A tender of Preferred Stock (and Dynex Capital's subsequent acceptance of a tender pursuant to the procedures set forth below) will constitute a binding agreement between the tendering stockholder and Dynex Capital in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein and in the letter of transmittal set forth in Exhibit (a)(1)(B).

Tender Procedure for Stockholders of Record. The Senior Notes will be issued solely in global form and be registered in the name of Cede & Co., Inc., the nominee of DTC. Consequently, stockholders who wish to tender any shares of the Preferred Stock for Senior Notes must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of DTC in order to be eligible to receive the Senior Notes. The DTC participant will then tender the shares on behalf of the stockholder using the procedures set forth below in "How to Tender-Tender Procedure for Nominees." Stockholders that desire to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer but that cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) on or prior to the Expiration Date should tender their shares by following the procedures for guaranteed delivery described in "The Note Offer – How to Tender."

Tender Procedure for Nominees. The exchange agent will establish an account with respect to the shares of each series subject to this Note Offer, for purposes of the Note Offer, at The Depository Trust Company (the "Book-Entry Transfer Facility") within two business days after the date of this Note Offer. Any nominee that is a participant in the Book-Entry Transfer Facility's system may tender shares in accordance with the Book-Entry Transfer Facility's Automated Tender Offer Program ("ATOP") to the extent it is available to participants for the shares they wish to tender by making book-entry delivery of the shares by causing the Book-Entry Transfer Facility to transfer shares into the exchange agent's account in accordance with the Book-Entry Transfer Facility's procedures for transfer. Timely book-entry delivery requires receipt by the exchange agent of a confirmation (a "Book-Entry Confirmation") at or prior to the Expiration Time. Although delivery of the Preferred Stock may be effected through book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC, an Agent's Message in connection with the book-entry transfer together with any other documents required by the letter of transmittal, must, in any case, be transmitted to and received by the exchange agent at or prior to the Expiration Time to receive consideration for the Preferred Stock. Delivery of a document to DTC does not constitute delivery to the exchange agent. In order to tender shares by means of ATOP, the procedures for ATOP delivery must be duly and timely completed prior to the Expiration Time. Holders desiring to tender Preferred Stock at the Expiration Time must allow sufficient time for completion of the book-entry transfer ATOP procedures during normal business hours of DTC on that date.

The term "Agent's Message" means a message transmitted by DTC to, and received by, the exchange agent and forming a part of the Book-Entry Confirmation, which states that:

- DTC has received an express acknowledgement from each participant in DTC tendering the Preferred Stock;
- stockholders have received the letter of transmittal and agree to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal; and
- Dynex Capital may enforce the terms of the letter of transmittal against the stockholder.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Note Offer, payment for shares of Preferred Stock tendered and accepted for payment pursuant to the Note Offer will, in all cases, be made only after receipt by the exchange agent of Book-Entry Confirmation, including by means of an Agent's Message, of the transfer of Preferred Stock into the exchange agent's account at DTC as described above, together with any other documents required by the letter of transmittal or ATOP.

Issuance of Senior Notes. The Senior Notes issued pursuant to this Note Offer will be issued in book-entry form only; therefore, physical certificates representing the Senior Notes will not be issued as a result of the exchange offer. As described in "How to Tender – Tender Procedure for Stockholders of Record" set forth above, stockholders who wish to tender their Preferred Stock for Senior Notes must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial

institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book-entry and transfer system of DTC in order to be eligible to receive the Senior Notes. Rather than issuing physical certificates, tendering stockholders will receive through their nominee accounts, credit for the number of book-entry Senior Notes into which their tendered shares of Preferred Stock are exchanged.

The delivery of all documents required for tendering shares of Preferred Stock is at the election and risk of the tendering stockholder and its nominee.

<u>Guaranteed Delivery.</u> If a stockholder desires to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer and the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) cannot be completed on or prior to the Expiration Time, the holder may nevertheless tender shares of Preferred Stock with the effect that the tender will be deemed to have been received on or prior to the Expiration Time if the following conditions are satisfied:

- prior to the Expiration Time, the Exchange Agent receives through the DTC ATOP system a notice setting forth the name(s) and address(es) of the holder(s) and the number and series of shares being tendered, and stating that the tender is being made thereby and guaranteeing that the Exchange Agent will receive within three business days after the date of the notice, an Agent's Message and confirmation of book-entry transfer of the Preferred Stock into the Exchange Agent's account with DTC, and any other documents required by the letter of transmittal; and
- within three business days after the date of the DTC ATOP notice, the Exchange Agent receives a Book-Entry Confirmation of the transfer of the Preferred Stock into the Exchange Agent's account at DTC as described above and a properly transmitted Agent's Message.

The exchange consideration for shares of Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures will be the same as that for shares of Preferred Stock tendered before the Expiration Time. In the event that the Note Offer is oversubscribed and shares of Preferred Stock are tendered pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures, the determination of the final proration will be delayed until after the settlement of tenders made by guaranteed delivery procedures.

Return of Tendered and Unaccepted Shares of Preferred Stock. If any tendered shares of Preferred Stock are not accepted, or if fewer than all shares evidenced by a stockholder's certificates are tendered, the shares will be credited to the appropriate account maintained by the tendering stockholder at the Book-Entry Transfer Facility without expense to the stockholder.

Determination of Validity; Rejection of Shares of Preferred Stock; Waiver of Defects; No Obligation to Give Notice of Defects. All questions as to the number of shares of Preferred Stock to be accepted and the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance for payment of any tender of shares will be determined by Dynex Capital, in its sole discretion, and its determination shall be final and binding on all parties. Dynex Capital reserves the absolute right to reject any or all tenders of any shares that it determines are not in proper form or the acceptance for payment of or payment for which may, in the opinion of Dynex Capital's counsel, be unlawful. Dynex Capital also reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions of the Note Offer or any defect or irregularity in any tender with respect to any particular shares or any particular stockholder and Dynex Capital's interpretation of the terms of the Note Offer will be final and binding on all parties. No tender of shares will be deemed to have been properly made until all defects or irregularities have been cured by the tendering stockholder or waived by Dynex Capital. None of Dynex Capital, the exchange agent, the information agent or any other person will be obligated to give notice of any defects or irregularities in tenders, nor will any of them incur any liability for failure to give any notice.

Tendering Stockholder's Representation and Warranty; Dynex Capital Acceptance Constitutes an Agreement. A tender of shares pursuant to any of the procedures described above will constitute the

tendering stockholder's acceptance of the terms and conditions of the Note Offer, as well as the tendering stockholder's representation and warranty to Dynex Capital that (a) the stockholder has a net long position in the shares of the series of Preferred Stock tendered or equivalent securities at least equal to the number of shares tendered, within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act and (b) the tender of shares complies with Rule 14e-4. It is a violation of Rule 14e-4 for a person, directly or indirectly, to tender shares for that person's own account unless, at the time of tender and at the end of the proration period (including any extensions thereof), the person so tendering (i) has a net long position equal to or greater than the amount of (x) shares of the series of Preferred Stock tendered or (y) other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for the shares of the series tendered and will acquire the shares of the series of Preferred Stock for tender by conversion, exchange or exercise and (ii) will deliver or cause to be delivered the shares of the series tendered in accordance with the terms of the Note Offer. Rule 14e-4 provides a similar restriction applicable to the tender or guarantee of a tender on behalf of another person. Dynex Capital's acceptance for payment of shares tendered pursuant to the Note Offer will constitute a binding agreement between the tendering stockholder and Dynex Capital upon the terms and conditions of the Note Offer.

Lost or Destroyed Certificates. Stockholders whose certificates for part or all of their shares have been lost, stolen, misplaced or destroyed may contact the exchange agent at (800) 829-8432, for instructions as to the documents which will be required to be submitted in order to receive certificate(s) representing the shares. A bond may be required to be posted by the stockholder to secure against the risk that the certificates may be subsequently recirculated. Stockholders are urged to contact the exchange agent immediately in order to permit timely processing of this documentation and to determine if the posting of a bond is required.

All materials related to a stockholder's tender of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer must be delivered to the stockholder's nominee for tendering in accordance with the instructions set forth in "How to Tender – Tender Procedure for Nominees" as set forth above. Stockholders should not send documents related to the Note Offer to Dynex Capital. Any documents delivered to Dynex Capital will not be forwarded to the exchange agent and therefore will not be deemed to be properly tendered.

Withdrawal Rights

Except as otherwise provided in this section, tenders made pursuant to the Note Offer are irrevocable. Shares of Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to this Note Offer may be withdrawn:

- 1. at any time prior to the Expiration Time; or
- 2. if not yet accepted for payment, after May 31, 2004.

For a withdrawal to be effective, stockholders must contact the broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of DTC through which the stockholder tendered its shares of Series A Preferred Stock and request the DTC participating institution to send an ATOP notice of withdrawal so that it is received by the Exchange Agent before the Expiration Time. The notice of withdrawal must specify the name of the person that tendered the shares to be withdrawn, the number of shares tendered, the number of shares to be withdrawn and the name and the number of the account at the Book-Entry Transfer Facility to be credited with the withdrawn shares and must otherwise comply with the Book-Entry Transfer Facility's procedures.

All questions as to the form and validity (including the time of receipt) of notices of withdrawal will be determined by Dynex Capital in its sole discretion, and its determination shall be final and binding on all parties. None of Dynex Capital, the information agent or the exchange agent or any other person is

or will be obligated to give notice of any defects or irregularities in any notice of withdrawal, and none of them will incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

Withdrawals may not be rescinded, and shares properly withdrawn shall not be deemed to be duly tendered for purposes of the Note Offer. Withdrawn shares, however, may be re-tendered before the Expiration Time by again following the procedures described under "The Note Offer—How to Tender."

If Dynex Capital extends the Note Offer, is delayed in its purchase of Preferred Stock or is unable to accept shares pursuant to the Note Offer for any reason, then, without prejudice to Dynex Capital rights under the Note Offer, the exchange agent may, subject to applicable law, retain tendered shares on behalf of Dynex Capital, and such shares may not be withdrawn except to the extent tendering stockholders are entitled to withdrawal rights as described herein.

Acceptance of Shares of Preferred Stock for Exchange; Delivery of Senior Notes to be Exchanged

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, promptly following the Expiration Time, Dynex Capital will accept for exchange shares properly tendered prior to the Expiration Time. Dynex Capital shall issue the Senior Notes and pay cash for excess amounts for shares of Preferred Stock that are properly tendered and not properly withdrawn (subject to the proration provisions and the other terms and conditions of the Note Offer and any required prorationing) only when, as and if it gives oral or written notice to the exchange agent of its acceptance of shares for exchange pursuant to the Note Offer. That notice, subject to the provisions of the Note Offer, may be given at any time after the Expiration Time.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, promptly following the Expiration Time, Dynex Capital will accept up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock properly tendered or such lesser number of shares as are properly tendered and not properly withdrawn.

Dynex Capital will pay for shares purchased pursuant to the Note Offer by depositing cash in lieu of fractional Senior Notes with the exchange agent, which will act as agent for the tendering stockholders for the purpose of receiving payment from Dynex Capital and transmitting any payment to the tendering stockholders. The Senior Notes will be issued to DTC in the name of its nominee, Cede & Co., and the accounts of its participants appropriately credited. Issuance of the Senior Notes is expected to occur no later than the Closing Date. Certificates for all tendered shares not purchased, including shares not purchased due to proration, will be credited after the Expiration Time or termination of the Note Offer to the account maintained with the Book-Entry Transfer Facility by the participant who so delivered the shares without expense to the tendering stockholder. In addition, if certain events occur, Dynex Capital may not be obligated to purchase any shares in the Note Offer. See "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer."

Dynex Capital will pay all stock transfer taxes, if any, payable on the transfer to it of shares acquired pursuant to the Note Offer by stockholders of record. However, if the Senior Notes are to be registered in the name of any person other than the stockholder of record, or if tendered shares are registered in the name of any person other than the person bound by the respective letter of transmittal, the amount of any stock transfer taxes (whether imposed on the stockholder of record or such other person) payable on account of the transfer to such person will be deducted from the exchange price (i.e., the principal amount of the Senior Notes issued in the Note Offer), unless satisfactory evidence of the payment of such taxes or exemption therefrom is submitted.

Any tendering stockholder of record (or other payee) who fails to complete fully and sign the "Substitute Form W-9" included as part of the respective letter of transmittal may be subject to required back-up federal income tax withholding of 28% of the gross proceeds paid to such

stockholder or other payee pursuant to the Note Offer. See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences."

Denominations

The Senior Notes will be issued only in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof, and we will issue cash in lieu of issuing Senior Notes in denominations less than \$1.000.

Conditions to the Note Offer

We will not complete the Note Offer unless the following conditions are satisfied:

- The holders of the Preferred Stock tender shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer that will result in the issuance of at least \$10 million in principal amount of Senior Notes.
- The Series D conversion is approved by the holders of each series of Preferred Stock, which requires the approval of the holders of two-thirds of the shares of each series of Preferred Stock
- The issuance of additional shares of Common Stock in conjunction with the Series D conversion and the potential future conversion of Series D Preferred Stock into additional indebtedness of Dynex Capital is approved by a majority of the holders of the Common Stock present at a meeting of the holders of the Common Stock at which a quorum is present.
- The Indenture under which the Senior Notes will be issued is qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

In addition, the completion of the Note Offer is subject to the conditions applicable to the completion of the Series D conversion, as described in the proxy statement accompanying this offering circular. These conditions include the occurrence of any of the following events that, in Dynex's judgment make it inadvisable to proceed with the Note Offer or the Series D conversion:

(a) there shall have been threatened, instituted or pending any action or proceeding by any government or governmental, regulatory or administrative agency, authority or tribunal or any other person, domestic or foreign, before any court, authority, agency or tribunal that directly or indirectly (i) challenges the making of the Note Offer or the completion of the Series D conversion, the acquisition of some or all of the shares pursuant to the Note Offer or otherwise relates in any manner to the Note Offer or the completion of the Series D conversion, or (ii) in Dynex Capital's reasonable judgment, could (A) materially and adversely affect the business, condition (financial or otherwise), assets, income, operations or prospects of Dynex Capital and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or otherwise materially impair in any way the contemplated future conduct of the business of Dynex Capital or any of its subsidiaries or materially impair the contemplated benefits of the Note Offer or Series D conversion to Dynex Capital, (B) make the acceptance for payment of, or payment for, some or all of the tendered shares illegal or otherwise restrict or prohibit consummation of the Note Offer or Series D conversion or (C) delay or restrict the ability of Dynex Capital, or render Dynex Capital unable, to accept for payment or pay for or issue Senior Notes for some or all of the tendered shares or to complete the Series D conversion;

(b) there shall have been any action threatened, pending or taken, or approval withheld, or any statute, rule, regulation, judgment, order or injunction threatened, proposed, sought, promulgated, enacted, entered, amended, enforced or deemed to be applicable to the Note Offer, the Series D conversion or Dynex Capital or any of its subsidiaries, by any court or any authority, agency or

tribunal that, in Dynex Capital's reasonable judgment, would or might directly or indirectly result in any of the consequences referred to in clauses (i) or (ii) of paragraph (a) above:

- (c) there shall have occurred (i) any general suspension of trading in, or limitation on prices for, securities on any national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market, (ii) the declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in the United States, (iii) the commencement of a war, armed hostilities or other international or national calamity directly or indirectly involving the United States, (iv) any limitation (whether or not mandatory) by any government or governmental, regulatory or administrative agency, authority or tribunal on, or any event that, in Dynex Capital's reasonable judgment, might affect, the extension of credit by banks or other lending institutions in the United States, (v) any significant decrease in the market price of the Preferred Stock or any change in the general political, market, economic or financial conditions in the United States or abroad that could, in the reasonable judgment of Dynex Capital, have a material adverse effect on Dynex Capital's business, condition (financial or otherwise), assets, income, operations or prospects or the trading in the Preferred Stock, (vi) in the case of any of the foregoing existing at the time of the commencement of the Note Offer, a material acceleration or worsening thereof, or (vii) any decline in either the Dow Jones Industrial Average or the Standard and Poor's Index of 500 Industrial Companies by an amount in excess of 10% measured from the close of business on January 8, 2004;
- (d) a tender or exchange offer for any or all of the shares of any class of capital stock of Dynex Capital (other than the Note Offer), or any merger, business combination or other similar transaction with or involving Dynex Capital or any subsidiary, shall have been proposed, announced or made by any person;
- (e) (i) any person, entity or "group" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) shall have acquired or proposed to acquire beneficial ownership of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of any class of capital stock (other than any such person, entity or group who has a Schedule 13G on file with the SEC as of January 8, 2004 relating to share ownership in Dynex Capital and does not acquire beneficial ownership of an additional 2% or more of any class of capital stock or effect a change in filing status to Schedule 13D or (ii) any person, entity or group shall have filed a Notification and Report Form under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, or shall have made a public announcement reflecting an intent to acquire Dynex Capital or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective assets or securities otherwise than in connection with a transaction authorized by the board;
- (f) any change or changes shall have occurred in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), assets, income, operations, prospects or stock ownership of Dynex Capital or its subsidiaries that, in Dynex Capital's reasonable judgment, is or may be material to Dynex Capital or its subsidiaries;
 - (g) Dynex Capital determines that it is unable to secure the listing of the Senior Notes and/or the Series D Preferred Stock on an appropriate exchange or market; or
- (h) Dynex Capital determines that the consummation of the Note Offer or the Series D conversion may adversely affect Dynex Capital's ability to qualify as a real estate investment trust.

Any determination by Dynex Capital concerning any events described in this section and any related judgment or decision by Dynex Capital regarding the inadvisability of proceeding with the Note Offer or Series D conversion shall be final and binding upon all parties. The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Dynex Capital and may be asserted by Dynex Capital in circumstances giving rise to those conditions or may be waived by Dynex Capital in whole or in part. Dynex Capital's failure at any time to exercise any of the foregoing shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right, and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right that may be asserted at any time and from time to time until the expiration or termination of the Note Offer. However, unless sooner terminated, the Note Offer will

remain open until all conditions have been satisfied or waived. Moreover, Dynex Capital cannot waive the conditions requiring the requisite approvals of the holders of Preferred Stock and Common Stock.

Source and Amount of Funds

The cash to be paid in connection with this Note Offer for validly tendered shares of Preferred Stock, as well as for the costs and expenses of this Note Offer, will come from cash on hand, or funds generated in the ordinary course of business. At December 31, 2003, our cash and cash equivalents were approximately \$7.4 million. We expect to pay the interest and repay the principal on the Senior Notes from cash flow generated by our investment portfolio. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our investment portfolio produced a cash flow of approximately \$57.1 million.

Exchange Agent

The name and address of the exchange agent are set forth on the back cover of this offering circular.

Information Agent

The name and address of the information agent are set forth on the back cover of this offering circular.

Letters of transmittal and certificates representing the shares of Preferred Stock tendered should not be sent to the information agent. See "The Note Offer—How to Tender."

Fees and Expenses

The estimated fees and expenses payable by Dynex Capital in connection with the Note Offer and the Series D conversion are set forth in the table below:

Legal, Accounting and Other Professional Fees	\$ 280,000
Printing and Mailing Costs	70,000
Information Agent	10,000
Listing Fees	27,000
Filing Fees	4,500
Miscellaneous	10,500
Total	\$402,000

Dynex Capital will be responsible for all fees and expenses incurred by it in connection with the Note Offer and the Series D conversion.

No Financial Advisor

No financial advisor has been retained to render, and no financial advisor has rendered, an opinion as to the fairness of the Note Offer to holders of our Preferred Stock or to solicit exchanges of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes.

Exemption from Registration Requirements

The Senior Notes to be included in the Note Offer will be issued pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act under Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act. Section 3(a)(9) provides for an exemption from registration for any security exchanged by an issuer with its existing security holders exclusively where no commission or other remuneration is paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange. When securities are exchanged for other securities of an issuer under Section 3(a)(9), the securities received in essence assume the character of the exchanged securities for purposes of the Securities Act. Accordingly, if tendering stockholders tender shares of Preferred Stock that are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act because of their status as an affiliate of Dynex Capital, the Senior Notes those tendering stockholders will receive in the Note Offer will not be freely tradable and any resale would have to comply with applicable exemptions under the securities laws, including without limitation, Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act. If the shares of Preferred Stock tendering stockholders tender are not so "restricted," the Senior Notes that those tendering stockholders receive will be freely tradable.

Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals

Dynex Capital is not aware of any license or regulatory permit material to its business that is reasonably likely to be adversely affected by Dynex Capital's acquisition of shares of Preferred Stock as contemplated herein or of any approval or other action by any government or governmental, administrative or regulatory authority, agency, or tribunal, domestic or foreign, that would be required for the acquisition or ownership of shares by Dynex Capital as contemplated herein. Should any such approval or other action be required, Dynex Capital presently contemplates that such approval or other action will be sought or taken. Dynex Capital is unable to predict whether it will be required to delay the acceptance for payment of or payment for shares tendered pursuant to the Note Offer pending the outcome of any such matter. There can be no assurance that any such approval or other action, if needed, would be obtained or would be obtained without substantial conditions or that the failure to obtain any such approval or other action might not result in adverse consequences to Dynex Capital's business. Dynex Capital's obligations under the Note Offer to accept for payment, and pay for and issue Senior Notes for, shares are subject to certain conditions. See "The Note Offer—Conditions to the Note Offer."

Miscellaneous Matters

Dynex Capital is not aware of any jurisdiction in which the making of the Note Offer is not in compliance with applicable law. If Dynex Capital becomes aware of any jurisdiction where the making of the Note Offer or the acceptance or purchase of the shares is not in compliance with any valid applicable law, Dynex Capital will make a good faith effort to comply with such law. If, after such good faith effort, Dynex Capital cannot comply with such law, the Note Offer will not be made to (nor will tenders be accepted from or on behalf of) the holders of shares residing in such jurisdiction. In any jurisdiction where the securities, blue sky or other laws require the Note Offer to be made by a licensed broker or dealer, the Note Offer shall be deemed to be made on Dynex Capital's behalf by one or more registered brokers or dealers licensed under the laws of the jurisdiction.

Pursuant to Rule 13e-4 promulgated under the Exchange Act, Dynex Capital has filed with the SEC an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO which contains additional information with respect to the Note Offer. The Schedule TO, including the exhibits and any amendments thereto, may be examined, and copies may be obtained at the same places and in the same manner as is set forth under "Where You Can Find More Information – Schedule TO."

Payment of Expenses

The Note Offer is being made by Dynex Capital in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, afforded by Section 3(a)(9) thereof.

Therefore, Dynex Capital will not pay any commission or other remuneration to any broker, dealer, salesman or other person for soliciting tenders of the Preferred Stock. However, regular employees of Dynex Capital (who will not be additionally compensated therefor) may solicit tenders and will answer inquiries concerning the Note Offer.

Dynex Capital has retained MacKenzie Partners, Inc. to act as information agent and Wachovia Bank, N.A. to act as exchange agent in connection with the Note Offer. The information agent may contact holders of shares by mail, telephone, facsimile, telex, telegraph and personal interviews and may request nominees to forward materials relating to the Note Offer to beneficial owners. The information agent and the exchange agent will each receive reasonable and customary compensation for their respective services.

No fees or commissions will be payable by Dynex Capital to brokers, dealers or other persons (other than fees to the information agent and exchange agent as described above) for soliciting tenders of shares pursuant to the Note Offer. A stockholder holding shares through a nominee is urged to consult such nominee to determine whether transaction costs are applicable if such stockholder tenders shares through such nominee and not directly to the exchange agent. Dynex Capital will, however, upon request, reimburse nominees for customary mailing and handling expenses incurred by them in forwarding the Note Offer and related materials to the beneficial owners of shares held by them as a nominee or in a fiduciary capacity. No nominee has been authorized to act as the agent of Dynex Capital, the information agent or the exchange agent for purposes of the Note Offer. Dynex Capital will pay or cause to be paid all stock transfer taxes, if any, on its purchase of shares except as otherwise provided under "The Note Offer—Acceptance of Shares of Preferred Stock for Exchange; Delivery of Senior Notes to be Exchanged."

PURPOSES AND EFFECTS OF THE NOTE OFFER

Our board of directors believes the Note Offer gives holders of each series of Preferred Stock desiring to sell their shares of Preferred Stock the opportunity to liquidate a portion of their holdings of Preferred Stock at respective exchange prices representing a premium to the bid price prior to the announcement of the Note Offer of each series of Preferred Stock, as set forth in the table below based on the closing per share bid price of each series of Preferred Stock on January 7, 2004, the last trading day ending before the announcement of the Note Offer.

	Senior Notes Price/Share	Closing Bid Price January 7, 2004	Premium
Series A Preferred Stock	\$ 27.84	\$ 26.50	5.1%
Series B Preferred Stock	\$ 28.42	\$ 26.90	5.7%
Series C Preferred Stock	\$ 34.80	\$ 34.30	1.5%

In addition, our board believes the Note Offer should provide greater liquidity for holders of the Preferred Stock at the price levels represented by the respective exchange prices. The table below sets forth (i) the recent monthly trading volume of each series of Preferred Stock on the Nasdaq National Market during the months of October, November, and December 2003, and (ii) the percentage of the number of shares outstanding represented by the annualized volume (based upon such three month period). In the aggregate, if the Note Offer is fully subscribed, the shares of Preferred Stock to be purchased pursuant to the Note Offer represents approximately 961% of the annualized trading volume.

		Trading Volume 2003			
	October	November	December	Total	Annualized as % of Shares Outstanding
Series A Preferred Stock	2,900	2,700	2,600	8,200	6.65%
Series B Preferred Stock	10,300	3,900	5,700	19,900	11.57%
Series C Preferred Stock	1,700	600	3,600	5,900	3.45%
Total:	14,900	7,200	11,900	34,000	7.29%

While giving holders of Preferred Stock desiring such liquidity the opportunity to sell their Preferred Stock at a premium to the bid prices as described above, the Note Offer also permits us to purchase shares of Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to the Note Offer at a substantial discount from the liquidation preference provided for in the articles of amendment governing the terms of the Preferred Stock. In the event of liquidation, the holders of all series of Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive out of our assets, prior to any such distribution to holders of our Common Stock, the issue price per share of the series of Preferred Stock in cash, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Assuming that the minimum 17.5% of shares of each series are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer, on a pro-forma basis, as of December 31, 2003, total shareholders' equity would have declined from \$149,846,000 to \$139,444,000; the aggregate liquidation preference for all series of Preferred Stock will decline from \$67,719,019 to \$47,132,880; and the book value per share of Common Stock, inclusive of accrued and unpaid preferred dividends, will increase from \$7.55 to \$7.72 per share.

Assuming that the maximum 70% of shares of each series are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer, on a pro-forma basis, as of December 31, 2003, total shareholders' equity would have declined from \$149,846,000 to \$109,444,000; the aggregate liquidation preference for all series of Preferred Stock will decline from \$67,719,019 to \$17,133,040; and the book value per share of Common Stock, inclusive of accrued and unpaid preferred dividends, will increase from \$7.55 to \$8.19 per share.

If none of the shares of any series are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer, on a pro-forma basis, as of December 31, 2003, total shareholders' equity would have declined from \$149,846,000 to \$149,444,000; the aggregate liquidation preference for all series of Preferred Stock will decline from \$67,719,019 to \$57,134,280; and the book value per share of Common Stock, inclusive of accrued and unpaid preferred dividends, will increase from \$7.55 to \$7.58 per share.

In addition, the retirement of the tendered shares of the Preferred Stock at a discount to their respective full liquidation preferences will improve the ratio of net assets available to satisfy the liquidation preference of the shares of Series D Preferred Stock into which the shares of Preferred Stock not tendered in the Note Offer will be converted.

The other reasons considered by the board of directors in deciding to pursue the recapitalization, including the Note Offer, are described in "Special Factors—Background of the Recapitalization," "—Reasons for the Note Offer," and "—Recommendation of the Board of Directors; Fairness of the Recapitalization."

The Note Offer provides to holders of Preferred Stock the opportunity to dispose of those shares at a premium to the bid prices as of January 7, 2004 and without the usual transaction costs associated with open market sales, where those shares are tendered by the stockholder of record directly to the exchange agent. The Note Offer also may provide such stockholders greater liquidity for their Preferred Stock than what is otherwise generally available in the market. A stockholder whose shares are held through a nominee should contact such nominee to determine whether any transaction costs apply to any sales of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer. In addition, the Note Offer gives stockholders the opportunity to dispose of their Preferred Stock at prices greater than the market prices prevailing prior to the announcement of the Note Offer. Stockholders are urged to obtain current market quotations for their shares. See "Price Range of Preferred Stock." The Note Offer also allows stockholders to dispose of a portion of their shares while retaining a continued equity interest in Dynex Capital.

In determining whether to tender shares pursuant to the Note Offer, stockholders should consider the possibility that they may be able to sell their future shares of Series D Preferred Stock on the Nasdaq National Market or New York Stock Exchange or otherwise, including in connection with any subsequent tender offer or any subsequent sale, merger or liquidation of Dynex Capital (none of which is currently contemplated), at a net price higher than the respective exchange prices. We intend to apply for listing of the new Series D Preferred Stock for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market or for listing on the New York Stock Exchange. However, there is no assurance that the Series D Preferred Stock will be listed on the Nasdaq National Market or the New York Stock Exchange or that a liquid trading market will develop for the Series D Preferred Stock. If a trading market does develop, there can be no assurance as to any price at which the Series D Preferred Stock will trade.

The board has approved the Note Offer and believes that it provides holders of Preferred Stock desiring to dispose of some or all of their shares a reasonable opportunity to do so at a premium to the closing bid price of the respective series of Preferred Stock on January 7, 2004. You must, however, make your own decision whether to tender shares and, if so, how many shares to tender. Neither Dynex Capital nor its board makes any recommendation to you with respect to the Note Offer, and no person has been authorized by Dynex Capital or its board to make any such recommendations. Certain members of the board of directors of Dynex Capital have informed Dynex Capital that they will participate in the Note Offer.

Shares of Preferred Stock that Dynex Capital acquires under the Note Offer will be cancelled. Following completion of the Note Offer, as part of the Series D conversion, the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock will be exchanged for shares of Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock, and the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock will be cancelled.

Except as otherwise disclosed in this offering circular or the accompanying proxy statement, Dynex Capital has no plans, proposals or negotiations that relate to or would result in:

- · any extraordinary transaction, such as a merger, reorganization or liquidation, involving Dynex Capital or any of its subsidiaries;
- any purchase, sale or transfer of a material amount of assets of Dynex Capital or any of its subsidiaries;
- any change in the present policy to pay dividends only out of taxable income, or, if applicable, as required to maintain its status as a real estate investment trust;
- any class of equity securities of Dynex Capital being delisted from a national securities exchange;
- any class of equity securities of Dynex Capital becoming eligible for termination of registration under Section 12(g)(4) of the Exchange Act;
- any change in the present board of directors or management of Dynex Capital, including, but not limited to, any plans or proposals to change the number or the term of directors or to fill

any existing vacancies on the board of directors or to change any material term of the employment contract of any executive officer;

- any other material change in Dynex Capital's corporate structure or business;
- the suspension of Dynex Capital's obligation to file reports under the Exchange Act;
- · the acquisition by any person of additional securities of Dynex Capital or the disposition of securities of Dynex Capital; or
- any change in Dynex Capital's articles of incorporation and bylaws or other governing instruments or other actions which could impede the acquisition of control of Dynex Capital.

If the Note Offer and the Series D conversion are completed, shares of Preferred Stock that are not tendered in the Note Offer will be automatically converted into shares of new Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock. For holders of a series of Preferred Stock who do not tender their shares, there is no assurance that the price of the Series D Preferred Stock will not trade below the price currently being offered by Dynex Capital pursuant to the Note Offer. For holders of a series of Preferred Stock who do tender, there is no assurance that the trading price of the Series D Preferred Stock will not be higher than the prices being offered by this Note Offer.

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our capitalization at December 31, 2003 and pro forma information to reflect the effect of the recapitalization, assuming (1) that the minimum 17.5% shares of each series are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer at the prices offered herein, with the balance of the Preferred Stock converted to Series D Preferred Stock, (2) alternatively, that the maximum 70% shares of each series are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer at the prices offered herein, and (3) as if no shares are tendered and accepted in the Note Offer, with the balance of the Preferred Stock converted to Series D Preferred Stock, in each case as if the recapitalization had occurred on December 31, 2003.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

December	31,	2003
----------	-----	------

	Actual						
		17.5% (Min.)	70% (Max.)	0% (None)			
:							
ourse securitization financing	\$ 1,679,830	\$ 1,679,830	\$ 1,679,830	\$ 1,679,830			
hase agreements	23,884	23,884	23,884	23,884			
or notes	10,049	10,000	40,000	_			
enses and other liabilities	1,626	1,626	1,626	1,626			
debt	1,715,389	1,715,340	1,745,340	1,705,340			
nity:							
A Preferred Stock	11,274	_	_	_			
B Preferred Stock	16,109	_	_	_			
s C Preferred Stock	19,631	_	_	_			
ries D Preferred Stock	_	46,731	16,731	56,731			
nmon stock	109	120	113	122			
tional paid-in capital	360,684	358,434	358,440	358,431			
ecumulated other comprehensive loss	(3,882)	(3,882)	(3,882)	(3,882)			
nted deficit	(254,079)	(261,958)	(261,958)	(261,958)			
otal shareholders' equity	149,846	139,444	109,444	149,444			
Total capitalization	\$ 1,865,235	\$ 1,854,784	\$ 1,854,784	\$ 1,854,784			

PRICE RANGE OF PREFERRED STOCK

Our shares of Preferred Stock are listed for trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPP" for the Series A Preferred Stock, "DXCPO" for the Series B Preferred Stock, and "DXCPN" for the Series C Preferred Stock. The following table sets forth for the calendar quarters indicated the range of the high and low sale prices for each series of Preferred Stock on the Nasdaq National Market since the first quarter of 2001.

SER	SERIES A		SERIES B		SERIES C	
нідн	LOW	HIGH	LOW	HIGH	LOW	
\$ 12.25	\$ 6.63	\$ 12.31	\$ 7.00	\$ 13.25	\$ 7.81	
12.90	10.15	12.60	9.93	15.55	12.05	
14.20	11.40	14.40	11.89	18.00	13.97	
16.90	15.90	17.09	16.20	21.10	20.00	
\$ 18.80	\$ 15.63	\$ 19.00	\$ 15.85	\$ 23.00	\$ 20.00	
22.75	18.46	22.75	18.40	28.25	22.50	
22.25	20.50	22.46	21.00	28.00	24.60	
22.50	20.41	22.25	20.50	28.00	25.70	
\$ 24.24	\$ 22.50	\$ 24.06	\$ 22.25	\$ 29.77	\$ 27.51	
25.10	22.82	25.15	23.32	31.25	28.43	
26.25	24.45	26.48	24.71	31.81	30.50	
28.25	25.35	27.89	26.30	34.30	31.75	

On January 7, 2004, the last trading day ending prior to the announcement of the Note Offer, the closing per share sales price of the Series A Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$28.50, and the closing per share bid price was \$26.50. As of January 7, 2004, the exchange price of \$27.84 per share for Senior Notes for the Series A Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.1% above the bid price. As of January 7, 2004, the closing per share sales price of the Series B Preferred Stock was \$28.00, and the closing per share bid price was \$26.90. As of January 7, 2004, the exchange price of \$28.42 per share for Senior Notes for the Series B Preferred Stock represented a premium of 5.7% above the bid price. As of January 7, 2004, the closing per share sales price of the Series C Preferred Stock was \$34.30, and the closing per share bid price was \$34.30. As of January 7, 2004, the exchange price of \$34.80 per share for Senior Notes for the Series C Preferred Stock represented a premium of 1.5% above the bid price. You should obtain current quotations of the market price of the shares of Preferred Stock and consult an independent financial advisor.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends on the Preferred Stock are cumulative and equal, per share, to the greater of (i) the per quarter base rate of \$0.585 for Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, and \$0.73 for Series C Preferred Stock, or (ii) one-half times the per share quarterly dividend declared on our common stock. During the first two quarters of 1999, we declared dividends in the aggregate amount of \$1.17 per share on our shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, and \$1.46 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock. During 2000, we did not declare any dividends. During the second quarter of 2001, we declared dividends of \$0.2925 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, and \$0.3649 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock. During the third quarter of 2002, we declared dividends of \$0.2925 per share on our shares of Series B Preferred Stock and \$0.3651 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock. During the third quarter of 2003, we declared dividends of \$0.8775 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock and \$0.3651 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock. During the third quarter of 2003, we declared dividends of \$0.8775 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferr

Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, and \$1.0950 per share on our shares of Series C Preferred Stock. The 2001, 2002 and 2003 dividends were declared in order for us to maintain our status as a real estate investment trust. We have not declared a dividend on any shares of our Preferred Stock since the third quarter of 2003.

As of December 31, 2003, the total amount of dividends in arrears on the Series A Preferred Stock was approximately \$4,476,000 (\$9.07 per Series A Preferred Stock share), on the Series B Preferred Stock approximately \$6,240,000 (\$9.07 per Series B Preferred Stock share), and on the Series C Preferred Stock approximately \$7,750,000 (\$11.32 per Series C Preferred Stock share).

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table gives pro forma effect to the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, assuming (1) that the minimum 17.5% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer, (2) alternatively, that the maximum 70% of shares of each series are tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer, and (3) as if no shares are tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer.

The pro forma information also considers the costs of the Note Offer and the Series D conversion. This information should be read in conjunction with the summary historical and pro forma financial information included elsewhere in this proxy statement.

		Year Ended December 31, 2003			
	Actual	Pro Forma			Actual
		17.5% (Min.)	70% (Max.)	0% (None)	
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)	(10.42):1	(20.12):1	(5.06):1	(2,751):1	(3.38):1

- (1) Assumes the repayment in full of the 2005 Senior Notes as of January 1, 2003.
- For purposes of computing the ratios, "earnings" consists of net loss plus interest and debt expense (excluding interest and debt expense related to non-recourse securitization financing). This sum is divided by fixed charges, which includes interest and debt expense (excluding interest and debt expense related to non-recourse securitization financing), to determine the ratio of available earnings to fixed charges.
- That ratio of earnings to fixed charges is below 1:1 in 2003 and 2002 due to non-cash charges associated with provision for losses and impairment and other charges. The shortfall for the ratio of earnings to fixed charges relative to a ratio of 1:1 was \$21,107,000 and \$9,360,000 for 2003 and 2002, respectively.
- (4) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis, assumes the Senior Notes were issued on 17.5% of the preferred shares effective as of January 1, 2003. The shortfall for the ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis relative to a ratio of 1:1 was \$20,215,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.
- (5) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis, assumes the Senior Notes were issued on 70% of the preferred shares effective as of January 1, 2003. The shortfall for the ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis relative to a ratio of 1:1 was \$23,065,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.
- (6) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis, assumes no Senior Notes were issued. The shortfall for the ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a pro forma basis relative to a ratio of 1:1 was \$19,265,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE

As of December 31, 2003, the date of Dynex Capital's most recent balance sheet, Dynex Capital's book value per share of Common Stock (inclusive of the liquidation preference on the Preferred Stock) was \$7.55. Giving effect to the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, assuming that the minimum of 17.5% of shares of each series of Preferred Stock is tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer, Dynex Capital's book value per share of Common Stock (inclusive of the liquidation preference on the new Series D Preferred Stock) would have been \$7.72 as of December 31, 2003. Giving effect to the Note Offer and the Series D conversion, assuming that the maximum of 70% of shares of each series of Preferred Stock is tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer, Dynex Capital's book value per share of Common Stock (inclusive of the liquidation preference on the new Series D Preferred Stock) would have been \$8.19 as of December 31, 2003. Were none of the shares of Preferred Stock to be tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer to the Note Offer, and giving effect to the Series D conversion, Dynex Capital's book value per share of Common Stock (inclusive of the liquidation preference on the new Series D Preferred Stock) would have been \$7.58 as of December 31, 2003.

BUSINESS

General

We are a financial services company, which invests in loans and securities consisting of or secured by, principally single family mortgage loans, commercial mortgage loans, manufactured housing installment loans and delinquent property tax receivables. The loans and securities in which we invest have generally been pooled and pledged (i.e. securitized) as collateral for non-recourse securitization financing ("securitization financing"). We have elected to be treated as a REIT for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and, as such, must distribute substantially all of our taxable income to shareholders. Provided that we meet all of the prescribed Internal Revenue Code requirements for a REIT, we will generally not be subject to federal income tax.

Our primary business focus is managing our investment portfolio to maximize our earnings and cash flow. Our principal source of earnings and cash flow has historically been our net interest income from our investment portfolio. We have generally financed investments in our portfolio through the issuance of non-recourse securitization financing, which in turn is secured by a pledge of loans and securities. In a typical securitization financing transaction, the Company issues classes of bonds pursuant to an indenture. These bonds are recourse only to the investments pledged.

We own the right to redeem generally by class the bonds issued pursuant to securitization financing on our balance sheet once the outstanding balance of such bonds reaches 35% or less of the original amount issued, or a specified date. Generally interest rates on the associated bonds increase by 0.30%-2.00% if the securitization financing is not redeemed by the Company. We will evaluate the benefit of calling such bonds at the time they are redeemable. An estimated \$200 million of securitization financing will be redeemable in March 2004 and an estimated \$230 million will be redeemable in August 2004. These transactions are collateralized by manufactured housing loans, and certain of the bonds may have interest rates which exceed current market rates. We have the right to call such bonds by class and are contemplating calling the bonds and reissuing them at the lower current market rates. In March 2004, we agreed to redeem the highest rated bonds in the series redeemable in March 2004, and reissue the bonds at an estimated \$7.3 million net premium to us.

During 2003, we called seven adjustable-rate and fixed-rate mortgage pass-through securities previously issued and sold by us, with an aggregate balance of approximately \$86.7 million, five of which were sold at a gain of \$2.2 million. The remaining securities aggregating approximately \$31.5 million were added to our investment portfolio.

We also serve as primary servicer of our portfolio of delinquent property tax receivables and a small amount of remaining commercial mortgage loans which have not been securitized. We also retain an interest in the servicing of approximately \$53 million of securitized single-family mortgage loans, which are being sub-serviced by a former subsidiary. As a result of retaining this interest in the servicing, we are obligated to advance schedule principal and interest on delinquent loans in accordance with the underlying loan servicing agreements.

In connection with our delinquent property tax receivable servicing operation, our responsibilities include collection voluntary payments from property owners, and if collection efforts fail, foreclosing, stabilizing and selling the underlying properties. As of December 31, 2003, we were servicing delinquent property tax receivables with an aggregate redemptive value of approximately \$104 million. In 2003, we entered into an agreement to service \$7.5 million of liens on real estate for a regional utility in Pennsylvania. We will be compensated based on the results of its collection efforts. Given the existing infrastructure now in place to service our investment in property tax receivables, the incremental cost to service these liens is marginal. We will seek to gain other third-party servicing contracts in the future.

We perform the function of master servicer for certain of the securitization financing securities which we have issued, and certain loans which have not been securitized. As master servicer, we are paid a monthly fee based on the outstanding principal balance of each such loan master serviced by us as of the last day of each month. As of December 31, 2003, we master serviced \$788 million in securities.

Our board of directors continues to evaluate alternatives for the use of our cash flow in an effort to improve overall shareholder value. To that end, we formed a board committee to review possible strategic alternatives. This review included a number of alternatives, including the acquisition of a new business. See "Special Factors—Background of the Recapitalization." We have a net operating loss carryforward of an estimated \$124 million which can be utilized to offset REIT distribution requirements, other than excess inclusion income, which would allow us to retain capital for investment in a new strategic alternative. In addition, we could use the net operating loss carryforward to shelter taxable income from income tax for any taxable-REIT subsidiary or for the company itself if we were to forego our REIT status.

This "Business" section should be read in conjunction with the "Business" section contained in our 2003 annual report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated by reference in this offering circular. If any statement contained in the 10-K enclosed with this offering circular is modified or superseded by a statement in this offering circular, or any amended filings to this offering circular, such statement contained in the enclosed 10-K will be deemed for the purposes of this offering circular, or any amended filing, to have been modified or superseded by the statement in this offering circular, or the amended filing, and the statement contained in the enclosed 10-K is incorporated by reference herein only as modified or to the extent it is not superseded.

MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors

Our board of directors currently consists of seven members. The board of directors is divided into Common Stock directors and Preferred Stock directors. There are five directors that are elected by the holders of our Common Stock and two directors that are elected by the holders of our Preferred Stock. The Common Stock directors serve until their terms expire at the next annual meeting of stockholders in 2004 and the Preferred Stock directors serve until the earlier of: (a) the date upon which (i) the consolidated shareholders' equity of Dynex Capital at the end of any subsequent calendar quarter equals or exceeds \$80 million and 150% of the aggregate liquidation preference of the then outstanding preferred stock and (ii) quarterly dividends on the Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock are current, or (b) the next annual meeting of the stockholders. The following table sets forth the composition of the board of directors:

Common Stock Directors (Term Expiring in 2004)

Thomas B. Akin
J. Sidney Davenport
Thomas H. Potts
Donald B. Vaden
Eric P. Von der Porten

The following information sets forth as of December 31, 2003, the names, ages, principal occupations and business experience for our directors. Unless otherwise indicated, the business experience and principal occupations shown for each director has extended five or more years.

Thomas B. Akin (51), has been a director of Dynex Capital since May 2003, and Chairman since May 30, 2003. He also has served as the managing general partner of Talkot Capital, LLC located in Sausalito, California since 1995. Talkot Capital is the general partner for various limited partnerships

investing in both private and public companies. From 1991 to 1994, Mr. Akin was the managing director of the Western United States for Merrill Lynch Institutional Services. Mr. Akin had been the regional director of the San Francisco and Los Angeles regions for Merrill Lynch Institutional Services from 1981 to 1991. Prior to Merrill Lynch, Mr. Akin was an employee of Salomon Brothers from 1978 to 1981. Mr. Akin is currently on the board of directors of Acacia Research Inc.⁽¹⁾

J. Sidney Davenport (62), has been a director of Dynex Capital since its organization in December 1987. Mr. Davenport retired from The Ryland Group, Inc., a publicly-owned corporation engaged in residential housing construction and mortgage-related financial services, where he was a Vice President from March 1981 to January 1998. Mr. Davenport was Executive Vice President of Ryland Mortgage Company from April 1992 to January 1998. Mr. Davenport served as a director of Mentor Income Fund, Inc., a publicly traded closed-end mutual fund, from June 1992 to August 1993.

Thomas H. Potts (54), has been a director of Dynex Capital since its organization in December 1987. From 1987 to June 2002, Mr. Potts served as President of Dynex Capital. Prior to that, Mr. Potts served in various positions on behalf of The Ryland Group, Inc. and its affiliates. Mr. Potts also served as President and director of Mentor Income Fund, Inc. from its inception in December 1988 until June 1992. Mr. Potts is currently the Executive Vice President, People, Process and Strategy for IndyMac Bancorp, Inc. located in Pasadena, California.

Donald B. Vaden (68), has been a director of Dynex Capital since January 1988. He is the retired past Chairman of Residential Home Funding Corporation where he served from December 1992 until February 1995. In March 1995, Mr. Vaden resumed practicing law specializing in mediation and arbitration, and is certified for general and family mediation by the Supreme Court of Virginia.

Eric P. Von der Porten (46), has been a director of Dynex Capital since May 2002. Since 1997, Mr. Von der Porten has served as the managing member of Leeward Investments, LLC, the general partner of Leeward Capital, L.P. Mr. Von der Porten earned an A.B. from the University of Chicago and an M.B.A. from the Stanford Graduate School of Business.

Leon A. Felman (68), has been a director of Dynex Capital since November 2000. Mr. Felman has been a director of Allegiant Bancorp, Inc., a St. Louis, Missouri based bank holding company, since 1992 and a director of Allegiant Bank & Trust Company, Inc. since 2001. Mr. Felman also serves on the audit committee, the real estate committee and chairs both the nominating and corporate governance committee and the ethics committee of Allegiant Bancorp. From 1968 to 1999, Mr. Felman was the president and chief executive officer of Sage Systems, Inc., which operated twenty-eight Arby's restaurants in the St. Louis, Missouri metropolitan area. He also currently serves as the managing operating partner of Sage Systems Liquidating Trust, LLC and is the managing partner of Felman Family Partnership, LP. Mr. Felman has been a private investor in financial institutions since 1999. Mr. Felman graduated from Carnegie Institute of Technology with a B.S. in Industrial Administration.

Barry Igdaloff (49), has been a director of Dynex Capital since November 2000. Mr. Igdaloff has been a registered investment advisor and the sole proprietor of Rose Capital in Columbus, Ohio, since 1995. Mr. Igdaloff graduated from Indiana University in 1976 with a B.S.B. in Accounting and in 1978 graduated from Ohio State University with a J.D. in law. Mr. Igdaloff is a non-practicing certified public accountant and a non-practicing attorney.

Mr. Akin is the managing general partner of Talkot Capital, LLC. During 1999, Talkot Capital and several other investors invested in Infotec Commercial Systems, Inc. ("Infotec"), a privately held company that provided training in computer technology to businesses throughout the United States. In 2001, Mr. Akin served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Infotec, which filed for relief under Chapter VII of the United States Bankruptcy Code resulting in the liquidation of the company's assets. The investors of Infotec, including Talkot Capital, did not receive any return on capital.

Executive Officer Who Is Not A Director

The position of President is currently vacant.

Stephen J. Benedetti (41), Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. Mr. Benedetti serves at the discretion of Dynex Capital's board of directors. Mr. Benedetti has served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since September 2001. From May 2000 to September 2001, Mr. Benedetti was the Acting Chief Financial Officer and Acting Secretary. From October 1997 until August 2001, Mr. Benedetti served as Vice President and Treasurer of Dynex Capital; and from September 1994 until December 1998, he served as Vice President and Controller. From March 1992 until September 1994, he served as Director of Accounting and Financial Reporting for National Housing Partnerships, a national multifamily housing syndicator and property management concern. Mr. Benedetti also served as audit manager for Deloitte & Touche from 1985 to 1992, where he provided audit and consulting services to various clients primarily in the financial services and real estate development industries. Mr. Benedetti graduated from Virginia Tech in 1985 with a bachelor's degree in accounting and became a certified public accountant in 1986.

Employment Agreement

Mr. Benedetti is currently employed under an employment agreement with Dynex Capital, effective March 18, 2002. Mr. Benedetti's prior employment agreement dated September 4, 2001, was made a part of the new agreement. Under the new agreement, which expires June 30, 2004, Mr. Benedetti receives his current base salary of \$180,000 per annum, adjusted each January 1st for inflation. Mr. Benedetti received incentive compensation of \$120,000 on June 30, 2002 and, thereafter is entitled to receive up to 66.7% of his base salary for the period ending each June 30th as approved by Dynex Capital's compensation committee. The employment agreement will terminate in the event of Mr. Benedetti's death or total disability, may be terminated by Dynex Capital with "cause" (as defined in the agreement) or for any reason other than cause, and may be terminated by the resignation of Mr. Benedetti. If the employment agreement is terminated by Dynex Capital for any reason other than cause, total disability or death, then Dynex Capital shall pay to Mr. Benedetti his salary for a period equal to the lesser of one year, or through the expiration date of the employment agreement. Dynex Capital has also agreed to give Mr. Benedetti six months notice if his employment agreement will not be renewed.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Dynex Capital and a former affiliate, Dynex Commercial, Inc. ("DCI"), entered into a Litigation Cost Sharing Agreement in 2001, whereby the parties set forth how the costs of defending against certain litigation in which both Dynex Capital and DCI have been named as defendants would be shared. Dynex Capital agreed to fund all costs of such litigation, including DCI's portion. The costs funded by Dynex Capital are considered loans and bear simple interest at the prime rate of interest plus 8% per annum. Until December 2000, DCI was a subsidiary of Dynex Holding, Inc. ("DHI"), an affiliate of Dynex Capital which was merged into Dynex Capital in December 2000. All litigation against DCI relates to the activities of DCI while it was a subsidiary of DHI. As of December 31, 2003, Dynex Capital had funded \$2.5 million in aggregate litigation costs, including settlement amounts. ICD Holding, Inc. is the sole stockholder of DCI. Mr. Potts and Mr. Benedetti are the stockholders of ICD Holding, Inc.

During 1999, we made a loan to Mr. Potts, evidenced by a promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of \$934,500, with interest accruing on the outstanding balance at the prime rate of interest plus .05% per annum through 1999, and for 2000 and 2001 at the short-term monthly "applicable federal rate" based on tables published by the Internal Revenue Service. All of Mr. Potts's directly

owned shares of Dynex Capital Common Stock were pledged as collateral to secure the note, except for his 401(k) holdings. Mr. Potts repaid the note in full in 2002.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Our authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share and 50,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share. The relative rights of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock are defined by our Amended Articles of Incorporation as well as by our Amended By-laws and the Virginia Stock Corporation Act. Set forth below is summary of the relative rights of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock which may from time to time be issued, holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters acted upon at any stockholders' meeting, including the election of directors, and to dividends when, as and if declared by the board of directors out of funds legally available therefor. We have not paid any dividends on our Common Stock since 1998. There is no cumulative voting and the Common Stock is not redeemable. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Dynex Capital, each holder of Common Stock is entitled to share ratably in all of our assets remaining after the payment of liabilities and any amounts required to be paid to holders of Preferred Stock, if any. Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive or conversion rights and are not subject to further calls or assessments by Dynex Capital. All shares of Common Stock now outstanding are fully paid and non-assessable. Our Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "DX." As of March 5, 2004, there were approximately 2,360 holders of record of Common Stock. This number was derived from our stockholder records, and does not include beneficial owners of our Common Stock whose shares are held in the names of various dealers, clearing agencies, banks, brokers and other fiduciaries. As of March 5, 2004, we had issued and outstanding 10,873,903 shares of Common Stock.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors is authorized to issue shares of Preferred Stock in one or more series and to determine the voting rights, preferences as to dividends, and the liquidation, conversion, redemption and other rights of each series. The issuance of a series with voting and conversion rights may adversely affect the voting power of the holders of Common Stock. As of the close of business January 7, 2004, we had issued and outstanding 493,595 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 688,189 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 684,893 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

The Series A Preferred Stock is listed and traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPP." As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to the announcement of the Note Offer), the closing per share sales price of the Series A Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$28.50, and the closing bid price was \$26.50 per share. The 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock that Dynex Capital is offering to accept in this Note Offer represented approximately 70% of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the most recent practicable date prior to the announcement of the Note Offer.

The Series B Preferred Stock is listed and traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPO." As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to the announcement of the Note Offer), the closing per share sales price of the Series B Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$28.00, and the closing bid price was \$28.00 per share. The 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock that Dynex Capital is offering to accept in this Note Offer represented

approximately 70% of the outstanding Series B Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the most recent practicable date prior to the announcement of the Note Offer.

The Series C Preferred Stock is listed and traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DXCPN." As of January 7, 2004 (the last trading day ending prior to the announcement of the Note Offer), the closing per share sales price of the Series C Preferred Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, was \$34.30, and the closing bid price was \$34.30 per share. The 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock that Dynex Capital is offering to accept in this Note Offer represented approximately 70% of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock as of January 7, 2004, the most recent practicable date prior to the announcement of the Note Offer.

Stockholders are encouraged to obtain current market quotations of the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock.

For a description of dividends with respect to the Preferred Stock, see "Dividends."

Shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are convertible at any time at the option of the holder. They are convertible on a basis of one share of Common Stock for two shares of Preferred Stock. In April 2002, one holder of Series B Preferred Stock converted 100 shares of Series B Preferred Stock into 50 shares of Common Stock. No other shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock were converted during 2003, 2002 or 2001.

Each series is redeemable by us at any time, in whole or in part (i) for shares of Common Stock at a rate of two shares of Preferred Stock for one share of Common Stock, plus accrued and unpaid dividends, provided that for 20 trading days within any period of 30 consecutive trading days, the closing price of the Common Stock equals or exceeds two times the issue price, or (ii) for cash at the issue price, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

In the event of liquidation, the holders of all series of Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive out of our assets, prior to any such distribution to our holders of Common Stock, the issue price per share of the series in cash, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. As of December 31, 2003, the total liquidation preference on the Preferred Stock was \$67.7 million, and the total amount of dividends in arrears on Preferred Stock was \$18.5 million.

In 2001, we completed two separate tender offers for our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$20.0 million. These offers resulted in the purchase of 1,307,118 shares of our Preferred Stock, consisting of 317,023 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 533,627 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 456,468 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, which shares had an aggregate issue price of \$34.4 million, an aggregate book value of \$32,819,259 and including dividends in arrears, an aggregate liquidation preference of \$40.9 million.

In 2003, we completed a tender offer for our Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$19.3 million. This offer resulted in the purchase of 730,709 shares of our Preferred Stock, consisting of 188,940 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 272,977 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 268,792 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, which shares had an aggregate issue price of \$19.3 million, an aggregate book value of \$18.4 million and including dividends in arrears, an aggregate liquidation preference of \$25.4 million. In addition, we exchanged \$32.1 million of our Senior Notes due February 2005 for an additional 309,503 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 417,541 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 429,847 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, which shares had an aggregate issue price of \$30.6 million, an aggregate book value of \$29.2 million and including dividends in arrears, an aggregate liquidation preference of \$40.2 million.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of shares of Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock as of March 5, 2004, by: (a) each director of Dynex Capital, (b) each of Dynex Capital's sole executive officer, (c) all directors and the executive officer of Dynex Capital as a group, and (d) all other stockholders known by Dynex Capital to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of any class of Dynex Capital stock. Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole investment and sole voting power with respect to the securities shown.

		Number of Shares Beneficially Owned				Percent Beneficially Owned (%) ⁽¹⁾				
Name	Common (2)	Series A Preferred	Series B Preferred	Series C Preferred	Common (2)	Series A Preferred	Series B Preferred	Series C Preferred		
Stephen J. Benedetti	18,114(3)				*					
J. Sidney Davenport	25,356	_	_	_	*	_	_	_		
Thomas H. Potts	326,238(4)	_	_	_	3.0%	_	_	_		
Donald B. Vaden	9,483(5)	_	_	_	*	_	_	_		
Eric P. Von der Porten (6)	140,200	_	1,598	3,225	1.29%	_	*	*		
Leon A. Felman	12,570(7)	_	_	20,847(8)	*	_	_	3.04%		
Barry Igdaloff	22,280(9)	49,546(10)	52,820(11)	67,300(12)	*	10.04%	7.68%	9.83%		
Thomas B. Akin	993,950 ₍₁₃₎	78,621 ₍₁₄₎	132,798(15)	52,608(16)	9.14%	15.93%	19.30%	7.68%		
Rockwood Partners L.P., Rockwood Asset	()	,	()	()						
Management, Inc., as a group (17)	788,500	20,740	21,656	9,612	7.25%	4.20%	3.15%	1.40%		
All directors and executive officers as a group (8)	1,548,191	128,167	187,216	143,980	14.24%	25.97%	27.20%	21.02%		

Less than 1% of the outstanding shares.

⁽¹⁾ Percentages are based on 10,873,903 shares of Common Stock, 493,595 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 688,189 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and 684,893 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding as of March 5, 2004, plus, for each person, the shares that would be issued assuming that person exercises all options he holds that are exercisable within 60 days of March 5, 2004.

- Does not reflect additional shares of Common Stock that holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to receive upon conversion of their Preferred Stock. Currently, two shares of Preferred Stock are convertible into one share of Common Stock.
- Does not include 30,000 stock appreciation rights that vested on June 30, 2002.
- (4) Includes 9,077 shares of Common Stock owned of record by such person's children and spouse.
- ⁽⁵⁾ Includes 583 shares of Common Stock owned of record by such person's spouse.
- (6) Includes 140,200 shares of Common Stock, 1,598 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 3,225 shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by Leeward Capital, L.P. Mr. Von der Porten is the managing member of Leeward Investments, LLC, which is the general partner of Leeward Capital, L.P.
- (7) Includes 87 shares of Common Stock owned of record by such person's spouse; 3,600 shares of Common Stock owned of record by The Leon A. Felman Keogh Profit Sharing Plan of which Mr. Felman is the Trustee; 3,150 shares of Common Stock owned of record by Homebaker Brand Profit Sharing Plan of which Mr. Felman is the Trustee; and 1,340 shares of Common Stock held of record by HLF Corporation of which Mr. Felman is an officer.
- (8) Includes 11,670 shares of Series C Preferred Stock owned of record by Homebaker Brand Profit Sharing Plan of which Mr. Felman is the Trustee; 3,687 shares of Series C Preferred Stock owned of record by The Leon A. Felman Keogh Profit Sharing Plan of which Mr. Felman is the Trustee; 350 shares of Series C Preferred Stock owned of record by The Felman Family Trust of which Mr. Felman is the Trustee; and 980 shares of Series C Preferred Stock owned of record by HLF Corporation of which Mr. Felman is an officer.
- (9) Includes 22,280 shares of Common Stock owned by clients of Rose Capital of which Mr. Igdaloff is the sole proprietor. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (10) Includes 29,146 shares of Series A Preferred Stock owned by clients of Rose Capital. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (11) Includes 26,520 shares of Series B Preferred Stock owned by clients of Rose Capital. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- Includes 24,900 shares of Series C Preferred Stock owned by clients of Rose Capital. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (13) Includes 440,000 shares of Common Stock held by Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Mr. Akin is the managing general partner of Talkot Capital which is the general partner of Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (14) Includes 60,550 shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Mr. Akin is the managing general partner of Talkot Capital which is the general partner of Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (15) Includes 81,437 shares of Series B Preferred Stock held by Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Mr. Akin is the managing general partner of Talkot Capital which is the general partner of Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- (16) Includes 17,909 shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Mr. Akin is the managing general partner of Talkot Capital which is the general partner of Talkot Crossover Fund, L.P. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof.
- Address: 35 Mason Street, Greenwich, CT 06830. Shares are held with shared power to vote and dispose thereof. Shareholdings as of December 30, 2003 based on information provided by Rockwood Partners, L.P. and Rockwood Asset Management, Inc.

Recent Transactions

To the best knowledge of Dynex Capital, except as provided below, no executive officer or director has effected any transaction in the Common Stock or the Preferred Stock during the past 60 days.

According to a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission by Thomas Potts, a director and former President of Dynex Capital, Mr Potts transferred his Dynex Capital 401(k) account to an IRA account administered by a different financial institution. In

connection with this transfer, the filing states that Dynex Capital's 401(k) plan administrator was required to sell the securities held in Mr. Potts' Dynex Capital 401(k) plan account (which included 19,356 shares of Dynex Capital Common Stock); this sale took place on December 30, 2003 at a price of \$6.10 per share. On January 6, 2004, Mr. Potts instructed the administrator of his IRA account to purchase an identical number of shares of Dynex Capital Common Stock in order to effectively reverse the sale transaction. On January 9, 2004, the administrator of Mr. Potts' IRA account purchased 2,000 shares at a price of \$6.18 per share, 2,900 shares at a price of \$6.15 per share and 100 shares at a price of \$6.14 per share. On January 13, 2004, the administrator of Mr. Potts' IRA account purchased 1,100 shares at a price of \$6.45 per share. On January 15, 2004, the administrator of Mr. Potts' IRA account purchased 200 shares at a price of \$6.75 per share. On January 23, 2004, the administrator of Mr. Potts' IRA account purchased 200 shares at a price of \$6.75 per share. On January 23, 2004, the administrator of Mr. Potts' IRA account purchased 3,056 shares at a price of \$7.40 per share, bringing total purchases to 19,356 shares to offset the sale that took place on December 30, 2003.

DESCRIPTION OF SENIOR NOTES

The Senior Notes are to be issued under an Indenture, to be dated as of the Closing Date, between us and Wachovia Bank, N.A., as trustee. A copy of the Indenture is available from us upon request and is on file with the SEC. The following summaries of certain provisions of the Senior Notes and the Indenture do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the Senior Notes and the Indenture, including the definitions therein of certain terms which are not otherwise defined in this offering circular. Wherever particular provisions or defined terms of the Indenture (or of the form of Senior Notes which is a part thereof) are referred to, such provisions or defined terms are incorporated herein by reference in their entirety.

General

The Senior Notes will represent senior unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Dynex Capital and have no conversion rights. The Senior Notes will be limited to \$40,000,000 aggregate principal amount, will be issued in book entry form only in denominations of \$1,000.00 in original principal amount or any integral multiple thereof and will mature on the third anniversary of their issuance, unless earlier redeemed at the option of Dynex Capital or repurchased at the option of the Senior Note holder upon a change of control.

The Senior Notes bear interest from April 7, 2004 at an annual rate of 9.50% on the outstanding principal balance. Payments of interest will be made semi-annually in arrears in cash on each of October 15 and April 15, commencing on October 15, 2004, to holders of record at the close of business on the preceding September 30 and March 31, respectively. Payments of principal will be made at the office of the Senior Notes Trustee in Richmond, Virginia. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months. The Senior Notes are unrated.

Global Note; Book-Entry Form

Upon issuance, the Senior Notes will be represented by one or more fully registered global notes. A recipient of Senior Notes pursuant to this Note Offer will receive a beneficial interest in an unrestricted global note. The global note will be issued to DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as DTC's nominee, and shall be deposited with Wachovia Bank, N.A., as custodian for Cede & Co. Upon issuance of the global note, DTC will credit, on its book-entry registration and transfer systems, the respective principal amounts of the Senior Notes represented by that global note to the accounts of institutions or persons, commonly known as participants, that have accounts with DTC or its nominee. Ownership of beneficial interests in the global note will be limited to participants or persons that may hold beneficial interests through participants. Owners of beneficial interests in the global note will not receive

certificates representing their ownership interests in the Senior Notes, except in the event use of the book-entry system for the Senior Notes is discontinued. Except as set forth below, the record ownership of the global note may be transferred, in whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee.

Payment of principal and interest on and the redemption and repurchase price of the global note will be made to Cede & Co., the nominee for DTC, as registered owner of the global note, by wire transfer of immediately available funds on each principal and interest payment date, each redemption date and each repurchase date, as applicable. None of Dynex Capital, the trustee or any paying agent will have any responsibility or liability for:

- · any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the global note; or
- for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interest.

We have been informed by DTC that, with respect to any payment of principal of or interest on, or the redemption or repurchase price of, the global note, DTC's practice is, upon receipt of payment, to credit participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount represented by the global note as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in the principal amount represented by the global note held through such participants will be the responsibility of such participants, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in "street name."

Transfers between participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in immediately available funds. Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of persons who hold interests through them and certain banks, the ability of a person having a beneficial interest in the principal amount represented by the global note to pledge such interest to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing such interest.

Neither Dynex Capital nor the trustee (or any registrar or paying agent under the Indenture) will have responsibility for the performance of DTC or its participants or persons who hold interests through the participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations. DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Senior Notes (including, without limitation, the presentation of Senior Notes for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account with DTC interests in the global note are credited, and only in respect of the principal amount of the Senior Notes represented by the global note as to which such participants or participants has or have given such direction.

DTC has advised us as follows:

- DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York;
- DTC is a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- · DTC is a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- DTC is a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC holds securities for its participants and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes to accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, LLC and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, securities brokers and dealers and trust companies that clear through, or maintain a custodial relationship with, a participant, either directly or indirectly. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants and indirect participants are on file with the SEC.

Although DTC may agree to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the global note among participants, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and a successor depositary is not appointed by Dynex Capital within 90 days, we will cause the Senior Notes to be issued in definitive form in exchange for the global note.

Registration and Transfer

This Note Offer is being extended to you in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act. As a result, the Senior Notes we issue to you in exchange for your Preferred Stock will have similar characteristics to the Preferred Stock with respect to transfers to third parties. If your shares of Preferred Stock are freely tradable, then the Senior Notes you receive in the exchange can be transferred freely.

Change of Contro

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below), each holder of Senior Notes shall have the right to require that we repurchase such holder's Senior Notes in whole or in part at a purchase price in cash in an amount equal to 101% of the outstanding principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase, pursuant to an offer (the "Change of Control Offer") made in accordance with the procedures described below and the other provisions in the Indenture.

The term "Change in Control" shall mean an event or series of events in which (i) any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) acquires "beneficial ownership" (as determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the total Voting Stock (as defined below) of Dynex Capital whether by purchase, tender, merger or otherwise; provided, however, that any such person or group shall not be deemed to be the beneficial owner of, or to beneficially own, any Voting Stock tendered in a tender offer until such tendered Voting Stock is accepted for purchase under the tender offer; or (ii) all or substantially all of the assets of Dynex Capital are sold, exchanged or otherwise is transferred to such person or group (other than any pledges or transfers made in connection with the securitization of our assets).

"Voting Stock" means stock of the class or classes pursuant to which the holders thereof have the general voting power under ordinary circumstances to elect at least a majority of the board of directors, managers or trustees of a corporation (irrespective whether or not at the time stock of any other class or classes shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency).

Within 30 days following any Change of Control, we shall send by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the trustee and to each holder of Senior Notes, at such holder's address appearing in the note register, a notice stating, among other things, that a Change of Control has occurred, the repurchase price, the repurchase date, which shall be a business day no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed (or such later date as is necessary to comply with the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), and certain other procedures that a holder of Senior Notes

must follow to accept a Change of Control Offer or to withdraw such acceptance. We will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Rule 13e-4 and Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and other securities laws or regulations, to the extent such laws are applicable, in connection with the repurchase of the Senior Notes as described above. Future indebtedness may contain prohibitions of certain events which would constitute a Change of Control or require us to offer to repurchase such indebtedness upon a Change of Control. Moreover, the exercise by the holders of Senior Notes of their right to require Dynex Capital to purchase the Senior Notes could cause a default under such indebtedness, even if the Change of Control itself does not, due to the financial effect of such purchase on Dynex Capital. Finally, our ability to pay cash to holders of Senior Notes upon a purchase may be limited by Dynex Capital's then existing financial resources. There can be no assurance that sufficient funds will be available when necessary to make any required purchases. Furthermore, the Change of Control provisions may in certain circumstances make more difficult or discourage a takeover of Dynex Capital and the removal of the incumbent.

Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets

The Indenture prohibits us from consolidating with or merging with or into, or conveying, transferring or leasing all or substantially all our assets (determined on a consolidated basis), to any person unless: (i) either Dynex Capital is the resulting, surviving or transferee person (the "Successor Company") or the Successor Company is a person organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia, and the Successor Company (if not Dynex Capital) expressly assumes by a supplemental Indenture, executed and delivered to the trustee, in form satisfactory to the trustee, all the obligations of Dynex Capital under the Indenture and the Senior Notes, (ii) immediately after giving effect to such transaction no Event of Default (as defined below) has happened and is continuing and (iii) Dynex Capital delivers to the trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger or transfer and such supplemental Indenture (if any) comply with the Indenture.

Restrictions and Limitations

The terms of the indenture for the Senior Notes contain certain financial covenants which prohibit us from engaging in certain activities while the Senior Notes are outstanding. For example, the terms of the Indenture prohibits us from, directly or indirectly, making any Restricted Payments, unless no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of or after giving effect to such Restricted Payment. The provisions of this covenant do not prohibit any distribution that is necessary to maintain our status as a real estate investment trust under the Code.

In addition, under the terms of the Indenture, we and any of our subsidiaries are prohibited from conducting any business or entering into any transactions or series of transactions with or for the benefit of any of our Affiliates (each, an "Affiliate Transaction"), except in good faith and on terms that are, in the aggregate, no less favorable to Dynex Capital, as the case may be, than those that could have been obtained in a comparable transaction on an arm's-length basis from a person or entity who is not such an Affiliate.

For purposes of this section of the offering circular, the term "Restricted Payment" means any of the following: (i) the declaration or payment of any dividend or any other distribution on the Capital Stock of Dynex Capital or any payment made to the direct or indirect holders (in all their capacities as such) of Capital Stock of Dynex Capital (other than dividends or distributions payable solely in capital stock (other than Disqualified Stock) or in options, warrants or other rights to purchase capital stock (other than Disqualified Stock); (ii) the purchase, redemption or other acquisition or retirement for value of any Capital Stock of Dynex Capital or (iii) the making of any principal payment on, or the purchase, defeasance, repurchase, redemption or other acquisition or retirement for value, prior to any scheduled maturity, scheduled repayment or scheduled sinking fund payment, of any indebtedness existing on the

issue date of the Senior Notes which is subordinated in right of payment to the Senior Notes (other than indebtedness acquired in anticipation of satisfying a sinking fund obligation, principal installment or final maturity, in each case due within one year of the date of acquisition).

In addition, all Affiliate Transactions (and each series of related Affiliate Transactions which are a part of a common plan) involving aggregate payments or other market value in excess of \$6 million, are required to be approved unanimously by the board of directors of Dynex Capital, with such approval being evidenced by a board resolution stating that such directors have, in good faith, determined that such transactions or related transactions comply with the foregoing provision; and if Dynex Capital or any subsidiary of Dynex Capital enters into an Affiliate Transaction (or a series of related Affiliate Transactions which are part of a common plan) involving aggregate payments or market value in excess of \$10 million, Dynex Capital or such subsidiary is required, prior to the consummation thereof, to obtain a favorable opinion as to the fairness of such transaction or related transactions from an independent financial advisor and file the same with the Trustee; provided that this sentence shall not be applicable with respect to sales or purchases of products or services by Dynex Capital or from its Affiliates in the ordinary course of business on terms similar to those that could have been obtained in a comparable transaction on an arms-length basis from a Person who is not such an Affiliate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions set forth in this covenant shall not apply to (i) customary directors' fees and (ii) customary fees or transactions by and among Dynex Capital and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

For purposes of this section of the offering circular, the term "Affiliate" shall mean an "affiliate" as defined in Rule 144(a) as promulgated under the Securities Act.

For purposes of this section of the offering circular, the term "Capital Stock" of any person shall mean any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of such person's corporate stock or any and all equivalent ownership interests in a person (other than a corporation) whether now outstanding or issued after the date hereof.

For purposes of this section of the offering circular, the term "Disqualified Stock" means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock which, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is exchangeable for indebtedness, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part on or prior to the stated maturity.

Events of Default and Remedies

An Event of Default is defined in the Indenture as being, among other things: default in payment of the principal on the Senior Notes when due, at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise, including failure by Dynex Capital to purchase the Senior Notes when required as described under "Description of Senior Notes—Change of Control" (whether or not such payment shall be prohibited by the subordination provisions of the Indenture); default for 30 days in payment of any installment of interest on the Senior Notes; default by Dynex Capital for 90 days after notice in the observance or performance of any other covenants in the Indenture; failure to pay certain indebtedness for money borrowed under any mortgage, indenture, or instrument aggregating \$25 million or more; final judgments or decrees entered into by a court of competent jurisdiction against Dynex Capital, which have not been vacated, discharged, satisfied or stayed pending appeal within 60 days of entry, involving liabilities of \$40 million or more after deducting the portion of such liabilities accepted by an insurance company; or certain events involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of Dynex Capital. The Indenture provides that the trustee may withhold notice to the holders of Senior Notes of any default (except in payment of principal or interest with respect to the Senior Notes) if the trustee, in good faith, considers it in the interest of the holders of the Senior Notes to do so.

The Indenture provides that if an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default with respect to certain events, including bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of Dynex Capital) shall have occurred and be continuing, the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding may declare the principal on the Senior Notes to be due and payable immediately, but if Dynex Capital shall pay or deposit with the trustee a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of interest on all Senior Notes and the principal on all Senior Notes that have become due other than by acceleration and certain expenses and fees of the trustee and if all defaults (except the nonpayment of interest on and principal of any Senior Notes which shall have become due by acceleration) shall have been cured or waived and certain other conditions are met, such declaration may be canceled and past defaults may be waived by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding.

The holders of a majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding shall have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceedings for any remedy available to the trustee, subject to certain limitations specified in the Indenture. The Indenture provides that, subject to the duty of the trustee following an Event of Default to act with the required standard of care, the trustee will not be under an obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request or direction of any of the holders, unless the trustee receives satisfactory indemnity against any associated costs, liability or expense.

Satisfaction and Discharge; Defeasance

The Indenture will cease to be of further effect as to all outstanding Senior Notes (except as to (i) rights of the holders of Senior Notes to receive payments of principal and interest on, the Senior Notes, (ii) our right of optional redemption, (iii) rights of registration of transfer and exchange, (iv) substitution of apparently mutilated, defaced, destroyed, lost or stolen Senior Notes, (v) rights, obligations and immunities of the trustee under the Indenture and (vi) rights of the holders of Senior Notes as beneficiaries of the Indenture with respect to the property so deposited with the trustee payable to all or any of them) if (A) we will have paid or caused to be paid the principal and interest on the Senior Notes as and when the same will have become due and payable or (B) all outstanding Senior Notes (except lost, stolen or destroyed Senior Notes which have been replaced or paid) have been delivered to the trustee for cancellation or (C) (x) the Senior Notes not previously delivered to the trustee for cancellation will have become due and payable or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption under arrangements satisfactory to the trustee upon delivery of notice and (y) we will have irrevocably deposited with the trustee, as trust funds, cash, in an amount sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the outstanding Senior Notes, to maturity or redemption, as the case may be. Such trust may only be established if such deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any agreement or instrument pursuant to which we are a party or by which we are bound and we have delivered to the trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions related to such defeasance have been complied with.

The Indenture will also cease to be in effect (except as described in clauses (i) through (vi) in the immediately preceding paragraph) and the indebtedness on all outstanding Senior Notes will be discharged on the 123rd day after the irrevocable deposit by Dynex Capital with the trustee, in trust, specifically pledged as security for, and dedicated solely to, the benefit of the holders of the Senior Notes, of cash, U.S. Government Obligations (as defined in the Indenture) or a combination thereof, in an amount sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the trustee, to pay the principal and interest on the Senior Notes then outstanding in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and the Senior Notes ("legal defeasance"). Such legal defeasance may only be effected if (i) no Event of Default has occurred or is continuing, (ii) such deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any agreement or instrument to which Dynex Capital is a party or by which it is bound, (iii) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel stating that (A) Dynex Capital has received from, or

there has been published by, the United States Internal Revenue Service a ruling or (B) since the date of the Indenture, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, based thereon, the holders of the Senior Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such deposit, defeasance and discharge by Dynex Capital and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such deposit, defeasance and discharge had not occurred, (iv) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that after the 123rd day following the deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and (v) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an officers certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions related to the defeasance have been complied with. Dynex Capital may also be released from its obligations under the covenants described above captioned "Description of Senior Notes—Change of Control" and "Description of Senior Notes—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets" with respect to the Senior Notes outstanding on the 123rd day after the irrevocable deposit by Dynex Capital with the trustee, in trust, specifically pledged as security for, and dedicated solely to, the benefit of the holders of the Senior Notes, of cash, U.S. Government Obligations or a combination thereof, in an amount sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the trustee, to pay the principal and interest on the Senior Notes then outstanding in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and the Senior Notes ("covenant defeasance").

Such covenant defeasance may only be effected if (i) no Event of Default has occurred or is continuing (ii) such deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any agreement or instrument to which Dynex Capital is a party or by which it is bound, (iii) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel to the effect that the holders of the Senior Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such deposit and covenant defeasance by Dynex Capital and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such deposit and covenant defeasance had not occurred, (iv) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that after the 123rd day following the deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and (v) Dynex Capital has delivered to the trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions related to the covenant defeasance have been complied with.

Following such covenant defeasance, Dynex Capital will no longer be required to comply with the obligations described above under "— Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets" and "— Restrictions and Limitations" and will have no obligation to repurchase the Senior Notes pursuant to the provisions described under "Description of Senior Notes – Change of Control."

Modifications of the Indenture

The Indenture contains provisions permitting Dynex Capital and the trustee, with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes at the time outstanding, to modify the Indenture or any supplemental Indenture or the rights of the holders of the Senior Notes, except that no such modification shall (i) extend the fixed maturity or due date for principal installments thereunder, of any Senior Note or due date for principal installments thereunder, reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, reduce the principal amount thereof, reduce any amount payable upon redemption thereof, change the obligation of Dynex Capital to repurchase the Senior Notes, at the option of the holder, upon the happening of a Change of Control, impair or affect the right of a holder to institute suit for the payment thereof, change the currency in which the Senior Notes are payable, without the consent of the holder of each Senior Note so affected or (ii) reduce the aforesaid percentage of the Senior Notes, without the consent of the holders of all of the Senior Notes then outstanding. Dynex Capital and the trustee may amend or supplement the Indenture without notice to or consent of any holder in order to provide for the issuance of Senior Notes in coupon form, to correct or supplement any

inconsistent or deficient provision in the Indenture, to comply with the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 or to appoint a successor trustee.

Concerning the Trustee

Wachovia Bank, N.A., the trustee under the Indenture, has been appointed by Dynex Capital as the paying agent, registrar and custodian with regard to the Senior Notes. The trustee and/or its affiliates may in the future provide banking and other services to us in the ordinary course of their respective businesses. Under the Indenture, each holder or former holder of a Senior Note agrees to indemnify Dynex Capital and the trustee against any liability that may result from the transfer, exchange or assignment of such holder's or former holder's Senior Note in violation of any provision of the Indenture or applicable United States federal or state securities laws.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Dynex Capital is subject to lawsuits or claims which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Set forth below is a description of all material outstanding litigation relating to Dynex Capital.

GLS Capital, Inc. ("GLS"), a subsidiary of Dynex Capital, together with the County of Allegheny, Pennsylvania ("Allegheny County"), were defendants in a lawsuit in the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania (the "Commonwealth Court"), the appellate court of the state of Pennsylvania. Plaintiffs were two local businesses seeking status to represent as a class, delinquent taxpavers in Allegheny County whose delinquent tax liens had been assigned to GLS. Plaintiffs challenged the right of Allegheny County and GLS to collect certain interest, costs and expenses related to delinquent property tax receivables in Allegheny County, and whether the County had the right to assign the delinquent property tax receivables to GLS and whether GLS could therefore employ procedures for collection enjoyed by Allegheny County under state statute. This lawsuit was related to the purchase by GLS of delinquent property tax receivables from Allegheny County in 1997, 1998, and 1999. In July 2001, the Commonwealth Court issued a ruling that addressed, among other things, (i) the right of GLS to charge to the delinquent taxpayer a rate of interest of 12% per annum versus 10% per annum on the collection of its delinquent property tax receivables, (ii) the charging of a full month's interest on a partial month's delinquency; (iii) the charging of attorney's fees to the delinquent taxpayer for the collection of such tax receivables, and (iv) the charging to the delinquent taxpayer of certain other fees and costs. The Commonwealth Court in its opinion remanded for further consideration to the lower trial court items (i), (ii) and (iv) above, and ruled that neither Allegheny County nor GLS had the right to charge attorney's fees to the delinquent taxpayer related to the collection of such tax receivables. The Commonwealth Court further ruled that Allegheny County could assign its rights in the delinquent property tax receivables to GLS, and that plaintiffs could maintain equitable class in the action. In October 2001, GLS, along with Allegheny County, filed an Application for Extraordinary Jurisdiction with the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania, Western District appealing certain aspects of the Commonwealth Court's ruling. In March 2003, the Supreme Court issued its opinion as follows: (i) the Supreme Court determined that GLS can charge delinquent taxpayers a rate of 12% per annum; (ii) the Supreme Court remanded back to the lower trial court the charging of a full month's interest on a partial month's delinquency; (iii) the Supreme Court revised the Commonwealth Court's ruling regarding recouping attorney fees for collection of the receivables indicating that the recoupment of fees requires a judicial review of collection procedures used in each case; and (iv) the Supreme Court upheld the Commonwealth Court's ruling that GLS can charge certain fees and costs, while remanding back to the lower trial court for consideration the facts of each individual case. Finally, the Supreme Court remanded to the lower trial court to determine if the remaining claims can be resolved as a class action. No hearing date has been set for the issues remanded back to the lower trial court. In August 2003, the Pennsylvania legislature signed a bill amending and clarifying certain provisions of the Pennsylvania statute governing GLS' right to the collection of certain interest, costs and expenses. If enacted as currently proposed, the law is retroactive to 1996, and amends and clarifies that as to items (ii)-(iv) noted above by the Supreme Court, that GLS can charge a full

month's interest on a partial month's delinquency, that GLS can charge the taxpayer for legal fees, and that GLS can charge certain fees and costs to the taxpayer at redemption.

Dynex Capital and Dynex Commercial, Inc. ("DCI"), formerly an affiliate of Dynex Capital and now known as DCI Commercial, Inc., were defendants in state court in Dallas County, Texas in the matter of Basic Capital Management et al (collectively, "BCM" or "the plaintiffs") versus Dynex Commercial, Inc. et al. The suit was filed in April 1999 originally against DCI, and in March 2000, BCM amended the complaint and added Dynex Capital as a defendant. The complaint, which was further amended during pretrial proceedings, alleged that, among other things, DCI and Dynex Capital failed to fund tenant improvement or other advances allegedly required on various loans made by DCI to BCM, that were subsequently acquired by us; that DCI breached an alleged \$160 million "master" loan commitment entered into in February 1998; and that DCI breached another alleged loan commitment of approximately \$9 million. The trial commenced in January 2004, and in February 2004, the jury in the case rendered a verdict in favor of one of the plaintiffs and against Dynex Capital on the alleged breach of the loan agreements for tenant improvements and awarded that plaintiff damages in the amount of \$0.25 million. The jury also awarded the plaintiffs attorneys fees in the amount of \$2.1 million. The jury entered a separate verdict against DCI in favor of BCM under two mutually exclusive damage models, for \$2.2 million and \$25.6 million, respectively. The verdict, any judgment, and the apportionment of the award of attorneys fees between Dynex Capital, and DCI, if appropriate, remains subject to the outcome of post-judgment motions pending or to be filed with the trial court. We do not believe that we have any legal responsibility for the verdict against DCI. Plaintiffs are seeking to set-off any damages that may be awarded against obligations to or loans held by DCI or Dynex Capital, as applicable. The plaintiffs may attempt to include loans that have been pledged by us as securitized finance receivables in non-recourse securitization financin

Although no assurance can be given with respect to the ultimate outcome of the Texas litigation, we believe the resolution of this lawsuit will not have a material effect on our consolidated balance sheet, but could materially affect our consolidated results of operations in a given year.

MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

General

The following discussion summarizes certain United States federal income tax consequences associated with the Note Offer and the ownership of Senior Notes. The discussion is intended only as a summary and does not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential tax considerations that may be relevant in connection with the Note Offer. The discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended as of the date hereof (the "Code"), existing and proposed United States Treasury

regulations promulgated thereunder, current administrative pronouncements and judicial decisions, changes to any of which could materially affect the continued validity of the discussion herein and could be made on a retroactive basis. No rulings have been nor will be sought from the United States Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") with respect to the treatment of the Note Offer and no assurance may be given that contrary positions may not be taken by the IRS or by a court of law.

Scope

The discussion relating to stockholders who participate in the Note Offer addresses only stockholders who hold shares of Preferred Stock as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code, and does not address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to particular stockholders in light of their personal circumstances, or to certain types of stockholders (such as certain financial institutions, brokers, dealers or traders in securities or commodities, insurance companies, "S" Corporations, expatriates, tax-exempt organizations, persons who acquired shares of Preferred Stock as compensation and persons who hold such shares as a position in a "straddle" or as a part of a "hedging" or "conversion" transaction for United States federal income tax purposes). In the context of the discussion pertaining to the Senior Notes, the discussion describes certain United States federal income tax consequences applicable only to original holders of the Senior Notes who hold Senior Notes as capital assets. The discussion does not include any description of the tax laws of any state, local, or foreign government that may be applicable to a particular stockholder. As used herein, a "United States Holder" means (i) a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States any State or any political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if (A) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision of the administration of the trust and (B) one or more United States Holders have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust. As used herein, a "Non-United States Holder" is a holder of shares other than a United States Holder.

The summary discussion set forth herein is included for general information only. It is not tax advice. The tax consequences of an exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer may vary depending upon, among other things, the particular situation and circumstances of the tendering stockholder. We urge all stockholders to consult their own tax advisors to determine the specific federal, state, local, foreign and other tax consequences of exchanges made by them pursuant to the Note Offer, including the effect of the stock ownership attribution rules described herein.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Tendering Stockholders; Characterization of the Exchange

An exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) by a stockholder pursuant to the Note Offer will be a taxable transaction for United States federal income tax purposes. The United States federal income tax consequences of such exchange to a stockholder may vary depending upon the stockholder's particular facts and circumstances. Depending on such facts and circumstances, the exchange for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) will be treated as either a sale or a distribution for United States federal income tax purposes.

Under Section 302 of the Code, an exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) pursuant to the Note Offer will be treated as a "sale or exchange" of such shares of Preferred Stock for United States federal income tax purposes (rather than as a deemed distribution by Dynex Capital with respect to shares continued to be held (or deemed to be held) by the tendering stockholder) if the receipt of Senior Notes upon such exchange (i) is "substantially disproportionate" with respect to the stockholder, (ii) results in a "complete termination" of the stockholder's interest in Dynex Capital, or (iii) is "not essentially equivalent to a

dividend" with respect to the stockholder. These tests (the "Section 302 Tests") are explained more fully below. See "Section 302 Tests" below.

If any of the Section 302 Tests is satisfied and the exchange of the tendered shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) is, therefore, treated as a "sale or exchange" of such shares for United States federal income tax purposes, the tendering stockholder will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between (a) the amount of any cash and the fair market value of the Senior Notes received by the stockholder and (b) the stockholder's adjusted tax basis in the shares of Preferred Stock exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer. Such capital gain or loss will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the tendering stockholder held the tendered shares for more than 12 months. The gain or loss will generally be recognized at the time of the exchange and generally will not qualify for deferral under the installment method of tax accounting. If none of the Section 302 Tests is satisfied, then, to the extent of Dynex Capital's current and accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for United States federal income tax purposes), the tendering stockholder will generally be treated as having received a dividend in an amount equal to the amount of any cash and the fair market value of the Senior Notes (determined as of the date of the exchange) received by the stockholder pursuant to the Note Offer (without reduction for the adjusted tax basis of the shares tendered pursuant to the Note Offer). Under current Treasury Regulations, no loss would be recognized by the tendering stockholder, and (subject to reduction as described below for corporate stockholders eligible for the dividends-received deduction), the tendering stockholder's adjusted tax basis in the shares exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer will be added to such stockholder's adjusted tax basis in the stockholder's remaining shares, if any. If a tendering stockholder does not retain any shares, such stockholder may lose tax basis entirely. Under Regulations proposed in 2002 by the IRS which are not binding upon you or the IRS, the basis, after required adjustments, of the tendering stockholder's redeemed shares would be treated as a loss recognized on a disposition of the redeemed shares on the closing date of the Note Offer. Such loss would not be recognized by the stockholder until one of the 302 Tests is satisfied, although the character and source of such loss will be determined as of the closing date of the Note Offer. As these Regulations are only proposed Regulations, you are encouraged to consult your tax advisor regarding their status and applicability. If the exchange of shares by a stockholder is not treated as a sale or exchange for federal income tax purposes, the amount (if any) by which any cash and the fair market value of the Senior Notes exceeds the current or accumulated earnings and profits of Dynex Capital (as determined for federal income tax purposes) will be treated, first, as a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the stockholder's basis in the shares, and thereafter, as taxable capital gain.

Dynex Capital does not expect to report any accumulated or current "earnings and profits" for United States federal income tax purposes through the end of 2004.

To the extent that a tendering stockholder does not receive cash pursuant to the Note Offer or does not receive a sufficient amount of cash pursuant to the Note Offer to satisfy any tax liability in connection with the exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes, a stockholder will need to use his or her other cash resources (including possible dispositions of the Senior Notes) to satisfy any tax liabilities arising from an exchange of shares for Senior Notes.

Constructive Ownership of Stock

In determining whether any of the Section 302 Tests is satisfied, a stockholder must take into account not only the shares which are actually owned by the stockholder, but also shares which are constructively owned by the stockholder by reason of the attribution rules contained in Section 318 of the Code. Under Section 318 of the Code, a stockholder may be treated as owning (i) shares that are actually owned, and in some cases constructively owned, by certain related individuals or entities in which the stockholder owns an interest, or, in the case of stockholders that are entities, by certain individuals or entities that own an interest in the stockholder and (ii) shares which the stockholder has the right to acquire by exercise of an option or a conversion right contained in another instrument held by the stockholder.

Section 302 Tests

One of the following tests must be satisfied in order for the exchange of shares for Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer to be treated as a sale or exchange for United States federal income tax purposes.

- a. <u>Substantially Disproportionate Test</u>. The exchange of shares for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) by a stockholder will be "substantially disproportionate" if the percentage of the outstanding shares actually and constructively owned by the stockholder immediately following the exchange of shares pursuant to the Note Offer (treating as not being outstanding all shares exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer) is less than 80% of the percentage of the outstanding shares actually and constructively owned by such stockholder immediately before the exchange of shares pursuant to the Note Offer (treating as outstanding all shares exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer). Stockholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the application of the "substantially disproportionate" test to their particular situation and circumstances.
- b. Complete Termination Test. The exchange of shares for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) will be a "complete termination" of a stockholder's interest in Dynex Capital if either (i) all of the shares actually and constructively owned by the stockholder are exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer or (ii) all of the shares actually owned by the stockholder are exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer and, with respect to the shares constructively owned by the stockholder which are not exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer, the stockholder is eligible to waive (and effectively waives) constructive ownership of all such shares under procedures described in Section 302(c) of the Code. Stockholders considering making such a waiver should do so in consultation with their own tax advisors.
- c. Not Essentially Equivalent to a Dividend Test. A stockholder may satisfy the "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" test if the stockholder's exchange of shares pursuant to the Note Offer results in a "meaningful reduction" in the stockholder's proportionate interest in Dynex Capital. Whether the receipt of Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) by a stockholder who exchanges shares pursuant to the Note Offer will be "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" will depend upon the stockholder's particular facts and circumstances. Stockholders expecting to rely on the "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" test should consult their own tax advisors as to its application to their particular situation and circumstances.

Dynex Capital cannot predict whether or to what extent the Note Offer will be oversubscribed. If the Note Offer is oversubscribed, proration of the tenders pursuant to the Note Offer will cause Dynex Capital to accept fewer shares than are tendered. Therefore, a stockholder can be given no assurance that a sufficient number of such stockholder's shares will be exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer to ensure that such exchange will satisfy one or more of the Section 302 Tests and be treated as a sale or exchange

rather than as a dividend for United States federal income tax purposes pursuant to the rules discussed above.

Contemporaneous dispositions or acquisitions of shares by a stockholder or related individuals or entities may be deemed to be part of a single integrated transaction which will be taken into account in determining whether any of the Section 302 Tests has been satisfied in connection with shares exchanged for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) pursuant to the Note Offer. Thus, for example, if a stockholder sells shares to persons other than Dynex Capital at or about the time such stockholder also exchanges shares for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) pursuant to the Note Offer, and the various sales effected by the stockholder are part of an overall plan to reduce or terminate such stockholder's proportionate interest in Dynex Capital, then the sales to persons other than Dynex Capital may, for United States federal income tax purposes, be integrated with the stockholder's exchange of shares pursuant to the Note Offer and, if integrated, should be taken into account in determining whether the holder satisfies any of the Section 302 Tests described above.

We urge stockholders contemplating an exchange of shares for Senior Notes to consult their own tax advisors regarding the Section 302 tests, including the effect of the attribution rules and the possibility that a substantially contemporaneous sale of shares to persons other than Dynex Capital may assist in satisfying one or more of the Section 302 tests, as well as the specific federal, state, local, foreign and other tax consequences of exchanges made by them pursuant to the Note Offer.

Corporate Stockholder Dividend Treatment

If an exchange of shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) pursuant to the Note Offer by a corporate stockholder is treated as a dividend, the corporate stockholder (other than an S corporation) may be entitled to claim the dividends-received deduction under Section 243 of the Code (generally 70%, but 80% under certain circumstances) with respect to the gross dividend, subject to applicable limitations. With respect to the dividends-received deduction, corporate stockholders should consider the effect of various limitations on its application, such as Section 246(c) of the Code, which disallows the dividends-received deduction with respect to any dividend on any share of stock that is held for 45 days or less during the 90-day period beginning on the date which is 45 days before the date on which such share becomes ex-dividend with respect to such dividend. Additionally, corporate stockholders that have incurred indebtedness directly attributable to an investment in shares should consider the effect of Section 246A of the Code which reduces the dividends-received deduction by a percentage generally computed based on the amount of such indebtedness and the stockholder's total adjusted tax basis in the shares.

Corporate stockholders should consult their own tax advisors as to the application of the dividends-received deduction to the Note Offer and the various limitations on its application.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Prospective United States Holders of Senior Notes; Interest on the Senior Notes—General

With respect to stockholders who exchange shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) in the Note Offer, stated interest on the Senior Notes will generally be taxable as ordinary interest income at the time such amounts are accrued or received in accordance with the holder's method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the fair market value of the Senior Notes at the time of the Note Offer is less than the stated principal amount of the Senior Notes, then the Senior Notes may be deemed issued with "original issue discount" ("OID") to the extent of the difference. In that case, special tax rules will apply that in general would impute additional interest income to the holders of the Senior Notes.

If the fair market value of the Senior Notes at the time of the Note Offer is more than the stated principal amount of the Senior Notes, then the Senior Notes may be deemed issued with "amortizable bond premium" ("premium") to the extent of the difference. In that case, a holder would be able to elect to deduct the premium over the life of the Senior Note and offset a portion of the stated interest income. In the absence of such an election, the premium would be deducted or recovered when the Senior Note was redeemed, retired or sold.

Dynex Capital believes the fair market value of the Senior Notes at the time of the Note Offer will be substantially identical to the stated principal amount of the Senior Notes, and, as a result, that the Senior Notes will either have no OID or premium, or an amount that is not material.

Redemption or Sale of Senior Notes

Generally, any redemption (including the payment of the principal on the Senior Notes) or sale of the Senior Notes by a holder will result in taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the sum of the amount of cash and the fair market value of the other property received (except to the extent attributable to accrued but previously untaxed interest) and the holder's adjusted tax basis in the Senior Notes.

Except to the extent attributable to accrued but previously untaxed interest, such gain or loss (if any) will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the holder's holding period for the Senior Notes exceeds twelve months and if the Senior Note is held as a capital asset by the holder.

Backup Withholding

United States Federal Income Tax Backup Withholding. Under the United States federal income tax backup withholding rules, 28% of the gross proceeds payable to a stockholder or other payee pursuant to the Note Offer must be withheld and remitted to the IRS, unless the stockholder or other payee provides his or her taxpayer identification number (employer identification number or social security number) to the exchange agent (as payor) and certifies under penalties of perjury that the number is correct or unless another exemption applies. Therefore, each tendering stockholder should complete and sign the Substitute Form W-9 included as part of the letter of transmittal so as to provide the information and certification necessary to avoid backup withholding unless the stockholder otherwise establishes to the satisfaction of the exchange agent that the stockholder is not subject to backup withholding. If the exchange agent is not provided with the correct taxpayer identification number, a United States Holder may be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. If backup withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund may be obtained. Certain "exempt recipients" (including, among others, all corporations and certain Non-United States Holders) are not subject to these backup withholding and information reporting requirements. In order for a Non-United States Holder to qualify as an exempt recipient, that stockholder must submit the appropriate and applicable version of an IRS Form W-8, signed under penalties of perjury, attesting to that stockholder's exempt status. These statements can be obtained from the exchange agent.

To prevent United States Federal Income Tax backup withholding equal to 28% of the gross payments made to stockholders for shares of Preferred Stock exchanged pursuant to the Note Offer, each stockholder who does not otherwise establish an exemption from the backup withholding must provide the exchange agent with the stockholder's correct taxpayer identification number and provide other information by completing the substitute Form W-9 included as part of the letter of transmittal. Non-United States Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of United States Federal Income Tax withholding, including eligibility for a withholding tax reduction or exemption, and the refund procedure.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences to Prospective Non-United States Holders of Senior Notes

If the exchange of shares for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of a fractional interest in a Senior Note) by a Non-United States Holder in the Note Offer is characterized as a sale (as opposed to a dividend), the holder generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax and, therefore, may be entitled to a refund of the tax withheld by the exchange agent on any gain with respect to the exchange unless:

- the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the Non-United States Holder in the United States and, if certain tax treaties apply, is attributable to a
 permanent establishment in the United States maintained by such holder; or
- in the case of a non-resident alien individual who holds the shares as a capital asset, the individual is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met.

If the exchange of shares for Senior Notes (and any cash received in lieu of fractional interests in a Senior Note) by a Non-United States Holder is characterized as a distribution (as opposed to a sale), then the holder could potentially be subject to dividend withholding at the rate of 30% on the amount of any dividends which the holder is deemed to receive. However, we do not believe that we will have accumulated or current "earnings and profits" for United States federal income tax purposes through the end of 2004. Accordingly, we do not believe any part of the exchange could give rise to a taxable dividend that would subject any Non-United States Holder to dividend withholding. However, if the distribution exceeds the Non-United States Holder's tax basis, then the excess will be treated as gain from the sale of such holder's stock and the discussion in the preceding paragraph will apply. (In addition, a Non-United States Holder may be subject to backup withholding (see "—Information Reporting and Backup Withholding" below), even if such holder is not subject to dividend withholding.)

Payment of Interest

The 30% United States federal withholding tax will not apply to any payment to a Non-United States Holder of interest (including OID) on a Senior Note provided that:

- such holder does not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of Dynex Capital's stock that are entitled to vote within the meaning of section 871(h)(3) of the Code;
- such holder is not a controlled foreign corporation that is related to Dynex Capital through stock ownership;
- such holder is not a bank whose receipt of interest on a Senior Note is described in section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and
- (a) such holder provides its name and address, and certifies, under penalties of perjury, that such holder is not a United States person (which certification may be made on an IRS Form W-8BEN) or (b) a securities clearing organization, bank, or other financial institution that holds customers' securities in the ordinary course of its business holds the Senior Note on such holder's behalf and certifies, under penalties of perjury, that it has received IRS Form W-8BEN from the holder or from another qualifying financial institution intermediary, and provides a copy of the IRS Form W-8BEN. If the Senior Notes are held by or through certain foreign intermediaries or certain foreign partnerships, such foreign intermediaries or

partnerships must also satisfy the certification requirements of applicable Treasury Regulations.

If a Non-United States Holder cannot satisfy the requirements described above, payments of interest (including OID) will be subject to the 30% United States federal withholding tax, unless such holder provides Dynex Capital with a properly executed (1) IRS Form W-8BEN claiming an exemption from or reduction in withholding under the benefit of an applicable tax treaty or (2) IRS Form W-8ECI stating that interest paid on the Senior Note is not subject to withholding tax because it is effectively connected with such holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

If a Non-United States Holder is engaged in a trade or business in the United States and interest on a Senior Note is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade or business, such holder will be required to pay United States federal income tax on that interest (including OID) on a net income basis (although exempt from the 30% withholding tax provided the certification requirement described above is met) in the same manner as if such holder were a United States person as defined under the Internal Revenue Code, except as otherwise provided by an applicable tax treaty. In addition, if such holder is a foreign corporation, such holder may be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) of the holder's earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to adjustments, that are effectively connected with such holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States. For this purpose, interest will be included in the earnings and profits of such foreign corporation.

Sale, Exchange or Other Taxable Disposition of Senior Notes

Any gain realized upon the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of a Senior Note (except with respect to accrued and unpaid interest (including OID), which would be taxable) generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax unless:

- that gain is effectively connected with a Non-United States Holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States;
- the Non-United States Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition, and certain other conditions are met; or
- the Non-United States Holder is subject to Code provisions applicable to certain United States expatriates.

A holder described in the first bullet point above will be required to pay United States federal income tax on the net gain derived from the sale, except as otherwise required by an applicable tax treaty, and if such holder is a foreign corporation, it may also be required to pay a branch profits tax. A holder described in the second bullet point above will be subject to United States federal income tax on the gain derived from the sale, which may be offset by United States source capital losses, even though the holder is not considered a resident of the United States.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

The amount of interest paid to a Non-United States Holder on the Senior Note and the amount of tax withheld, if any, will generally be reported to such holder and the IRS. A Non-United States Holder will generally not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments that Dynex Capital makes to such holder provided that such holder has made appropriate certifications as to the holder's foreign status, or such holder otherwise establish an exemption.

Non-United States Holders will generally not be subject to backup withholding or information reporting with respect to any payment of the proceeds of the sale of a Senior Note effected outside the

United States by a foreign office of a foreign "broker" (as defined in applicable Treasury Regulation), provided that such broker:

- derives less than 50% of its gross income for certain periods from the conduct of a trade or business in the United States,
- · is not a controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, and
- is not a foreign partnership that, at any time during its taxable year, has 50% or more of its income or capital interests owned by United States persons or is engaged in the conduct of a United States trade or business.

Non-United States Holders will be subject to information reporting, but not backup withholding, with respect to any payment of the proceeds of a sale of a note effected outside the United States by a foreign office of any other broker unless such broker has documentary evidence in its records that such holder is not a United States person and certain other conditions are met, or such holder otherwise establishes an exemption. Non-United States Holders will be subject to backup withholding and information reporting with respect to any payment of the proceeds of a sale of a Senior Note effected by the United States office of a broker unless such holder properly certifies under penalties of perjury as to such holder's foreign status and certain other conditions are met or such holder otherwise establishes an exemption.

Currently applicable Treasury Regulations establish reliance standards with regard to the certification requirements described above.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a Non-United States Holder's United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is properly furnished to the IRS on a timely basis.

The tax discussion set forth above is included for general information only. We urge you to consult with your tax advisor to determine the particular tax consequences to you of the Note Offer, including the applicability and effect of state, local and foreign laws.

Tax Consequences to Dynex Capital

Dynex Capital will recognize no gain or loss in connection with the acquisition of shares of Preferred Stock in exchange for Senior Notes.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Information About the Note Offer

MacKenzie Partners, Inc. will act as information agent in connection with the Note Offer. For further assistance or additional copies of documents call the information agent at (212) 929-5500 (call collect) or (800) 322-2885 (toll free) or write to the information agent at: MacKenzie Partners, Inc., 105 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10016. See "The Note Offer—Information Agent" and the information set forth on the back cover of this offering circular. Any questions, requests for assistance, or requests for additional copies of this Note Offer or the letter of transmittal should be directed to the information agent.

You may also contact your broker, dealer, commercial bank or trust company or any other nominee for assistance concerning this Note Offer.

Historical Financial Data

The information appearing under the headings "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations" and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk;" Dynex Capital's Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001; and the independent auditors report on such consolidated financial statements contained in Dynex Capital's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 are incorporated by reference herein. See "Where You Can Find More Information — Incorporation by Reference."

Schedule TO

Pursuant to Rule 13e-4 under the Exchange Act, Dynex Capital has filed with the SEC an Issuer Tender Offer Statement on a combined Schedule TO/13E-3, which contains additional information relating to the Note Offer. The Schedule TO/13E-3, including the exhibits and any amendments thereto, may be examined, and copies may be obtained, at the same places and in the same manner described below under "Where You Can Find More Information — Additional Information" with respect to information concerning Dynex Capital.

Additional Information

Dynex Capital is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, proxy statements and other information Dynex Capital files at the SEC's public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. You may also access filed documents at the SEC's web site at www.sec.gov.

Incorporation by Reference

Dynex hereby incorporates by reference into this offering circular the following:

Dynex Capital's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 filed with the SEC on March 26, 2004.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this offering circular to the extent that a statement contained herein, or in any other subsequently filed document which also is incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this offering circular.

Copies of these materials may be received without charge upon request from Dynex Capital at the following address:

Dynex Capital, Inc. 4551 Cox Road, Suite 300 Glen Allen, Virginia 23060 The exchange agent for the Note Offer is:

WACHOVIA BANK, N.A.

Wachovia Bank, N.A. Corporate Actions–NC1153 1525 West W.T. Harris Boulevard, 3C3 Charlotte, North Carolina 28288-1153 (use 28262-1153 for carrier deliveries)

Telephone Number: (800) 829-8432 Facsimile Number: (704) 590-7628

Any questions, requests for assistance, or requests for additional copies of this Note Offer or the letter of transmittal should be directed to the information agent at the following address and telephone numbers:

The information agent for the Note Offer is:



105 Madison Avenue New York, New York 10016 (212) 929-5500 (Call Collect)

οr

Call Toll-Free (800) 322-2885

Email: proxy@mackenziepartners.com

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

TO TENDER SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK AND SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, Par Value \$0.01 Per Share

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

PURSUANT TO THE OFFERING CIRCULAR DATED MARCH 29, 2004

THE NOTE OFFER, PRORATION PERIOD AND WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON APRIL 30, 2004, UNLESS THE NOTE OFFER IS EXTENDED BY DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION.

The Exchange Agent for the Note Offer is:

Wachovia Bank, N.A. Corporate Actions - NC 1153 1525 West W.T. Harris Boulevard, 3C3 Charlotte. North Carolina 28288-1153

Telephone Number: (800) 829-8432 Facsimile Number: (704) 590-7628

The instructions accompanying this Letter of Transmittal and in the Offering Circular should be read carefully before tendering shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock (collectively, the "Preferred Stock") in the Note Offer.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer, you acknowledge receipt of the Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004 (the "Offering Circular") of Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"). This Letter of Transmittal and accompanying instructions (the "Letter of Transmittal") together with the Offering Circular (and any amendments or supplements to the Offering Circular and this Letter of Transmittal) constitutes the "Note Offer" with respect to the shares of Preferred Stock. All capitalized terms used in this Letter of Transmittal that are not defined have the meanings given to them in the Offering Circular.

This Letter of Transmittal is being supplied for informational purposes only to persons who hold shares of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes offered pursuant to this tender transaction will be issued in book-entry form only (for a description of the book-entry nature of the Senior Notes see the "Description of Senior Notes – Global Note; Book-Entry Form" section of the Offering Circular). No physical certificates for Senior Notes will be issued to shareholders of record. Consequently, shareholders who wish to tender any shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes must tender those shares through an institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of The Depository Trust Corporation ("DTC"), such as a bank, broker-dealer or trust company. Tendering shareholders should not submit this Letter of Transmittal directly to the Exchange Agent. Instead, tendering shareholders should contact a DTC participant with which they have an account. The DTC participant will then tender the shares on behalf of the shareholder using the procedures set forth in the "The Note Offer—How to Tender—Tender Procedure for Nominees" section of the Offering Circular. If a shareholder of record holds shares of Preferred Stock in certificate form and does not maintain an account with a DTC participant, the shareholder must establish an account with such an institution prior to tendering shares in the Note Offer in order to receive Senior Notes pursuant to the Note Offer.

If a stockholder desires to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer and the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) cannot be completed on or prior to the Expiration Time, the holder may nevertheless tender shares according to the guaranteed delivery procedure set forth in "The Note Offer—How to Tender" section of the Offering Circular.

DTC participants that are accepting the Note Offer, either on their own behalf or on behalf of beneficial owners of shares of Preferred Stock for whom they are authorized to act must transmit their acceptances to DTC, which will verify the acceptances and execute a book-entry delivery to the Exchange Agent's DTC account. DTC will then send an Agent's Message to the Exchange Agent for its acceptance. The Agent's Message will state that DTC has received an express acknowledgement from the DTC participant tendering the shares of Preferred Stock on behalf of itself or another beneficial owner of shares of Preferred Stock, that the DTC participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Note Offer as set forth in the Offering Circular and this Letter of Transmittal and that Dynex Capital may enforce this agreement against the participant.

PLEASE READ THE ACCOMPANYING INSTRUCTIONS CAREFULLY.

Ladies and Gentlemen:

You hereby tender to Dynex Capital, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, the number of shares of Dynex Capital, Inc.'s Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, indicated in the Agent's Message and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Offering Circular.

Subject to, and effective upon, the acceptance for exchange of, and the exchange for, the shares of your Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to this Letter of Transmittal, you hereby:

- (a) irrevocably sell, assign and transfer to, or upon the order of, Dynex Capital all right, title and interest in and to the shares of Preferred Stock that are being tendered hereby;
- (b) waive any and all rights with respect to the shares of Preferred Stock;
- (c) release and discharge Dynex Capital from any and all claims you may have now, or may have in the future arising out of, or related to, the shares of Preferred Stock except to the extent such a waiver is not permitted by applicable federal or state securities laws or regulations; and
- (d) irrevocably constitute and appoint Wachovia Bank, N.A., as Exchange Agent, your true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact (with full knowledge that the Exchange Agent also acts as agent of Dynex Capital) with respect to any tendered shares of Preferred Stock (the power of attorney being deemed to be an irrevocable power coupled with an interest) to:
 - deliver certificates for shares, or transfer ownership of shares on the account books maintained by the Book-Entry Transfer Facility, together in either case with all accompanying evidences of transfer and authenticity, to or upon the order of Dynex Capital, upon receipt by the Exchange Agent, as the undersigned's agent, of the purchase price with respect to the shares;
 - present certificates for the shares for cancellation and transfer on Dynex Capital's books; and
 - receive all benefits or otherwise exercise all rights of beneficial ownership of the shares of Preferred Stock (except that the Exchange Agent will have no rights to, or control over, the Note Offer consideration from Dynex Capital, except as agent for Dynex Capital for the consideration for any tendered shares of Preferred Stock that are exchanged for by Dynex Capital), all in accordance with the terms of and conditions to the Note Offer as described in the Offering Circular.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer, you covenant, represent and warrant to Dynex Capital that:

- (a) you understand that tendering your shares pursuant to the procedures described in the "How to Tender" section of the Offering Circular and in the instructions hereto will constitute your acceptance of the terms and conditions of the Note Offer, including your representation and warranty that (i) you have a "net long position" in shares or equivalent securities at least equal to the shares tendered within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and (ii) the tender of shares complies with Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act;
- (b) you "own" the shares tendered hereby within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act and have full power and authority to tender, sell, assign and transfer the shares tendered hereby and when and to the extent Dynex Capital accepts the shares for exchange, Dynex Capital will acquire good, marketable and unencumbered title to them, free and clear of all

- security interests, liens, charges, encumbrances, conditional sales agreements or other obligations relating to their sale or transfer, and not subject to any adverse claim;
- (c) you will execute and deliver, on request, any additional documents the Exchange Agent or Dynex Capital deems necessary or desirable to complete the assignment, transfer and exchange of the shares of Preferred Stock tendered hereby; and
- (d) you have read and agree to all of the terms of the Note Offer.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer, you acknowledge that the delivery and surrender of your shares of Preferred Stock is not effective until receipt by the Exchange Agent of an Agent's Message, together with any other required documents in form satisfactory to Dynex Capital. All questions as to the validity (including time of receipt) and acceptance of tenders and withdrawals of shares of Preferred Stock will be determined by Dynex Capital, in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer, you acknowledge that if more shares of Preferred Stock are tendered than Dynex Capital is offering to acquire, Dynex Capital will accept shares of Preferred Stock that are validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer on a pro-rata basis, disregarding fractions that arise as a result of this pro-rationing, according to the number of shares of Preferred Stock tendered by each holder of Preferred Stock prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer. Thus, if the Preferred Stock is oversubscribed, Dynex Capital will accept from each holder tendering shares of Preferred Stock that number of shares of Preferred Stock equal to the total number of shares of Preferred Stock tendered by the tendering holder multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of shares of Preferred Stock sought by Dynex Capital in the Note Offer and the denominator of which is the total number of shares of Preferred Stock tendered by all tendering holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Dynex Capital reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to elect to purchase any and all of the excess shares of Preferred Stock tendered; and so long as the excess number accepted by us does not exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, there will be no extension of the Note Offer period and no further notice to the stockholders will be required or given. If Dynex Capital elects to accept excess tendered shares of Preferred Stock, but less than all of the tendered shares of Preferred Stock, then the shares of Preferred Stock tendered shall be accepted on a pro-rata basis, as described above.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock, you acknowledge that the Senior Notes offered in the Note Offer have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). Dynex Capital is relying on the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act contained in Section 3(a)(9) of that Act for the Senior Notes. Under that exemption, if the shares of Preferred Stock the undersigned tenders are freely tradable, the Senior Notes the undersigned will receive in the Note Offer will be freely tradable. If the shares of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer are restricted, the Senior Notes the undersigned will receive will be restricted to the same degree.

By tendering your shares of Preferred Stock, you acknowledge that, except as otherwise provided in the Offering Circular, tenders made pursuant to the Note Offer are irrevocable. Shares of Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to this Note Offer may be withdrawn:

- · at any time prior to the Expiration Time; or
- if not yet accepted for payment, after May 31, 2004.

For a withdrawal to be effective, stockholders must contact the broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of DTC through which the stockholder tendered its shares of Preferred Stock and request the DTC participating institution to send an ATOP notice of withdrawal so that it is received by the Exchange Agent before the Expiration Time.

You agree that the tender of your shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the procedures described in the Offering Circular, this Letter of Transmittal and in the instructions hereto and acceptance

thereof by Dynex Capital will constitute a binding agreement between you and Dynex Capital upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer. For purposes of the Note Offer, you understand that Dynex Capital will be deemed to have accepted for exchange validly tendered shares of Preferred Stock (or defectively tendered shares of Preferred Stock with respect to which Dynex Capital has waived such defect), only if, as and when Dynex Capital gives oral (confirmed in writing) or written notice thereof to the Exchange Agent.

You acknowledge that, by tendering your shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer, under certain circumstances and subject to certain conditions of the Note Offer (which Dynex Capital may waive in its sole discretion if permitted by applicable law) as set forth in the Offering Circular, Dynex Capital is not required to accept for exchange any of the shares of Preferred Stock tendered (including any shares of Preferred Stock tendered after the Expiration Time). Any shares of Preferred Stock that have been tendered pursuant to the Note Offer but that are not exchanged for will be returned promptly through the facilities of DTC following the earlier to occur of the Expiration Time or the date on which the Note Offer is terminated without any shares of Preferred Stock being purchased thereunder.

All authority conferred or agreed to be conferred by this Letter of Transmittal shall not be affected by, and shall survive, your death or incapacity, and every obligation of yours under this Letter of Transmittal shall be binding upon your heirs, personal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, assigns, trustees in bankruptcy and other legal representatives.

Very truly yours,

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

INSTRUCTIONS TO LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL FORMING PART OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTE OFFER

1. Tenders of Preferred Stock.

The Senior Notes will be issued solely in global, book-entry form. Consequently, stockholders who wish to tender any shares of Preferred Stock for Senior Notes must have or establish an account with, and tender those shares through, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of DTC in order to be eligible to receive the Senior Notes. The DTC participant will then tender the shares on behalf of the stockholder using the Book-Entry Transfer Facility's Automated Tender Offer Program ("ATOP") procedures.

Tenders of shares of Preferred Stock in the Note Offer will be accepted prior to the Expiration Time in accordance with the procedures described in the Offering Circular or otherwise in compliance with the Letter of Transmittal. For a full description of the procedures for tendering shares of Preferred Stock, see "The Note Offer – How to Tender" in the Offering Circular.

2. Guaranteed Delivery.

If a stockholder desires to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer and the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) cannot be completed on or prior to the Expiration Time, the holder may nevertheless tender shares according to the guaranteed delivery procedure set forth in "The Note Offer – How to Tender" section of the Offering Circular.

3. Issuance of Senior Notes.

The Senior Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series you tender is not an even multiple of \$1,000, you will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes" in the Offering Circular.

The Senior Notes issued pursuant to this Note Offer will be issued in book-entry form only; therefore, physical certificates representing the Senior Notes will not be issued as a result of the Note Offer. Rather than issuing physical certificates, tendering stockholders will receive through their nominee accounts, credit for the number of book-entry Senior Notes into which their tendered shares of Preferred Stock are exchanged. In all cases, exchange for shares tendered and accepted for exchange pursuant to the Note Offer will be made only after timely confirmation by the Exchange Agent of the book-entry transfer of the shares into the Exchange Agent's account at the Book-Entry Transfer Facility and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal or ATOP.

4. Withdrawal of Tenders.

Except as otherwise provided in the Offering Circular, tenders made pursuant to the Note Offer are irrevocable. Shares of Preferred Stock tendered pursuant to this Note Offer may be withdrawn:

- · at any time prior to the Expiration Time; or
- if not yet accepted for payment, after May 31, 2004.

For a withdrawal to be effective, stockholders must contact the broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution that either clears through or maintains a custodial relationship with a direct or indirect participant in the book entry and transfer system of DTC through which the stockholder tendered its shares of Preferred Stock and request the DTC participating institution to send an ATOP notice of withdrawal so that it is received by the Exchange Agent before the Expiration Time.

All questions as to the form and validity (including the time of receipt) of notices of withdrawal will be determined by Dynex Capital in its sole discretion, and its determination shall be final and binding on all parties. None of Dynex Capital, the information agent or the Exchange Agent or any other person is or will be obligated to give notice of any defects or irregularities in any notice of withdrawal, and none of them will incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

Withdrawals may not be rescinded, and shares properly withdrawn shall not be deemed to be duly tendered for purposes of the Note Offer. Withdrawn shares, however, may be re-tendered before the Expiration Time by again following the procedures described under "The Note Offer—How to Tender" in the Offering Circular.

If Dynex Capital extends the Note Offer, is delayed in its exchange for shares of Preferred Stock or is unable to accept shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer for any reason, then, without prejudice to Dynex Capital's rights under the Note Offer, the Exchange Agent may, subject to applicable law, retain tendered shares on behalf of Dynex Capital, and the shares of Preferred Stock may not be withdrawn except to the extent tendering stockholders are entitled to withdrawal rights as described herein.

5. Transfer Taxes.

Dynex Capital will pay all stock transfer taxes, if any, payable on the transfer to it of shares of Preferred Stock acquired pursuant to the Note Offer by stockholders of record. However, if the Senior Notes are to be registered in the name of any person other than the stockholder of record, or if tendered shares are registered in the name of any person other than the person represented in the Agent's Message, the amount of any stock transfer taxes (whether imposed on the stockholder of record or the other person) payable on account of the transfer to such person will be deducted from the exchange price (i.e., the principal amount of the Senior Notes issued in the Note Offer), unless satisfactory evidence of the payment of such taxes or exemption therefrom is submitted.

6. Irregularities.

All questions as to the number of shares of Preferred Stock to be accepted and the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance for payment of any tender of shares will be determined by Dynex Capital, in its sole discretion, and its determination shall be final and binding on all parties. Dynex Capital reserves the absolute right to reject any or all tenders of any shares that it determines are not in proper form or the acceptance for payment of or payment for which may, in the opinion of Dynex Capital's counsel, be unlawful. Dynex Capital also reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions of the Note Offer prior to the expiration of the Note Offer or any defect or irregularity in any tender with respect to any particular shares or any particular stockholder and Dynex Capital's interpretation of the terms of the Note Offer will be final and binding on all parties. No tender of shares will be deemed to have been properly made until all defects or irregularities have been cured by the tendering stockholder or waived by Dynex Capital. None of Dynex Capital, the Exchange Agent, the information agent or any other person will be obligated to give notice of any defects or irregularities in tenders, nor will any of them incur any liability for failure to give any notice.

7. Waiver of Conditions.

Dynex Capital expressly reserves the absolute right, in its sole discretion prior to the expiration of the Note Offer, to amend or waive any of the conditions to the Note Offer in the case of any shares of Preferred Stock tendered, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time.

8. Requests for Assistance or Additional Copies.

Requests for assistance may be directed to the Information Agent or the Exchange Agent at their addresses set forth on the back cover of the Offering Circular or to your broker, dealer, commercial bank or trust company. Additional copies of the Offering Circular or this Letter of Transmittal may be obtained from the Information Agent.

IMPORTANT: CONFIRMATION OF BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER AND ALL OTHER REQUIRED DOCUMENTS) OR, IF APPLICABLE, THE ATOP-DELIVERED NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE EXCHANGE AGENT BEFORE THE EXPIRATION TIME.

IMPORTANT TAX INFORMATION

Tax Identification Number and Backup Withholding.

Federal income tax law generally requires that a stockholder whose tendered shares are accepted for purchase, or such shareholder's assignee, in either case, referred to as the "payee," provide the Exchange Agent with such payee's correct taxpayer identification number, which, in the case of a payee who is an individual, is such payee's social security number. If the Exchange Agent is not provided with the correct taxpayer identification number or an adequate basis for an exemption, such payee may be subject to penalties imposed by the Internal Revenue Service and backup withholding in an amount equal to 28% of the gross proceeds received under the Note Offer. If withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund may be obtained. To prevent backup withholding, each payee must provide such payee's correct taxpayer identification number by completing the Substitute Form W-9 included herewith, certifying that the taxpayer identification number provided is correct, or that such payee is awaiting a taxpayer identification number, and that (i) the payee is exempt from backup withholding, (ii) the payee has not been notified by the IRS that such payee is subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (iii) the IRS has notified the payee that such payee is no longer subject to backup withholding. If the payee does not have a taxpayer identification number, such payee should (i) consult the enclosed Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9 for instructions on applying for a taxpayer identification number, (ii) write "Applied For" in the space provided in Part 1(A) of the Substitute Form W-9 and check the appropriate box in Part 1(B), and (iii) sign and date the Substitute Form W-9 and the Certificate of Awaiting Taxpayer Identification Number included herewith. If the payee does not provide such payee's taxpayer identification number to the Exchange Agent prior to the payment of the purchase price for shares pursuant to the Note Offer, backup withholding will apply and will reduce the net amount paid to the selling shareholder. Note that writing "Applied For" on the Substitute Form W-9 means that the payee has already applied for a taxpayer identification number or that such payee intends to apply for one in the near future. If shares are held in more than one name or are not in the name of the actual owner, consult the W-9 Guidelines for information on which taxpayer identification number to report. Exempt payees, including, among others, all corporations and certain foreign individuals, are not subject to backup withholding and reporting requirements. To prevent possible erroneous backup withholding, an exempt payee should write "Exempt" in Part 2 of Substitute Form W-9, and should sign and date the form. See the enclosed Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9 for additional instructions. In order for a nonresident alien or foreign entity to qualify as an exempt payee, such person must submit a completed IRS Form W-8 BEN or a Substitute Form W-8 (or similar form), signed under penalties of perjury attesting to such exempt status. Such form may be obtained from the Exchange Agent.

Withholding on Foreign Holder.

The following discussion applies to any "foreign shareholder," that is a shareholder that, for United States federal income tax purposes, is a non-resident alien individual, a foreign corporation, a foreign partnership, a foreign estate or a foreign trust. A foreign shareholder who has provided the necessary certification to the Exchange Agent will not be subject to backup withholding. However, foreign shareholders generally are subject to withholding under Internal Revenue Code sections 1441 or 1442 at a rate of 30% of the gross payments. The general 30% withholding rate may be reduced under a tax treaty, if appropriate certification is furnished to the Exchange Agent. A foreign shareholder may also obtain exemption from withholding by delivering to the Exchange Agent appropriate certification that the gross proceeds are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States, or establishing to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such shareholder meets those tests described in the "Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences" section of the Offering Circular that would characterize the exchange as a sale (as opposed to a dividend). A foreign shareholder may be eligible to obtain a refund of all or a portion of any tax withheld if such holder is able to establish to the IRS that no tax, or a reduced amount of tax, is due. FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX WITHHOLDING, INCLUDING ELIGIBILITY FOR A WITHHOLDING TAX REDUCTION OR EXEMPTION, AND THE REFUND PROCEDURE.

	PAYER'S NAME: Wachovia Bank, N.A.		
SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9	PART 1 — PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR TIN IN THE BOX AT RIGHT AND CERTIFY BY SIGNING AND DATING BELOW.	Social Security Number OR	
		Employer Identification Number	
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE	PART 2 Certification — Under penalties of perjury, I certify that: (1) The number shown on this form is my correct Taxpayer Identification Number (or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me), and	PART 3 — " Awaiting TIN	
PAYER'S REQUEST FOR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (TIN)	(2) I am not subject to backup withholding because (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am no longer subject to backup withholding.		
	CERTIFICATE INSTRUCTIONS — You must cross out item (2) above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because of under-reporting interest or dividends on your tax return. However, if after being notified by the IRS that you were subject to backup withholding you received another notification from the IRS that you are no longer subject to backup withholding, do not cross out item (2).		
Sign Here	SIGNATURE		
	DATE		
	NOTE: FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THIS FORM I WITHHOLDING OF 28% OF ANY PAYMENTS M. PURSUANT TO THE NOTE OFFER. PLEASE REVIEW THE ENCLOSED GUIDELINES FOR CERTI IDENTIFICATION NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9 FO.	ADE TO YOU FICATION OF TAXPAYER R ADDITIONAL DETAILS.	
	YOU MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING CERTIFICAT	E IF YOU CHECKED	

THE BOX IN PART 3 OF SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9.

CERTIFICATE OF AWAITING TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

I certify under penalties of perjury that a taxpayer identification number has not been issued to me, and either (1) I have mailed or delivered an application to receive a taxpayer identification number to the appropriate Internal Revenue Service Center or Social Security Administration Office, or (2) I intend to mail or deliver an application in the near future. I understand that if I do not provide a taxpayer identification number by the time of payment, 28% of all reportable payments made to me will be withheld.

Signature	Date	

The Information Agent for the Note Offer is:

MACKENZIE PARTNERS, INC. 105 Madison Avenue New York, New York 10016 Please call: (800) 322-2885 (toll free) or (212) 929-5500

Email: proxy@mackenziepartners.com

Any questions or requests for assistance may be directed to the Information Agent at the address and telephone number set forth above. You may also contact your broker, dealer, commercial bank or trust company or any other nominee for assistance concerning this Note Offer.

NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY FOR DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE FOR SENIOR NOTES UP TO:

345,579 SHARES OF ITS SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE 481,819 SHARES OF ITS SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE 479,512 SHARES OF ITS SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE \$0.01 PER SHARE

This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery is being supplied for informational purposes only to persons who hold shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and/or Series C Preferred Stock (collectively, the "Preferred Stock") of Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"). For further information regarding the tender process, holders of the Preferred Stock should read "The Offer—How to Tender" section of the Offering Circular dated March 29, 2004 (the "Offering Circular"),

If a stockholder desires to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Note Offer and the procedures for book-entry transfer (including delivery of an Agent's Message) cannot be completed on or prior to the Expiration Time, the holder may nevertheless tender shares of Preferred Stock with the effect that the tender will be deemed to have been received on or prior to the Expiration Time if the following conditions are satisfied:

- prior to the Expiration Time, the Exchange Agent receives through the DTC ATOP system a notice setting forth the name(s) and address(es) of the holder(s) and the number and series of shares of Preferred Stock being tendered, and stating that the tender is being made thereby and guaranteeing that, the Exchange Agent will receive within three business days after the date of the notice, an Agent's Message and confirmation of book-entry transfer of the Preferred Stock into the Exchange Agent's account with DTC, and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal; and
- within three business days after the date of the DTC ATOP notice, the Exchange Agent receives a Book-Entry Confirmation of the transfer of the Preferred Stock into the Exchange Agent's account at DTC as described above and a properly transmitted Agent's Message.

By tendering shares of Preferred Stock through the procedures for guaranteed delivery, the stockholder authorizes the Exchange Agent to deliver a notice indicating the stockholder's election to tender shares of Preferred Stock pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Note Offer and the procedures for guaranteed delivery to Dynex Capital.

By tendering shares of Preferred Stock through the procedures for guaranteed delivery, the stockholder represents that it is the holder of the shares of Preferred Stock being tendered (or caused to be tendered) and is entitled to tender (or cause to be tendered) such shares of Preferred Stock as contemplated by the Note Offer and, pursuant to the guaranteed delivery procedures described in the Offering Circular and Letter of Transmittal, and hereby tenders (or causes a tender) to Dynex Capital the aggregate shares of Preferred Stock indicated in the notice delivered by DTC to the Exchange Agent pursuant to the procedures of guaranteed delivery.

By tendering shares of Preferred Stock through the procedures for guaranteed delivery, the stockholder understands that Dynex Capital will accept for exchange the shares of Preferred Stock validly tendered on or prior to the Expiration Time. The procedures for guaranteed delivery pursuant to the Note Offer may only be utilized prior to the Expiration Time. The stockholder also understands that tenders of shares of Preferred Stock may be withdrawn at any time prior to the Expiration Time but the exchange consideration shall not be payable in respect of the shares of Preferred Stock so withdrawn. For a valid withdrawal of a tender of shares of Preferred Stock to be effective, it must be made in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Offering Circular under Section "The Note Offer—How to Tender."

By tendering shares of Preferred Stock through the procedures for guaranteed delivery, the stockholder understands that issuance and delivery of the Senior Notes as consideration for the exchange of the shares of Preferred Stock will be made only after timely receipt by the Exchange Agent of:

- · a Book-Entry Confirmation; and
- a properly transmitted Agent's Message, with any signature guarantees and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal.

The stockholder also understands that under no circumstances will interest be paid by Dynex Capital by reason of any delay in making payment to the stockholder.

By tendering shares of Preferred Stock through the procedures for guaranteed delivery, the stockholder understands represents and warrants that:

- · such holder has a net long position in the Notes being tendered pursuant to the Offer within the meaning of Rule 14e-4 under the Exchange Act; and
- the tender of such Notes complies with Rule 14e-4.

Tenders made pursuant to a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery are subject to the terms and the conditions as set forth in the Offering Circular and the Letter of Transmittal for the Preferred Stock. DTC participants that submit a Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to the Exchange Agent through the DTC ATOP system agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Note Offer as set forth in the Offering Circular, the Letter of Transmittal and this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery and agree that Dynex Capital may enforce the terms and conditions of these agreements against the participant.

All authority conferred or agreed to be conferred by this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery shall not be affected by, and shall survive, the death or incapacity of the stockholder, and every obligation of the stockholder under this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery shall be binding upon the stockholder's heirs, personal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, assigns, trustees in bankruptcy and other legal representatives.

DELIVERY OF A PHYSICAL NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT, DYNEX CAPITAL, INC., OR MACKENZIE PARTNERS, INC., THE INFORMATION AGENT, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A VALID DELIVERY. ONLY SUBMISSION OF THE NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY INFORMATION REQUIRED PURSUANT TO AND THROUGH THE DTC ATOP BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER FACILITY (AS DEFINED IN THE OFFERING CIRCULAR) WILL CONSTITUTE VALID DELIVERY TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT.

By tendering shares pursuant to this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery, the DTC participating institution acting as nominee for the tendering stockholder acknowledges and agrees to the following:

GUARANTEE

THE DTC PARTICIPATING INSTITUTION ACTING AS NOMINEE AND AGENT FOR THE TENDERING STOCKHOLDER IS A BANK, BROKER, DEALER, CREDIT UNION, SAVINGS ASSOCIATION OR OTHER ENTITY WHICH IS A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING OF THE SECURITIES TRANSFER AGENTS MEDALLION PROGRAM OK IS A BANK, BROKER, DEALER, CREDIT UNION, SAVINGS ASSOCIATION OR OTHER ENTITY WHICH IS AN "ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION," AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN RULE 17Ad-15 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED, EACH OF THE FOREGOING CONSTITUTING AN "ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION," AND GUARANTEES THE DELIVERY TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT OF A CONFIRMATION THAT

THE SHARES TENDERED HEREBY HAVE BEEN DELIVERED UNDER THE PROCEDURE FOR BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER SET FORTH IN THE OFFERING CIRCULAR INTO THE EXCHANGE AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER FACILITY, TOGETHER WITH ANY OTHER REQUIRED DOCUMENTS, ALL WITHIN THREE (3) NASDAQ TRADING DAYS OF THE EXPIRATION TIME.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE FOR SENIOR NOTES UP TO:

345,579 SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE 481,819 SHARES OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE 479,512 SHARES OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE

THE NOTE OFFER, PRORATION PERIOD AND WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON, APRIL 30, 2004 UNLESS, THE NOTE OFFER IS EXTENDED.

March 29, 2004

To Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees:

Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"), is offering to exchange up to 345,579 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock; 481,819 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock and up to 479,512 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in its Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004 ("Offering Circular"), and in the related Letter of Transmittal which, as amended and supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer." We are asking you to contact your clients for whom you hold shares of Dynex Capital Preferred Stock registered in your name (or in the name of your nominee) or who hold such shares registered in their own name. Please bring the Note Offer to their attention as promptly as possible.

All shares properly tendered at or before the "Expiration Time" (as defined in the "The Note Offer—Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments" section of the Offering Circular), and not properly withdrawn, will be exchanged as follows for Senior Notes by Dynex Capital upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, including the proration provisions thereof:

- \$27.84 in principal amount of our 9.50% Senior Notes due on the third anniversary of their issuance (collectively, the "Senior Notes" and each, a "Senior Note") for each share of Series A Preferred Stock tendered, up to \$9,620,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series A Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;
- \$28.42 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series B Preferred Stock tendered, up to \$13,693,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series B Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock; and
- \$34.80 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series C Preferred Stock tendered, up to \$16,687,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series C Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

The per share principal amount to be received for each share of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer is equal to 116% of the original issue price of each share of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes will be issued in book-entry form in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series tendered (determined by multiplying the aggregate issue price of each share of Preferred Stock by 116%) is not an even multiple of \$1,000, tendering stockholders will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes."

We will accept up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. This represents approximately 70% of the shares of each series of our Preferred Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003. If the number of shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time is less than or equal to an aggregate of 345,579 shares in the case of Series A Preferred Stock, less than or equal to an aggregate of 479,512 shares in the case of Series C Preferred Stock (or such greater number of shares as Dynex Capital may elect to accept in accordance with the Note Offer), Dynex Capital will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, accept all shares of such series so tendered.

If more shares of any series of Preferred Stock are tendered than we are offering to acquire, we will accept shares of such series that are validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer on a pro-rata basis, disregarding fractions that arise as a result of such pro-rationing, according to the number of shares of such series tendered by each holder of such series of Preferred Stock prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer. Thus, with respect to each oversubscribed series of Preferred Stock, we will accept from each holder tendering shares of such series that number of shares of such series equal to the total number of shares of such series tendered by such tendering holder multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of shares of such series sought by us in the Note Offer and the denominator of which is the total number of shares of such series tendered by all tendering holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we reserve the right, in our sole discretion, to elect to purchase any and all of the excess shares tendered; and so long as the excess number accepted by us does not exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding shares of such series of Preferred Stock, there will be no extension of the Note Offer period and no further notice to the stockholders will be required or given. If we elect to accept excess tendered shares of a series, but less than all of the tendered shares of a series, then the shares of such series tendered shall be accepted on a pro-rata basis, as described above.

THE NOTE OFFER IS CONDITIONED UPON A MINIMUM TENDER OF SHARES OF PREFERRED STOCK THAT WILL RESULT IN THE ISSUANCE OF AT LEAST \$10,000,000 IN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF SENIOR NOTES. THE NOTE OFFER IS ALSO CONDITIONED UPON COMPLETION OF THE SERIES D CONVERSION AND OTHER GENERAL CONDITIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR. SEE "THE NOTE OFFER—CONDITIONS TO THE NOTE OFFER."

For your information and for forwarding to those of your clients for whom you hold shares registered in your name or in the name of your nominee, we are enclosing the following documents:

- 1. The Offering Circular dated March 29, 2004;
- 2. Letter to Clients to send to your clients for whose accounts you hold shares registered in your name or in the name of your nominee, with space provided for obtaining such clients' instructions with regard to the Note Offer;
- 3. Letter of Transmittal for your informational use and for the information of your clients (together with accompanying instructions and Substitute Form W-9);
- 4. Notice of Guaranteed Delivery to be used to accept the Note Offer if the procedure for book-entry transfer cannot be completed on a timely basis or time will not permit all the required documents to reach the Exchange Agent before 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004; and
- 5. Guidelines of the Internal Revenue Service for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.

YOUR PROMPT ACTION IS REQUESTED. WE URGE YOU TO CONTACT YOUR CLIENTS AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE. PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NOTE OFFER, PRORATION PERIOD AND WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS WILL EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON, APRIL 30, 2004, UNLESS THE NOTE OFFER IS EXTENDED.

No fees or commissions will be payable to brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies or any person for soliciting tenders of shares under the Offer other than fees paid to the Information Agent, as described in the Offering Circular. Dynex Capital will, however, upon request, reimburse you for customary mailing and handling expenses incurred by you in forwarding any of the enclosed materials to the beneficial owners of shares held by you as a nominee or in a fiduciary capacity. Dynex Capital will pay or cause to be paid any stock transfer taxes applicable to its purchase of shares, except as otherwise provided in the Offering Circular and Letter of Transmittal.

Your communications to shareholders with respect to the Offer will constitute your representation to Dynex Capital that: (i) in connection with such communications you have complied with the applicable requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the applicable rules and regulations thereunder; (ii) if you are a foreign broker or dealer, you have conformed to the Rules of Fair Practice of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. in making such communications; and (iii) in connection with such communications you have not used any offering materials other than those furnished by Dynex Capital.

In order to take advantage of the Note Offer, an Agent's Message and any other required documents should be sent to Wachovia Bank, N.A., the Exchange Agent for the Offer, with confirmation of the book-entry transfer all in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Letter of Transmittal and the Offering Circular.

Holders of shares who cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer before the Expiration Time must tender their shares according to the procedure for guaranteed delivery set forth in "The Note Offer—How to Tender" section of the Offering Circular.

The Note Offer is not being made to (nor will tenders be accepted from or on behalf of) holders of shares residing in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Note Offer or the acceptance thereof would not be in compliance with the securities, blue sky or other laws of such jurisdiction.

Any inquiries you may have with respect to the Note Offer should be addressed to MacKenzie Partners, Inc. at the address and telephone number set forth on the back cover page of the Offering Circular. Additional copies of the enclosed material may be obtained from MacKenzie Partners, Inc., telephone number: (800) 322-2885.

Very truly yours,

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN OR IN THE ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS SHALL CONSTITUTE YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON AS AN AGENT OF DYNEX CAPITAL, THE INFORMATION AGENT OR THE EXCHANGE AGENT OR ANY AFFILIATE OF THE FOREGOING, OR AUTHORIZE YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON TO USE ANY DOCUMENT OR MAKE ANY STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM IN CONNECTION WITH THE NOTE OFFER OTHER THAN THE DOCUMENTS ENCLOSED HEREWITH AND THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED THEREIN.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE FOR SENIOR NOTES UP TO:

345,579 SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE 481,819 SHARES OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE 479,512 SHARES OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK, \$0.01 PAR VALUE PER SHARE

THE NOTE OFFER, PRORATION PERIOD AND WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON APRIL 30, 2004, UNLESS THE NOTE OFFER IS EXTENDED.

March 29, 2004

To Our Clients:

Enclosed for your consideration are the Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004 (the "Offering Circular"), and the related Letter of Transmittal, which, as amended and supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer" by Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"), to purchase up to 345,579 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock; 481,819 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock and 479,512 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in its Offering Circular, and in the related Letter of Transmittal.

All shares properly tendered at or before the "Expiration Time" (as defined in the "The Note Offer -Expiration Time, Extensions, Termination and Amendments" section of the Offering Circular), and not properly withdrawn, will be exchanged as follows for Senior Notes by Dynex Capital upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, including the proration provisions thereof:

- \$27.84 in principal amount of Dynex Capital's 9.50% Senior Notes due on the third anniversary of their issuance (collectively, the "Senior Notes" and each, a "Senior Note") for each share of Series A Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$9,620,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series A Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;
- \$28.42 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series B Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$13,693,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series B Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock; and
- \$34.80 in principal amount of the Senior Notes for each share of Series C Preferred Stock you tender, up to \$16,687,000 in aggregate maximum principal amount of Senior Notes for all shares of Series C Preferred Stock tendered for Senior Notes in the Note Offer and up to an aggregate maximum of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock

The per share principal amount to be received for each share of Preferred Stock tendered in the Note Offer is equal to 116% of the original issue price of each share of Preferred Stock. The Senior Notes will be issued in book-entry form in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof. In cases where the aggregate consideration for shares of each series you tender (determined by multiplying the aggregate issue price of each share of your Preferred Stock by 116%) is not an even multiple of \$1,000, you will receive cash for the amount in excess of the nearest lower \$1,000 multiple not to exceed \$999.99. For a more detailed description of the terms of the Senior Notes being offered, please see "Description of Senior Notes."

Dynex Capital will accept up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate of 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and up to an aggregate of 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. This represents approximately 70% of the shares of each series of Dynex Capital's Preferred Stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003. If the number of shares validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time is less than or equal to an aggregate of 345,579 shares in the case of Series A Preferred Stock, less than or equal to an aggregate of 479,512 shares in the case of Series C Preferred Stock (or such greater number of shares as Dynex Capital may elect to accept in accordance with the Note Offer), Dynex Capital will, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer, accept all shares of such series so tendered.

If more shares of any series of Preferred Stock are tendered than Dynex Capital is offering to acquire, Dynex Capital will accept shares of the series that are validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer on a pro-rata basis, disregarding fractions that arise as a result of pro-rationing, according to the number of shares of the series tendered by each holder of the series of Preferred Stock prior to the Expiration Time of the Note Offer. Thus, with respect to each oversubscribed series of Preferred Stock, Dynex Capital will accept from each holder tendering shares of the series that number of shares of the series equal to the total number of shares of the series tendered by the tendering holder multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of shares of the series sought by Dynex Capital in the Note Offer and the denominator of which is the total number of shares of the series tendered by all tendering holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Dynex Capital reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to elect to purchase any and all of the excess shares tendered; and so long as the excess number accepted by Dynex Capital does not exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding shares of the series of Preferred Stock, there will be no extension of the Note Offer period and no further notice to the stockholders will be required or given. If Dynex Capital elects to accept excess tendered shares of a series, but less than all of the tendered shares of a series, then the shares of the series tendered shall be accepted on a pro-rata basis, as described above.

A TENDER OF YOUR SHARES CAN BE MADE ONLY BY US AS THE STOCKHOLDER OF RECORD THEREOF AND PURSUANT TO YOUR INSTRUCTIONS. THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL IS FURNISHED TO YOU FOR YOUR INFORMATION ONLY AND CANNOT BE USED BY YOU TO TENDER YOUR SHARES HELD BY US FOR YOUR ACCOUNT.

Accordingly, we request instructions as to whether you wish to tender any or all of the shares held by us for your account, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Note Offer.

Please note the following:

- 1. The Note Offer is conditioned upon a minimum tender of shares of Preferred Stock that will result in the issuance of at least \$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. The Note Offer is also conditioned on completion of the Series D conversion and other general conditions described in the Offering Circular. See "The Note Offer Conditions to the Note Offer."
- 2. The Note Offer, proration period and withdrawal rights will expire at 12:01 a.m., New York City time, on April 30, 2004, unless the Note Offer is extended.
- 3. The Note Offer is for (i) 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, (ii) 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, and (iii) 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.
- 4. Tendering stockholders will not be obligated to pay any brokerage commissions or fees, solicitation fees, or, except as set forth in the Offering Circular and the Letter of Transmittal, stock transfer taxes on Dynex Capital's purchase of shares under the Note Offer.

- 5. The board of directors of Dynex Capital has approved the Note Offer. However, neither Dynex Capital nor its board of directors makes any recommendation to stockholders as to whether to tender or refrain from tendering their shares. Stockholders must make their own decision as to whether to tender their shares and, if so, how many shares to tender.
- 6. A separate Instruction Form is provided for the tendering of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. Please select, complete, execute and submit the appropriate Instruction Form for the specific series of Dynex Capital Preferred Stock you are tendering.

If you wish to have us tender any or all of your shares of Preferred Stock, please so instruct us by completing, executing, detaching and returning to us the appropriate Instruction Form for the series of Dynex Capital Preferred Stock you are tendering. An envelope to return your Instruction Form to us is enclosed. If you authorize us to tender your shares, all such shares will be tendered unless otherwise indicated on the Instruction Form that you return to us.

YOUR INSTRUCTION FORM SHOULD BE FORWARDED TO US IN AMPLE TIME TO PERMIT US TO SUBMIT A TENDER ON YOUR BEHALF BEFORE THE EXPIRATION TIME OF THE NOTE OFFER. THE NOTE OFFER, PRORATION PERIOD AND WITHDRAWAL RIGHTS WILL EXPIRE AT 12:01 A.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON APRIL 30, 2004, UNLESS THE NOTE OFFER IS EXTENDED.

The Note Offer is being made solely under the Offering Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal and is being made to all holders of shares of Dynex Capital Preferred Stock. The Note Offer is not being made to, nor will tenders be accepted from or on behalf of, holders of shares residing in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Note Offer or acceptance thereof would not be in compliance with the securities, blue sky or other laws of such jurisdiction.

INSTRUCTION FORM WITH RESPECT TO THE OFFER TO EXCHANGE UP TO 345,579 SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK OF DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. FOR SENIOR NOTES

The undersigned acknowledge(s) receipt of your letter and the enclosed Offering Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal (which, as amended or supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer"), in connection with the offer by Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"), to purchase up to 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

This will instruct you to tender to Dynex Capital the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock indicated below held by you for the account or benefit of the undersigned (or, if no amount is indicated below, for all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by you for the account of the undersigned) upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Offer, including proration provisions described in the Offering Circular.

As set forth in "The Note Offer" section of the Offering Circular, you will tender the shares of Series A Preferred Stock for Senior Notes.

Aggregate number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be tendered by you for the account of the undersigned: _____*

I hereby tender the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock set forth above for the Senior Notes, subject to proration and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in Dynex Capital's Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004.

The Senior Notes will be issued in \$1,000 denominations and any integral multiple thereof. In cases where the consideration for shares tendered is not divisible, in the aggregate, by the \$1,000 denomination, I understand that you will receive cash consideration for the amount in excess of the nearest \$1,000 denomination not to exceed \$999.99.

THE METHOD OF DELIVERY OF THIS DOCUMENT IS AT THE ELECTION AND RISK OF THE UNDERSIGNED. IF DELIVERY IS BY MAIL, REGISTERED MAIL WITH RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, PROPERLY INSURED, IS RECOMMENDED. IN ALL CASES, SUFFICIENT TIME SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO ASSURE DELIVERY.

SIGN HERE:	
	_
	<u>-</u>
Please type or print name(s)	
Date:, 2004	
Area Code and Telephone Number:	
Taxpayer Identification or Social Security Number:	

* Unless otherwise indicated, it will be assumed that you should tender all of the shares held by you for the undersigned's account.

INSTRUCTION FORM WITH RESPECT TO THE OFFER TO EXCHANGE UP TO 481,819 SHARES OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK OF DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. FOR SENIOR NOTES

The undersigned acknowledge(s) receipt of your letter and the enclosed Offering Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal (which, as amended or supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer"), in connection with the offer by Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"), to purchase up to 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock.

This will instruct you to tender to Dynex Capital the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock indicated below held by you for the account or benefit of the undersigned (or, if no amount is indicated below, for all of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock held by you for the account of the undersigned) upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Offer, including proration provisions described in the Offering Circular.

As set forth in "The Note Offer" section of the Offering Circular, you will tender the shares of Series B Preferred Stock for Senior Notes.

Aggregate number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be tendered by you for the account of the undersigned:

*

I hereby tender the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock set forth above for the Senior Notes, subject to proration and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in Dynex Capital's Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004.

The Senior Notes will be issued in \$1,000 denominations and any integral multiple thereof. In cases where the consideration for shares tendered is not divisible, in the aggregate, by the \$1,000 denomination, I understand that you will receive cash consideration for the amount in excess of the nearest \$1,000 denomination not to exceed \$999.99.

THE METHOD OF DELIVERY OF THIS DOCUMENT IS AT THE ELECTION AND RISK OF THE UNDERSIGNED. IF DELIVERY IS BY MAIL, REGISTERED MAIL WITH RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, PROPERLY INSURED, IS RECOMMENDED. IN ALL CASES, SUFFICIENT TIME SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO ASSURE DELIVERY.

SIGN HERE:

* Unless otherwise indicated, it will be assumed that you should tender all of the shares held by you for the undersigned's account.

Please type or print name(s)

Date: ______, 2004
Area Code and Telephone Number:

Taxpayer Identification or Social Security Number:

INSTRUCTION FORM WITH RESPECT TO THE OFFER TO EXCHANGE UP TO 479,512 SHARES OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK OF DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. FOR SENIOR NOTES

The undersigned acknowledge(s) receipt of your letter and the enclosed Offering Circular and the related Letter of Transmittal (which, as amended or supplemented from time to time, together constitute the "Note Offer"), in connection with the offer by Dynex Capital, Inc., a Virginia corporation ("Dynex Capital"), to purchase up to 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

This will instruct you to tender to Dynex Capital the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock indicated below held by you for the account or benefit of the undersigned (or, if no amount is indicated below, for all of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by you for the account of the undersigned) upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Note Offer, including proration provisions described in the Offering Circular.

As set forth in "The Note Offer," section of the Offering Circular, you will tender the shares of Series C Preferred Stock for Senior Notes.

Aggregate number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be tendered by you for the account of the undersigned:

*

I hereby tender the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock set forth above for the Senior Notes, subject to proration and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in Dynex Capital's Offering Circular, dated March 29, 2004.

The Senior Notes will be issued in \$1,000 denominations and any integral multiple thereof. In cases where the consideration for shares tendered is not divisible, in the aggregate, by the \$1,000 denomination, I understand that you will receive cash consideration for the amount in excess of the nearest \$1,000 denomination not to exceed \$999.99.

THE METHOD OF DELIVERY OF THIS DOCUMENT IS AT THE ELECTION AND RISK OF THE UNDERSIGNED. IF DELIVERY IS BY MAIL, REGISTERED MAIL WITH RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, PROPERLY INSURED, IS RECOMMENDED. IN ALL CASES, SUFFICIENT TIME SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO ASSURE DELIVERY.

SIGN HERE:

* Unless otherwise indicated, it will be assumed that you should tender all of the shares held by you for the undersigned's account.

Please type or print name(s)

Date: ______, 2004
Area Code and Telephone Number:

Taxpayer Identification or Social Security Number:

Give the SOCIAL SECURITY Number of

GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER ID NUMBER

GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9

Guidelines for Determining the Proper Identification Number to Give to the Payer.

For this type of account:

Partnership account held in the name of the business

Social Security numbers have nine digits separated by two hyphens: i.e. 000-00-0000. Employer identification numbers have nine digits separated by only one hyphen: i.e. 00-0000000. The table below will help determine the number to give the payer.

1.	An individual's account	The individual
2. Two or more individuals (joint account)		The actual owner of the account or, if combined funds, any one of the individuals ⁽¹⁾
3.	Husband and wife (joint account)	The actual owner of the account or, if joint funds, either person ⁽¹⁾
4.	Custodian account of a minor (Uniform Gift to Minors Act)	The minor ⁽²⁾
5.	Adult and minor (joint account)	The adult or, if the minor is the only contributor, the minor ⁽¹⁾
6.	Account in the name of guardian or committee for a designated ward, minor, or incompetent person	The ward, minor, or incompetent person ⁽³⁾
7.	a. The usual revocable savings trust account (grantor is also trustee)	The grantor- trustee ⁽¹⁾
	b. So-called trust account that is not a legal or valid trust under State law	The actual owner ⁽¹⁾
8.	Sole proprietorship account	The owner ⁽⁴⁾
9. A valid trust, estate, or pension		The legal entity (Do not furnish the identifying number of the personal representative or trustee unless the legal entity itself is not designated in the account title.) $^{(5)}$
10.	Corporate account	The corporation
11. Religious, charitable, or educational organization account		The organization

The partnership

For this type of account:

Give the SOCIAL SECURITY Number of

13. Association, club, or other tax-exempt organization

The organization

14. A broker or registered nominee

The broker or nominee

15. Account with the Department of Agriculture in the name of a public entity (such as a State or local government, school district, or prison) that receives agricultural program payments The public entity

NOTE: If no name is circled when there is more than one name, the number will be considered to be that of the first name listed.

List first and circle the name of the person whose number you furnish.

⁽²⁾ Circle the minor's name and furnish the minor's social security number.

⁽³⁾ Circle the ward's, minor's or incompetent person's name and furnish such person's social security number.

⁽⁴⁾ Show the name of the owner.

List first and circle the name of the legal trust, estate, or pension trust.

GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9

Obtaining a Number

If you don't have a taxpayer identification number or you don't know your number, obtain Form SS-5, Application for a Social Security Number Card, or Form SS-4, Application for Employer Identification Number, at the local office of the Social Security Administration or the Internal Revenue Service and apply for a number.

Payees Exempt from Backup Withholding

Payees specifically exempted from backup withholding on ALL payments include the following:

- A corporation.
- A financial institution.
- An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a), or an individual retirement plan.
- · The United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- A State, the District of Columbia, a possession of the United States, or any subdivision or instrumentality thereof.
- · A foreign government, a political subdivision of a foreign government, or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- An international organization or any agency, or instrumentality thereof.
- · A registered dealer in securities or commodities registered in the U.S. or a possession of the U.S.
- · A real estate investment trust.
- A preferred trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a).
- An exempt charitable remainder trust, or a non-exempt trust described in section 4947(a)(1).
- An entity registered at all times under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
- · A foreign central bank of issue.

Payments of dividends and patronage dividends not generally subject to backup withholding include the following:

- Payments to nonresident aliens subject to withholding under section 1441.
- Payments to partnerships not engaged in a trade or business in the U.S. and which have at least one nonresident partner.
- · Payments of patronage dividends where the amount received is not paid in money.
- · Payments made by certain foreign organizations.
- · Payments made to a nominee.

Payments of interest not generally subject to backup withholding include the following:

- Payments of interest on obligations issued by individuals. Note: You may be subject to backup withholding if this interest is \$600 or more and is paid in the course of
 the payer's trade or business and you have not provided your correct taxpayer identification number to the payer.
- Payments of tax-exempt interest (including exempt-interest dividends under section 852).
- Payments described in section 6049(b)(5) to nonresident aliens.
- Payments on tax-free covenant bonds under section 1451.
- · Payments made by certain foreign organizations.
- · Payments made to a nominee.

Exempt payees described above should file Form W-9 to avoid possible erroneous backup withholding.

FILE THIS FORM WITH THE PAYER. FURNISH YOUR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER, WRITE "EXEMPT" ON THE FACE OF THE FORM, AND RETURN IT TO THE PAYER, IF THE PAYMENTS ARE INTEREST, DIVIDENDS, OR PATRONAGE DIVIDENDS, ALSO SIGN AND DATE THE FORM.

Certain payments other than interest, dividends, and patronage dividends, which are not subject to information reporting are also not subject to backup withholding. For details, see the regulations under sections 6041, 6041A(a), 6045, and 6050A.

Privacy Act Notice

Section 6109 requires most recipients of dividend, interest, or other payments to give taxpayer identification numbers to payers who must report the payments to IRS. IRS uses the numbers for identification purposes. Payers must be given the numbers whether or not recipients are required to file tax returns. Beginning January 1, 1993, payers must generally withhold 28% of taxable interest, dividend, and certain other payments to a payee who does not furnish a taxpayer identification number to a payer. Certain penalties may also apply.

Penalties

- (1) Penalty for Failure to Furnish Taxpayer Identification Number. If you fail to furnish your taxpayer identification number to a payer, you are subject to a penalty of \$50 for each such failure unless your failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.
- (2) <u>Failure to Report Certain Dividend and Interest Payments</u>. If you fail to include any portion of an includible payment for interest, dividends, or patronage dividends in gross income, such failure will be treated as being due to negligence and will be subject to a penalty of 5% on any portion of an under-payment attributable to that failure unless there is clear and convincing evidence to the contrary.
- (3) Civil Penalty for False Information with Respect to Withholding. If you make a false statement with no reasonable basis which results in no imposition of backup withholding, you are subject to a penalty of \$500.
- (4) Criminal Penalty for Falsifying Information. Falsifying certifications or affirmations may subject you to criminal penalties including fines and/or imprisonment.

FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONTACT YOUR TAX CONSULTANT OR THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

PRESS RELEASE

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE March 29, 2004

CONTACT: Investor Relations 804-217-5897

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. ANNOUNCES COMMENCEMENT OF EXCHANGE OFFER AND SPECIAL MEETINGS OF PREFERRED AND COMMON STOCKHOLDERS

Dynex Capital, Inc. (NYSE: DX) today announced it is commencing an exchange offer for up to 70% of its three series of Preferred Stock, and is simultaneously seeking shareholder approval, at meetings scheduled to be held on April 29, 2004, of certain aspects of its previously-announced recapitalization plan.

The exchange offer and the approvals being sought from Dynex Capital's preferred and common stockholders involve separate components of a plan designed to eliminate the dividends in arrears on the three series of Preferred Stock and to recapitalize Dynex Capital. In the exchange offer:

- Dynex Capital is offering to exchange, at the election of the holder, each share of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, and Series C Preferred Stock for new unsecured Senior Notes that will bear interest at an annual rate of 9.50%. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock may be exchanged for \$27.84 in principal amount of Senior Notes, each share of Series B Preferred Stock may be exchanged for \$28.42 in principal amount of Senior Notes, and each share of Series C Preferred Stock may be exchanged for \$34.80 in principal amount of Senior Notes, which equates to 116% of the original issue price of each series of Preferred Stock.
- In the exchange offer, Dynex Capital is offering to acquire up to an aggregate of 345,579 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 481,819 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 479,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.
- · Interest on these notes will be payable semi-annually, and the principal of the Senior Notes will be due and payable in full on the third anniversary of their issuance.
- The Company will apply for a listing of the Senior Notes on the New York Stock Exchange, and the Senior Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples of \$1,000. Cash will be paid in lieu of any fraction of \$1,000.

The terms of the exchange offer and the Senior Notes are described in greater detail in the Offering Circular for the exchange offer.

In addition, the holders of each class of Preferred Stock are being asked to approve the conversion of all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, and Series C Preferred Stock into a combination of a new class of Series D Preferred Stock and shares of Common Stock, plus cash in lieu of fractional shares (the Series D conversion). In connection with the Series D conversion:

- The holders of each class of Preferred Stock are being asked to approve an amendment of Dynex Capital's articles of incorporation to designate the terms of the new Series D Preferred Stock and eliminate the existing series of Preferred Stock by providing for their automatic conversion into Series D Preferred Stock and Common Stock.
- Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be converted into 2.784 shares of Series D Preferred Stock, each share of Series B Preferred Stock will be converted into 2.842 shares of Series D Preferred Stock and each share of Series C Preferred Stock will be converted into 3.48 shares of Series D Preferred Stock.
- Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will receive 0.6373 shares of common stock, each share of Series B Preferred Stock will receive 0.6506 shares of common stock and each share of Series C Preferred Stock will receive 0.7967 shares of common stock.
- The new Series D Preferred Stock will bear an annual dividend of 9.50%, and a liquidation preference of \$10 per share, and will be convertible on a one-for-one basis into additional shares of Common Stock. The Series D Preferred Stock will also convert automatically into a new class of senior notes (which will be subordinate to the Senior Notes issued in the exchange offer) bearing an annual interest rate of 9.50%, under certain conditions.

The terms of the Series D Preferred Stock, and of the Series D conversion, are described further in a proxy statement being mailed to all holders of Preferred Stock as of the record date of March 5, 2004. Approval of the amendments that will effect the Series D conversion will require the approval at the special meeting of the holders of Preferred Stock of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each series of Preferred Stock.

Because the Series D conversion will result in the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock, Dynex Capital is mailing a separate proxy statement to the holders of its Common Stock as of the record date of March 5, 2004, seeking the approval of the holders of Common Stock of the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock in connection with the Series D conversion, and the possible future issuance of shares of Common Stock upon future conversions of Series D Preferred Stock into Common Stock.

The completion of the exchange offer and the Series D conversion is subject to a number of conditions described in the Offering Circular, including the separate approval by the common stockholders and each series of Preferred Stock at special meetings of the respective shareholders on April 29, 2004. In addition, the consummation of the exchange offer and the Series D conversion are conditioned upon the issuance of a minimum \$10 million in Senior Notes.

DYNEX CAPITAL URGES STOCKHOLDERS TO REVIEW THE PROXY STATEMENTS, SCHEDULE TO, OFFERING CIRCULAR, LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL AND OTHER DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") RELATED TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND OTHER RECAPITALIZATION TRANSACTIONS BECAUSE THEY CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE RECAPITALIZATION TRANSACTIONS.

These documents are available without charge in the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. A free copy of these documents may also be obtained from Dynex Capital by calling the contact number listed above or by calling MacKenzie Partners, Inc., the information agent, at (212) 929-5500 or (800) 322-2885. STOCKHOLDERS SHOULD READ THE PROXY STATEMENTS, SCHEDULE TO AND RELATED INFORMATION CAREFULLY BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION ON HOW TO VOTE AT THE SPECIAL MEETINGS OF PREFERRED AND COMMON STOCKHOLDERS OR WHETHER TO TENDER THEIR SHARES IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER.

Dynex Capital is proposing the Series D conversion because the Board believes, among other things, that it will simplify Dynex Capital's capital structure and should create improved opportunities for the Company to engage in strategic transactions, access the capital markets, and/or reinvest in business activities. The Board of Directors has unanimously recommended to the stockholders that they vote "FOR" the amendment to Dynex Capital's articles of incorporation and the aspects of the recapitalization to be voted on by the common stockholders. Dynex Capital's Board of Directors has not made any recommendation to its preferred stockholders as to whether or not they should tender any Preferred Stock pursuant to the exchange offer. Certain members of the Company's Board of Directors have informed the Company that they will participate in the exchange offer.

Dynex Capital, Inc. is a financial services company that elects to be treated as a real estate investment trust (REIT) for federal income tax purposes.

Note: This document contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995. The words "believe", "expect", "forecast", "anticipate", "estimate", "project", "plan", and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements that are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. Dynex Capital's actual results and timing of certain events could differ materially from those projected in or contemplated by the forward-looking statements as a result of unforeseen external factors. As discussed in Dynex Capital's filings with the SEC, these factors may include, but are not limited to, changes in general economic and market conditions, disruptions in the capital markets, fluctuations in interest rates, the accuracy of subjective estimates used in determining the fair value of certain financial assets of Dynex Capital, the impact of recently issued financial accounting standards, increases in costs and other general competitive factors.

#